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1. CALL TO ORDER

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

3. DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST

4.

4.1. 

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

Audit Committee Draft Minutes - March 4, 2019

5.

5.1. 

DEPUTATIONS

Mark Beauparlant, Manager, Financial and Treasury Services on an update of the 
2019 Financial Statements.

6. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD - 15 Minute Limit (5 Minutes per Speaker)

Pursuant to Section 42 of the Council Procedure By-law 0139-2013, as amended:

The Audit Committee may grant permission to a member of the public to ask a 

question of Audit Committee, with the following provisions:

1. The question must pertain to a specific item on the current agenda and the 
speaker will state which item the question is related to.

2. A person asking a question shall limit any background explanation to two (2) 
statements, followed by the question.

3. The total speaking time shall be five (5) minutes maximum, per speaker.

7. MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED 

7.1. Report dated April 22, 2019 from the Commissioner of Corporate Services and 
Chief Financial Officer: 2018 Audit Findings Report 

Recommendation 

That the 2018 External Audit Findings Report dated April 22, 2019 from the 
Commissioner of Corporate Services and Chief Financial Officer, which includes 
the Audit Findings Report from KPMG for the fiscal year 2018 for the City of 
Mississauga (City), be received for information. 

Recommended Receipt 
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7.2. Report dated April 26, 2019 from the Director of Internal Audit: Final Audit Reports: 

1. Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Payroll Section – Non-
Union Payroll Audit;

2. Community Services Department, Library Services Division, Digital Library 
Services & Collections Section – Library Acquisitions Audit; and,

3. Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Financial & Treasury 
Services   Section – 2018 Investments Audit. 

Recommendation 
That the report dated April 26, 2019 from the Director of Internal Audit with respect 
to final audit reports: 

1. Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Payroll Section – Non-Union 
Payroll Audit;

2. Community Services Department, Library Services Division, Digital Library 
Services & Collections Section – Library Acquisitions Audit; and,

3. Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Financial & Treasury 
Services Section – 2018 Investments Audit. 

7.3. 

be received for information. 

Recommended Receipt 

Report dated April 22, 2019 from the Commissioner of Corporate Services and 

Chief Financial Officer: 2018 Audited Financial Statements  

Recommendation 
That the 2018 Audited Financial Statements for City of Mississauga (consolidated), 
City of Mississauga Public Library Board, City of Mississauga Trust Funds, Clarkson 
Business Improvement Area, Port Credit Business Improvement Area, Streetsville 
Business Improvement Area, Malton Business Improvement Area, and Enersource 
Corporation be received as information 

Recommended Receipt 

8. ENQUIRIES

9. ADJOURNMENT
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1. CALL TO ORDER – 9:01 A.M.

Karen Morden, Legislative Coordinator, called the meeting to order at 9:01 a.m.

2. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR

Councillor Stephen Dasko nominated Councillor Ron Starr as Chair of the Audit 
Committee. Councillor Ron Starr accepted the nomination and proposed that the role of 
Chair be divided between himself and Councillor Dipika Damerla. 

RECOMMENDATION
AC-0001-2019
That Councillor Ron Starr be appointed as Chair of the Audit Committee for a term 
ending December 31, 2020 and that Councillor Dipika Damerla be appointed as Chair of 
the Audit Committee for a term beginning January 1, 2021 to November 14, 2022. 

Recorded Vote YES NO ABSENT ABSTAIN 

Mayor B. Crombie X 

Councillor S. Dasko X 

Councillor K.Ras X 

Councillor R.Starr X 

Councillor D. Damerla X 

Approved (Councillor Dasko) (4, 0, 1 – Absent) 

3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Councillor Ron Starr took over as Chair of the meeting.

Approved (Councillor Ras)

4. DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST- Nil.

5. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

5.1. Audit Committee Minutes - November 12, 2018

Approved (Councillor Ras)
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6. DEPUTATIONS 
 
 

6.1. Al Steinbach, Director Internal Audit, on an Overview of Internal Audit 
 

Al Steinbach, Director of Internal Audit, outlined what Internal Audit is, the Internal Audit 
Charter, scope of work, reporting structure, staff qualifications/experience, work plan, 
Corporate Risk Assessment categories and external quality assessment reviews. 

 
Mr. Steinbach explained the different types of audit recommendations, the audit process 
as well as the follow up process for outstanding recommendations. Mr. Steinbach also 
spoke to consulting and assurance projects and the future direction of Internal Audit. 

 
Councillor Damerla asked that Mr. Steinbach provide a further explanation regarding the 
context of the word progressive used in the presentation to describe Internal Audit. Mr. 
Steinbach responded by explaining what is being done such as maintaining a digital 
focus, lean projects to ensure effectiveness and efficiency and remaining up to date on 
technology and business processes. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
AC-0002-2019 
That the deputation from Al Steinbach, Director, Internal Audit, regarding an Overview of 
Internal Audit be received. 

 
Received (Councillor Dasko) 

 

7. 
 

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD - 15 Minute Limit (5 Minutes per Speaker) – Nil. 
 

Pursuant to Section 42 of the Council Procedure By-law 0139-2013, as amended: 
 

The Audit Committee may grant permission to a member of the public to ask a question 
of Audit Committee, with the following provisions: 

 
1. The question must pertain to a specific item on the current agenda and the 

speaker will state which item the question is related to. 
 

2. A person asking a question shall limit any background explanation to two (2) 
statements, followed by the question. 

 

3. The total speaking time shall be five (5) minutes maximum, per speaker. 
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8. MATTERS CONSIDERED 
 

8.1. 2019-2020 Internal Audit Work Plan Report 
 

Al Steinbach, Director Internal Audit, spoke to the continuation of the 2019-2020 
Internal Audit Work Plan Report that was presented to the Audit Committee last year. 
Mr. Steinbach spoke to the minor changes in the assignments, the Corporate Payroll 
Audit for part time and full time staff being combined into one Audit and the work plan 
going as scheduled. 

 

Councillor Ras requested that more details on the work plan for an Audit be provided. 
Mr. Steinbach responded by stating that due to the complexity of the Audit, they do not 
know the full scope of the Audit at the time its planned and a preliminary survey is done 
to identify areas that are risks. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
AC-0003-2019 
That the report dated February 12, 2019 from the Director, Internal Audit, with respect to 

the 2019 to 2020 Internal Audit Work Plan be approved. 

 
Recorded Vote YES NO ABSENT ABSTAIN 

Mayor B. Crombie   X  

Councillor S. Dasko X    

Councillor K.Ras X    

Councillor R.Starr X    

Councillor D. Damerla X    

 

Approved (Councillor Damerla) (4, 0, 1- Absent) 
 
 

8.2. Community Services Compliance Project Progress Update 
 

Paul Mitcham, Commissioner of Community Services, spoke to the progress of the 
Community Services Compliance Project. Mr. Mitcham spoke to the compliance in high 
priority/risk areas that were outlined in an audit and how they are being addressed.  

 
Councillor Ras raised a question regarding compliance reporting in daily duties for 
staff. Mr. Mitcham responded by stating that it is a part of front line staff responsibilities 
to ensure compliance and to be accountable for discrepancies. Mr. Mitcham spoke to 
the balance between the time of reporting compliance, periodic reporting and a 
dashboard that was created to show compliance statistics.
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Janice Baker, City Manager, spoke to having better technology to make information 
more readily available, challenges around compliance, integrating responsibilities in 
technology and digital services. Ms. Baker agreed that more work is to be done in this 
area. 

 

Councillor Starr agreed that changes in processes can be difficult but are currently being 
worked on. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
AC-0004-2019 
That the report dated February 4, 2019 entitled “Community Services Compliance 

Project Progress Update” from the Commissioner of Community Services be received 

for information. 
 

Recorded Vote YES NO ABSENT ABSTAIN 

Mayor B. Crombie   X  

Councillor S. Dasko X    

Councillor K. Ras X    

Councillor R. Starr X    

Councillor D. Damerla X    

 
Received (Councillor Ras) (4, 0, 1 – Absent) 

 
9. ENQUIRIES – Nil. 

 

 
10. CLOSED SESSION 

 
Whereas the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended, a motion to be passed prior to closing 
part of a meeting to the public; 
 
And whereas the Act requires that the motion states the act of the holding of the closed 
meeting and the general nature of the matter to be considered at the closed meeting; 

 

Now therefore be it resolved that a portion of the Audit Committee meeting to be held 
on March 4, 2019 shall be closed to the public to deal with the following matter: 
 
The Committee moved into Closed Session at 9:26 a.m. 

 

(Pursuant to Subsection 239 (3.1) of the Municipal Act, 2001) 
 
The security of the property of the municipality or local board - In Camera #18: Final 
Audit Report: Transportation & Works Department, Works Operations and 
Maintenance Division, Traffic Management Section, Traffic Signals and Street 
Lighting Unit - Street Lighting Program Audit. 

 

Al Steinbach, Director Internal Audit and Geoff Wright, Commissioner, Transportation 
and Works spoke to the results of the street lighting audit. 
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Members of the Committee asked questions related to the subject matter. Janice 
Baker, City Manager; Wendy Law, Deputy Solicitor; Craig Emick, Information 
Technology Auditor; and Andy Bate, Manager Traffic Safety answered questions 
arising from the report. 

The committee moved out of closed session at 10:20 A.M. 

As a result of the Closed Session, the following recommendation was voted on during 
public session: 

RECOMMENDATION 
AC-0005-2019 
That the report dated February 20, 2019 from the Director of Internal Audit with respect 

to final audit report, Transportation & Works Department, Works Operations and 

Maintenance Division, Traffic Management Section, Traffic Signals and Street Lighting 

Unit – Street Lighting Program Audit be received for information. 

Recorded Vote YES NO ABSENT ABSTAIN 

Mayor B. Crombie X 

Councillor S. Dasko X 

Councillor K.Ras X 

Councillor R.Starr X 

Councillor D. Damerla X 

  Received (Councillor Ras) (4, 0, 1 – Absent) 

11. ADJOURNMENT – 10:25 A.M. (Councillor Ras)
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Date: 2019/04/22 

To: Chair and Members of Audit Committee 

From: Gary Kent, CPA, CGA, ICD.D, 
Commissioner of Corporate Services and Chief 
Financial Officer 

Originator’s files: 

Meeting date: 
2019/05/06 

Subject 
2018 Audit Findings Report 

Recommendation 
That the 2018 External Audit Findings Report dated April 22, 2019 from the Commissioner of 

Corporate Services and Chief Financial Officer, which includes the Audit Findings Report from 

KPMG for the fiscal year 2018 for the City of Mississauga (City), be received for information. 

Report Highlights 
 The 2018 External Audit Findings Report provides an overview of the 2018 audit process

and findings and highlights those matters on which the Auditors wish to advise the Audit

Committee.

 The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing any reports and correspondence from

the External Auditor relating to the City and any local boards or agencies which may be

created.

 There was one corrected audit adjustment for the City and two for the Library. Yearend

processes will be adjusted to accomodate these accruals in future.

 There were two uncorrected audit differences for the City. Management have decided not

to correct these differences and represented to the auditors that the differences,

individually and in the aggregate, in their judgment, are not material to the financial

statements.

 There were three process improvement recommendations, completeness of accruals,

capitalization of TCA, and cut-off of revenues. Management agrees with the auditor

recommendations and will amend yearend financial reporting processes accordingly.

 In 2017, there were no process improvement recommendations.
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Background 
The Audit Committee‘s Terms of Reference (Bylaw #0321-2010) establishes the role and 

responsibilities of the Audit Committee.  The assigned responsibilities of the Committee include 

reviewing and making recommendations to Council regarding the external audit function, 

internal audit function, financial reporting, internal controls, and compliance.  

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing any reports and correspondence from the 

External Auditor relating to the City and any local boards or agencies which may be created.  

For fiscal year 2018, local boards and agencies include the Mississauga Public Library Board 

and the four Business Improvement Area Associations. 

Comments 
KPMG have now completed the statutory audit for the fiscal year 2018 and have issued an Audit 

Findings Report for information. 

The 2018 External Audit Findings Report assists the Audit Committee in the review of the 

consolidated financial statements and provides an overview and summary of the findings and an 

assessment of the completed audit. The report also provides information and comments 

regarding the following areas: 

 Significant audit, accounting and reporting matters

 Any corrected or uncorrected audit items

 Control deficiencies and business improvement observations

The Process Improvement Observations section provides auditor comments and 

recommendations relating to the design or effectiveness of internal controls, and/or 

enhancements to financial accounting and reporting.  

KPMG confirmed their independence in the Audit Planning Report.  As there is no change at 

year end, they did not make a note related to independence in the Audit Findings Report. The 

independence disclosure identifies any professional services provided by our external auditors, 

KPMG, to the City during the year.  It also identifies any relationships with the City that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on auditor independence.   

2018 Corrected Adjustments 

City consolidated financial statements 

 There was one corrected adjustment to record additional vacation liability of $1.4 million

for the outstanding fire collective agreement. Yearend processes will be revised to

identify this accrual in future.
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Library financial statements 

 A corrected adjustment to vacation liability of $882 thousand was recasted in 2017 and

also reflected in 2018. This liability was never captured in prior year Library financial

statement reporting and was identified by management during the 2018 financial

statement process. Yearend processes will be adjusted to prevent this adjustment in

future.

 A corrected adjustment to reduce library books tangible capital asset by $1.8 million was

recasted in 2017 and also reflected in 2018. The auditors recommend that magazines

and other library documents be separated from books for capital asset reporting and

amortized at a faster rate.

2018 Uncorrected Differences 

The following differences remain uncorrected. Based on both qualitative and quantitative 

considerations, management have decided not to correct certain differences and represented to 

the auditors that the differences, individually and in the aggregate, in their judgment, are not 

material to the financial statements. 

City consolidated financial statements 

 The adjustment of $1.8M to reduce tangible capital assets in the Library’s financial

statements was not reflected in the City’s consolidated financial statements. This

adjustment will be corrected in the 2019 financial statements.

 There was a cut-off difference totalling $1.1M of revenues recorded in 2018 but

pertaining to the 2017 year  Capital project managers will be reminded to accrue any

revenues that have not been received by yearend.

2018 Process Improvement Recommendations 

In 2018, there were 3 process improvement recommendations: 

1. Completeness of accruals:

Potential effect and recommendations: 

In order to ensure completeness of liabilities, the auditors recommend that management 

enhance its year-end close-out process. The use of a rigorous checklist for each of the statutory 

financial statements should be implemented similar to the checklist process undertaken for the 

City’s consolidated financial statements.  

Management should verify that all required liabilities and accounts are considered when 

determining the elements belonging to each entity’s Financial Statements. 
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Significant collective agreement contracts should be summarized for financial implications upon 

execution of contracts and catalogued immediately for financial recordkeeping.  

The auditors also recommend that management incorporate analytical reviews as a 

reasonability check on the accuracy and completeness of financial statement elements and 

ensure the financial impact of past events have been fully accounted for.  

Management comments: 

During each year end close, Accounting, Payroll, Accounts Payable, and Tangible Capital asset 

staff meet with both Departmental Finance staff and Departmental Project Managers to 

reinforce year end schedule and accounting requirements, including both revenue and 

expenses. Finance staff will continue to hold these departmental sessions each year end 

reinforcing the year end accounting requirements as required. 

Management will incorporate a review of all liabilities for the City, Trust, and Library financial 

statements to ensure all relevant liabilities are captured in financial statement reporting for each 

of the entities. 

Management will review collective agreement contracts to ensure all financial implications are 

identified. Accruing for vacation liability on collective agreement settlements will be added to the 

year-end checklist. 

Management will add, where feasible, prior year results as a gauge of reasonability for current 

year liability calculations. 

2. Capitalization of TCA:

The Library’s TCA includes assets that have shorter periods of benefit relative to the asset 

categories in which they have been included. 

Potential effect and recommendations: 

In order to ensure TCA is not overstated for assets that no longer provide a useful benefit, the 

auditors recommend that management review its practices and internal procedural documents 

that guide the capitalization of expenditures.  When including items in TCA asset categories, the 

underlying items must have a useful life matching the period of amortization for that asset 

category. 

The auditors also recommend that management review its amortization policies periodically to 

ensure they continue to reflect the useful lives of its asset pool and incorporates, as necessary, 

changes in the Library’s retention periods.  

Management comments: 

Management agrees with the recommendations and will review practices and useful lives of 

library assets and update the Tangible Capital Asset Policy as required. 
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Management will also review its amortization policy with Departments on an annual basis to 

ensure they continue to reflect the useful lives of the related assets. 

3. Cut-off of revenue:

Potential effect and recommendations: 

Ensuring revenues are recorded in the correct fiscal period is critical to the integrity of financial 

reporting.   

In light of the cut-off errors identified, the auditors recommend that management update and 

enhance the instructions and guidelines provided to the various City departments that issue 

invoices. Instructions should clearly identify the need to analyze and assess charges and 

earned amounts within a reasonable timeframe after year-end to ensure amounts are either 

invoiced timely or estimated amounts are accrued for in the appropriate period. 

Communications should be issued to departments prior to the start of the year-end close and 

repeated as necessary to support compliance.  

The auditors also recommend that management continue to work with and educate the various 

departments on maintaining proper cut-off and completeness of revenues to minimize or 

eliminate future cut-off errors. 

Management comments: 

Similar to the recommendation on completeness of accruals, Accounting, Payroll, Accounts 

Payable, and Tangible Capital Asset staff currently meets with both Departmental Finance staff 

and Departmental Project Managers to reinforce year end schedule and accounting 

requirements including both revenue and expenses. Finance staff will continue to hold these 

departmental sessions each year end reinforcing the year end accounting requirements and 

responsibilities as required. 

2017 Process Improvement Recommendations 

In 2017, there were no identified process improvement recommendations. 

Financial Impact 
In 2019, Library books capital asset will be written down by $1.8 Million to reflect  the amended 

useful lifes of books versus magazines and other media publications. Asset write-downs are a 

common industry practice with tangible capital asset reporting when useful lives change or 

assets are impaired.  

Conclusion 
The 2018 External Audit Findings Report complements the financial statement audit. 
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The 2018 External Audit Findings Report provides an overview of the 2018 audit process.  The 

report highlights any audit findings and/or audit observations and recommendations for the Audit 

Committee’s review and consideration.  

There was one corrected audit adjustment for the City and two for the library. Yearend 

processes will be revised to identify this accrual in future. 

There were two uncorrected audit differences for the City. Management have decided not to 

correct these differences and represented to the auditors that the differences, individually and in 

the aggregate, in their judgment, are not material to the financial statements. 

There were three process improvement recommendations, completeness of accruals, 

capitalization of TCA, and cut-off of revenues. Management agrees with the recommendations 

and will amend yearend financial reporting processes. 

The auditors had no concerns with management‘s feedback and responses to the 

recommendations. 

Attachments 
Appendix 1: 2018 Mississauga Audit Findings Report 

Gary Kent, CPA, CGA, ICD.D, Commissioner of Corporate Services and Chief Financial Officer 

Prepared by:   Mark Beauparlant, Manager Financial & Treasury Services 
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Date: 2019/04/26 

To: Chair and Members of Audit Committee 

From: Al Steinbach, CPA, CMA, CRMA 
Director, Internal Audit 

Originator’s files: 

Meeting date: 
2019/05/06 

Subject 
Final Audit Reports: 

1. Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Payroll Section – Non-Union

Payroll Audit;

2. Community Services Department, Library Services Division, Digital Library

Services & Collections Section – Library Acquisitions Audit; and,

3. Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Financial & Treasury Services

Section – 2018 Investments Audit.

Recommendation 
That the report dated April 26, 2019 from the Director of Internal Audit with respect to final audit 

reports: 

1. Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Payroll Section – Non-Union Payroll

Audit;

2. Community Services Department, Library Services Division, Digital Library Services &

Collections Section – Library Acquisitions Audit; and,

3. Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Financial & Treasury Services

Section – 2018 Investments Audit.

be received for information. 

Background 
In accordance with the Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee (By-law 0069-2015), the 

Committee is responsible for “reviewing reports from the Director of Internal Audit identifying 

audit issues and the steps to resolve them [and] reviewing the adequacy of the management 

responses to audit concerns, having regard to the risks and the costs involved.” 

Comments 
Internal Audit has completed finalization of three audits, being: 
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Originators f iles:  

1. Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Payroll Section – Non-Union Payroll

Audit;

2. Community Services Department, Library Services Division, Digital Library Services &

Collections Section – Library Acquisitions Audit; and,

3. Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Financial & Treasury Services

Section – 2018 Investments Audit.

The three audit reports are hereby submitted to the Audit Committee for consideration. 

Financial Impact 
There are no financial impacts resulting from the Recommendation in this report. 

Conclusion 
The final reports for Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Payroll Section – Non-

Union Payroll Audit; Community Services Department, Library Services Division, Digital Library 

Services & Collections Section – Library Acquisitions Audit; and Corporate Services 

Department, Finance Division, Financial & Treasury Services Section – 2018 Investments Audit 

are now complete and are submitted for consideration by the Audit Committee.  

Attachments 
Appendix 1: Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Payroll Section - Non-Union 

Payroll Audit 

Appendix 2: Community Services Department, Library Services Division, Digital Library 

Services & Collections Section - Library Acquisitions Audit 

Appendix 3: Corporate Services Department, Finance Division, Financial & Treasury Services 

Section - 2018 Investments Audit 

Al Steinbach, CPA, CMA, CRMA 

Director, Internal Audit 

Prepared by:   Karen Hobbs, Administrative Coordinator 
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 Corporate Services Department 
Finance Division 
Payroll Section 

Non-Union Payroll Audit 

BACKGROUND 

The Payroll function is governed by a number of Federal and Provincial Legislations prescribed 
by the Canada Revenue Agency, Ministry of Finance, and Ministry of Labour such as the 
Income Tax Act, Pensions Benefit Act, Employment Standards Act, Workers’ Compensation, 
etc.  The City’s Corporate Policies and Procedures related to Compensation, Employment 
Standards and Payroll support compliance with these requirements. 

As of December 31, 2018, the City had 5,955 active employees in its database, of which 3,729 
were non-union employees.  Of that, 43% were full-time salaried employees, and the remainder 
were temporary staff employed on an hourly full-time, part-time or contractual basis.  In 2018, 
labour costs constituted approximately 56% of the City’s total operating expenditures (i.e. $508 
million).  Salaries, wages, and fringe benefits for non-union employees represent approximately 
$382 million. 

The Payroll Unit of the Finance Division, Corporate Services uses SAP Human Capital 
Management (HCM) – Payroll to process payments to employees based on the time and 
attendance data received through SAP CATS (Cross Application Time Sheet).  Entries to CATS 
are performed by designated time reporters and subsequently approved by authorized staff.  
There are approximately 300 time reporters and 473 time approvers.  Time and labour input for 
permanent staff is processed on an exceptions basis, while the actual time worked by hourly 
paid employees is entered into the system. 

In addition to HCM, other SAP modules facilitate the payroll process, including: 

- Employee Self Service (ESS), where employees are able to update personal
information and view pay statements;

- Manager Self Service (MSS), which allows designated managers to approve time
entered; and

- Fiori, which provides mobile capabilities to create leave requests (e.g. vacation,
medical appointments, etc.).  Fiori was introduced in 2015.

Prior to this audit, a number of Payroll audits have been conducted.  The most recent audits 
completed for non-union employees were the 2017 Works Operations & Maintenance Payroll 
Audit and the 2015 Overtime/Lieu Time (Non-Union) Audit. 

SCOPE 

This audit focused on payroll transactions in 2017 and 2018. 
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The areas covered in the audit included a review of the Payroll process from the employee’s 
initial setup in the SAP HCM system (e.g. position, salary base, benefits entitlement, etc.) to 
changes in payroll data (e.g. performance pay, salary increases, terminations, etc.) to recording 
of payroll costs and liabilities in the general ledger.  In addition, we reviewed management 
oversight controls around the processing of payroll. 

Specifically excluded from the scope of the audit were union employees and processes covered 
under the Overtime Policy, as this audit was conducted in 2015. 

OBJECTIVES AND CRITERIA 

The audit was performed in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing.  The purpose of the audit was to ensure that: 

A. Applicable legislation and Corporate and Departmental Policies and Procedures are
adhered to with respect to the processing of payroll.

B. Access to system for data input, approval and review is restricted to authorized staff.

C. There is proper and accurate reporting of time and attendance and employees are paid
only for work authorized and performed.

D. Payroll is not inflated by fictitious or terminated employees.

E. Payroll and deductions from gross pay are properly calculated and paid.

F. Remittances to third parties for payroll and benefit-related expenses are timely and
accurate.

G. Payroll and benefit-related expenses are properly recorded in the General Ledger.

SUMMARY OF OBSERVATIONS 

Based on our assessment of the Payroll process and underlying processes and systems, our 
view is that there is effective governance to align with applicable legislation (Objective A), 
systems and security controls are adequate (Objective B), remittances to third parties are timely 
and accurate (Objective F), and payroll expenses are properly reflected in the general ledger 
(Objective G). 

However, there are areas where core control elements need to be considered and incorporated 
into Payroll’s current practices in order to provide reasonable assurance that processing of the 
payroll information and associated risks are effectively managed.  These include documenting 
Standard Operating Procedures that reflect current practices (Objective A), approvers being 
accountable for approving time (Objective C), management oversight over terminations and final 
payments to these employees (Objective D), and effectively managing payments to employees 
in line with Corporate Policies and Procedures (Objective E). 
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Timeliness of Terminations (Objectives A and D) 

The audit found that terminations of permanent salaried employees were effectively 
communicated to ensure employees were not paid subsequent to their last effective date of 
work.  However, we noted a number of instances where it took as long as 100 to 307 days to 
terminate temporary hourly, contract and seasonal employees in the system.  As a result, 
records of employment (ROE) were not filed for these employees within the five days of 
interrupted earnings as required by Service Canada. 

We inquired with Human Resources with respect to these prolonged terminations and it was 
explained that these were a result of departments not filing the proper paperwork to have these 
employees formally terminated.  Management needs to initiate these terminations in order for 
HR to perform their role of deactivating the employee.  HR recognized this as a systemic issue 
and has taken the lead to reduce the amount of inactive employees by performing a semi-
annual review that identifies employees who have three months of inactivity (i.e. no Time and 
Labour entries have been entered).  The list is provided to management to confirm the 
employees’ termination.  Each round of terminations results in approximately 300 to 400 
employees being removed from the system.  In order to streamline the termination process, 
ensure accurate statistics on the number of employees employed at the City and comply with 
Service Canada requirements, management needs to be at the forefront of this change.  As 
such, we are recommending that the Corporation establish a policy and procedure(s) on 
terminations to govern the termination process. 

A termination policy should provide direction to department management and staff when a 
decision is made by either party to end the employment relationship.  It should include, but not 
be limited to, the roles and responsibilities of employees and managers in effectively 
communicating terminations to Human Resources and Payroll; the timely submission of records 
of employment that align with Service Canada requirements; authorization levels for 
terminations (dependent on the nature of termination); and standards to uphold that align with 
the Employment Standards Act for dismissals and terminations.  Human Resources has also 
committed to providing managers with a termination checklist that will assist with collecting City-
owned property (e.g. access badge, devices, etc.), and identification of programs the employee 
may have been reimbursed for, such as tuition reimbursement programs, transit discount 
passes, etc. which require a stoppage or recovery of funds. 

Other Payments to Employees (Objective A and E) 

Other than salary and wages, Payroll processes a number of other payments (e.g. honorariums, 
allowances, loan advances, gifts and awards, reimbursements for bring your own device, etc.).  
Internal Audit reviewed some of these other payments to determine adherence to applicable 
Corporate Policies and Procedures, and observed the following: 

a) Employee Loans
Employee loans are interest-free loans provided to employees as a result of administrative
errors (e.g. overpayments or late enrolment into OMERS) that could impact the employee’s net
take-home pay.  In order to alleviate undue financial hardship to the employee by requiring
employees to repay a lump sum amount, Finance provides an option for employees to repay the
amount through scheduled payroll deductions.
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In 2017-2018, Payroll issued 24 loans (for non-union and union employees).  Internal Audit 
reviewed all these loans to determine whether a consistent approach was applied.  We noted 
the following inconsistencies: 

i) The use of promissory notes and repayment schedules;
ii) Level of approval;
iii) Nature of loans; and
iv) Term of loan.

With the exception of two loans, promissory notes and repayment schedules were found.  
However, we also noted that in two other instances where the employee missed payments, 
updated repayment schedules were not obtained.  It is important to have a signed promissory 
note and updated repayment schedule in order for the City to legally recoup payments in arrears 
through wage deductions.  Furthermore, we found that the level of approval for issuance of 
these loans varied, from Director level (i.e. eight loans), other than Director level (i.e. 14 loans) 
and two without approvals.  The loans were mainly provided as a result of administrative errors, 
with the exception of two cases.  All loans with the exception of one were short-term loans (i.e. 
one year or less).  As of December 31, 2018, approximately $16,000 remained outstanding to 
be collected. 

Formal documented procedures were not available for the issuance of employee loans; 
therefore, the parameters were not clear.  We recommend, as part of Finance’s initiative to 
create standard operating procedures within their division, that this process be appropriately 
defined to include, at minimum, the aforementioned criteria. 

b) Gifts and Awards
Payment in the gifts and awards wage category was a result of safety awards issued to
employees, including drivers, mechanics, general service persons, trainers, and route
supervisors who operate vehicles in the Transit Division.  In 2017-2018, a total of $8,450 was
paid to non-union transit employees for amounts ranging from $100 to $500 per employee.  The
award system is based on the number of years of service, combined with the number of years
the employee maintains a clean ‘preventable accidents’ record.  It appears that the program has
been a long-standing practice.  However, Internal Audit was unable to confirm the endorsement
of the program for non-union Transit staff.

For the period under review, the Employee Recognition/Appreciation/Team Building Expenses 
Corporate Policy and Procedure (04-05-08), which applies to all non-union staff, prohibited the 
use of cash awards for recognition, appreciation or team building due to the taxable benefit 
implications.  In March 2019, the Policy was revised to exclude safety awards from the Policy; 
however, formal guidelines/policies for issuance of safety awards have not been provided. 

We noted that Human Resources’ Safety Awards Program uses annual recognition events to 
recognize the safety achievements of employees (i.e. Facilities and Property Management, 
Information Technology and Legal) who have not had a preventable vehicle accident or work-
related lost time injury during the year.  Employees who are recipients of the award are given 
non-monetary prizes such as duffle bags, BBQ tools, clocks, etc., which is aligned with the 
Recognition Policy and City-Wide Guidelines of no cash or cash-like awards.  There seems to 
be a disparity between the practices in the Corporation where one division may receive a cash 
incentive for similar work performed in a different division, with no cash award.  Human 
Resources Labour Relations recognizes that this is non-compliant with the current Policy and 
will discuss with the Director, Transit to determine the proper course of action. 
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c) Bring Your Own Device (BYOD)
The Bring Your Own Device Program as defined in the BYOD Corporate Policy and Procedure
(03-05-06) has been in effect since 2013 and provides eligible employees the use of their
personal device to conduct City business.  Employees are reimbursed $20 for voice, $30 for
data, $45 for voice and data or other specified amount per month subject to approval by their
manager.  In 2018, approximately $88,700 was reimbursed to employees.

In review of reimbursements made in 2018, we noted that out of four employees who were on 
active leave of absence with the City, three continued to be reimbursed.  Managers are required 
to inform the BYOD team when participants are no longer using their devices primarily for City 
business communication.  Continuing to provide employees with access to perform work while 
on paid leave raises some concerns, as it may be considered an interference with their leave.  
We are recommending that the BYOD team be informed of employees on leave in order to 
remove access and terminate reimbursements from reoccurring.  Human Resources has agreed 
to work with the SAP team to develop a report that will provide the appropriate information to the 
BYOD team and IT Security. 

Furthermore, our review showed that in most cases, when an employee transferred positions, 
the reimbursement forms were not approved by their new cost centre managers.  The BYOD 
Policy stipulates that, “reimbursement does not continue if an employee no longer meets the 
reimbursement criteria (e.g. moves to another position in the City).”  The Information 
Technology Division recognized that a review/renewal process was required to ensure 
participants are aware of the current BYOD policy and agreement, device information is up to 
date, participant information is correct, and reimbursement amounts are correct and charged to 
the correct cost centre/account.  The process was initiated in the first quarter of 2019. 

Payroll Approving Time and Labour (Objective C) 

Time and Labour is entered by designated Time and Labour (T&L) Reporters and subsequently 
should be approved by the employee’s direct Supervisor/Manager.  In 2018, there were over 
430,000 entries in CATS, and approximately 22% (i.e. ~95,000) were approved by Payroll on 
behalf of approvers.  We understand that there are some situations that would warrant Payroll to 
perform the approvals; however, these situations should be rare.  Payroll has been performing 
this duty on behalf of managers to ensure employees are paid on time despite the approver’s 
lack of oversight.  When Payroll approves time and labour entries on behalf of managers, they 
are doing so without validating entries are legitimate.  The onus on approving time needs to be 
placed with the approvers.  Subsequent to approving these entries, Payroll informs the 
approvers of the entries that were approved on their behalf and requests that these entries be 
reviewed for completeness and accuracy; however, there is no audit trail to verify if approvers 
reviewed the transactions. 

We noted that part of the issue stems from approvers not setting up appropriate approver 
backups.  We found a number of approvers did not have a backup approver assigned, had 
invalid backup approvers set up (e.g. employee no longer employed by the City) or backup 
approvers were delegated the responsibility at all times.  Therefore, while an approver is on 
vacation or on leave, the responsibility transfers to Payroll for approval.  HR noted this concern 
and has implemented a regular audit to ensure proper backups are set up for all Chiefs of Unit. 

Currently, Finance and IT are piloting an SAP Fiori Time Attendance Reporting application 
which will have automated reminders and approval workflows built in.  The system will notify the 
approver’s manager if the approver has not approved their employee’s time.  The goal is to 
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reinforce responsibilities with employees submitting time and approvers approving time and 
eventually eliminate Payroll approvals by December 2020. 

Miscalculation of Leave Balances (Objective D) 

We reviewed the accuracy of payments upon termination of employees and found two instances 
where vacation balances were left outstanding.  Upon notifying Payroll, these were promptly 
paid to the employees.  Internal Audit also confirmed that a review is completed with regard to 
outstanding leave balances; however these two instances were missed in error. 

Our review also looked at employees who were placed on salary continuance to determine if 
their final payments were properly administered.  When employees are placed on salary 
continuance, they are left active in the SAP system in order to continue to receive payment.  As 
such, they continue to accrue vacation in their quota banks, despite not being eligible to accrue 
vacation during the period of time on salary continuance.  We found that due to this system 
limitation, the calculations for some of these terminated employees were not properly assessed. 
In the sample that Internal Audit reviewed, we found that 4 out of the 6 were incorrectly 
calculated and the City owes between 21 and 93 hours of time. 

A salary continuance module has been developed in SAP to stop accruals for paid time off for 
employees placed on salary continuance.  This module should prevent future miscalculations of 
leave balance payouts.  As part of Internal Audit’s follow-up process on outstanding 
recommendations, we will verify that this module is working as intended. 

CONCLUSION 

Our review of the payroll process for non-union employees found that controls are in place for 
the setup and changes (e.g. salary adjustments, position transfers, terminations, etc.) to 
employee profiles in SAP HCM.  Human Resources Analysts complete their review of the 
master data and Payroll conducts a number of audits using system-generated reports to ensure 
payroll anomalies are identified and corrected prior to executing pay.  Furthermore, Finance 
ensures the general ledgers are appropriately reflected and third parties (e.g. United Way, 
Ministry of Finance, etc.) are paid accurately and timely. 

The areas where the audit identified areas of improvement related to existing internal 
management control framework, which looks at the governance structure of the processes.  For 
example, we found that the City would benefit from clearly defining the roles and responsibilities 
between Payroll, Human Resources and management in terms of the termination process.  
Also, with the introduction of more corporate-wide programs that require payment through 
Payroll, there needs to be defined standard operating procedures to ensure they are handled 
appropriately and approved at the appropriate levels of authority. 

The concerns raised in the audit were primarily administrative in nature and management had 
identified many of the concerns prior to being raised in the audit, such as system limitations, 
structure around time-off requests and the need to create SOPs. 

Details of the audit recommendations and management comments are presented in Appendix A 
to this report.  In total, there are 20 recommendations, of which nine (9) address compliance 
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with and clarification of corporate requirements, ten (10) enhance operational control and 
financial reporting, and one (1) improves safeguarding of assets and information. 

Management has agreed with all of the recommendations and has completed one (1) at the 
time of writing.  They have committed to completing 16 before the end of this year and the 
remaining three (3) within the next year. 

___________________________ 
Al Steinbach, CPA, CMA, CRMA 
Director, Internal Audit 

Auditors: Amy Truong, CPA, CMA, CIA 
Senior Internal Auditor 

Tara Zammit, BBA, PMP 
Senior Internal Auditor 
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Rec  Recommendation Priority 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/Status Classification 
 

1 
 
 

That a Corporate Policy and Procedure on 
Terminations be established. 

H Agreed.  Due to a high number of employees who 
are seasonal within Recreation, Culture and Parks 
& Forestry divisions, supervisors are reluctant to 
terminate these employees’ employment as many 
will be rehired within 3-18 months.  Supervisors of 
these units find it challenging and time-consuming 
to go through a full mass rehire process as it 
currently stands.  Review/streamline of the mass 
rehire process can be further explored as a long-
term solution for this issue. 
 
December 31, 2019 

Compliance with and 
Clarification of 
Corporate 
Requirements 

2 
 

That Payroll management develop an updated 
standard operating procedures manual to assist with 
training of and compliance with the Payroll function. 

H Payroll has a number of processing guidelines on 
various Payroll functions.  These will need to be 
refreshed with the introduction of new SOPs. 
Payroll has also created a critical process 
inventory list in which SOPs will be developed. 
Payroll staff began preparing these SOPs in 2017 
and will continue to complete the list of required 
SOPs.  Items identified within audit will be added 
to the critical process inventory for SOP 
development. 
 
June 30, 2020 

Compliance with and 
Clarification of 
Corporate 
Requirements 

3 That proper segregation of duties be implemented for 
time entry and approval (i.e. not to be entered and 
approved by the same personnel). 

H Payroll will ensure segregation of duties (i.e. data 
entry and approval) on these special requests. 
Where possible, time entry and approval should 
be done at the department level. 
 
Immediate 

Operational Control 
and Financial 
Reporting 
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Rec Recommendation Priority 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/Status Classification 

4 That Payroll not approve time on behalf of 
management, except under limited exceptions (e.g. 
employee has already been terminated and 
management cannot view employee’s time entries). 

H SAP Fiori Time Attendance Reporting is currently 
being piloted and will include automated 
reminders and approval workflows built into the 
system.  Payroll will need to continue to approve 
unapproved time to ensure all employees are paid 
on time.  However, the goal is to reinforce 
responsibilities with employees submitting time 
and approvers approving time, and eventually 
eliminate Payroll approvals. 

December 31, 2019; Payroll approval cut off – 
December 31, 2020 

Operational Control 
and Financial 
Reporting 

5 That a periodic review be conducted to ensure 
appropriate backup approvals are set up in 
Management Self-Service. 

H The issue of missing/incorrect backup approvals 
in MSS was also identified by HR, and going 
forward a regular audit will be run to ensure a 
proper backup is set up for all Chiefs of Unit. 

Payroll will send a reminder to all Time and 
Labour Approvers to ensure proper backup set up 
in SAP. 

September 30, 2019 

Operational Control 
and Financial 
Reporting 

6 That Payroll management work with IT Enterprise 
Business Solution team to implement a mandatory e-
Learning module in SuccessFactors Learning 
Management System for Time and Labour reporters 
and approvers. 

M Agreed.  IT will look into the feasibility of 
implementing a mandatory eLearning course for 
T&L reporters and approvers, and Payroll will 
develop the training content. 

June 30, 2020 

Operational Control 
and Financial 
Reporting 

7 That a vacation payout request form be developed 
that specifies Commissioner’s authorization as a 
requirement. 

H HR will develop a vacation payout form to include 
the appropriate levels of authorization, as well as 
update the Policy to reflect those changes. 

December 31, 2019 

Compliance with and 
Clarification of 
Corporate 
Requirements 
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Rec Recommendation Priority 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/Status Classification 

8 That the excess vacation reminder memorandum 
sent by HR be consistent with the timelines in the 
Vacation Policy. 

M This issue is being addressed via a corporate 
Time Off Review project; recommendations will be 
discussed at CSLT on May 9, 2019.  

It is recommended to eliminate HR initiating the 
exceptions process, and administering the banks 
in accordance with the Policy. 

December 31, 2019 

Compliance with and 
Clarification of 
Corporate 
Requirements 

9 That the request form for vacation carry-over be 
processed only: 
a) When received within the deadline specified in

the Policy;
b) When plans for utilizing the excess vacation are

provided; and
c) For the number of vacation hours requested on

the form.

M This issue is being addressed via corporate Time 
Off Review project; recommendations will be 
discussed at CSLT on May 9, 2019. 

December 31, 2019 

Compliance with and 
Clarification of 
Corporate 
Requirements 

10 That banked hours be monitored to ensure they 
comply with the Alternative Work Arrangements 
Policy. 

H This issue is being addressed via corporate Time 
Off Review project; recommendations will be 
discussed at CSLT on May 9, 2019. 

December 31, 2019 

Compliance with and 
Clarification of 
Corporate 
Requirements 

11 That the Vacation Policy be revised to require 
approval from Employee Health Services prior to 
payment of vacation balances to employees who 
have exhausted their STD entitlement. 

H This issue is being addressed via a Lean Review 
which has recently been completed and corporate 
Time Off Review project as mentioned above. 

December 31, 2019 

Compliance with and 
Clarification of 
Corporate 
Requirements 
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Rec  Recommendation Priority 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/Status Classification 
 

12 That Finance and Human Resources management 
complete a review of past employees who were 
placed on salary continuance to determine any 
incorrect payments. 

M A salary continuance module has been developed 
in SAP to stop accruals for paid time off for 
terminated employees placed on salary 
continuance.  This module will prevent future 
miscalculations of leave balance payouts. 
 
December 31, 2019 

Operational Control 
and Financial 
Reporting 

13 That HR’s termination checklist be provided along 
with the Termination Policy (in recommendation #1) 
to validate employee’s participation in the tuition 
program and the amount owed to the City. 

H Agreed.  This will be in conjunction with 
recommendation #1. 
 
December 31, 2019 

Operational Control 
and Financial 
Reporting 

14 That the cheque control register be amended to 
include sufficient space for a secondary designate. 

M Finance will review the process to determine if 
one signature is sufficient, along with the sign-off 
by the Payroll Supervisor on the supporting back-
up. 
 
June 30, 2019 

Compliance with and 
Clarification of 
Corporate 
Requirements 

15 That Finance management confirm that only 
appropriate personnel have access to the cheque 
printer. 

H Finance will follow up with IT to ensure only the 
appropriate personnel have access to the cheque 
printer. 
 
Completed. 

Operational Control 
and Financial 
Reporting 

16 That the Pick Up and Distribution of Payroll Cheques 
and Direct Deposit Statements Policy (04-10-01) be 
updated to include proper safekeeping and 
identification requirements. 

M Finance will update the Corporate Policy and 
Procedure on Pick Up and Distribution of Payroll 
Cheques and Direct Deposit Statements (04-10-
01) to reflect the changes. 
 
Cheques not picked up will be placed in Payroll 
storage room (locked) for security. 
 
June 30, 2019 

Safeguarding of 
Assets and Information 
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(H/M/L) 

Comments/Status Classification 

17 That the merits of the Transit safety awards program 
be investigated to ensure equity for all non-union 
staff. 

H The type and amount of Safety Awards in Transit 
is an established long-standing practice.  
Recognizing that it is not in compliance with the 
current policy, Labour Relations will work with the 
Director of Transit to determine the proper course 
to review the practice. 

September 30, 2019 

Clarification with and 
Compliance with 
Corporate 
Requirements 

18 That the BYOD team be informed of employees on 
leave in order to remove access and terminate 
reimbursement. 

H HR will work with the SAP team to develop a 
report for employees on leave of absence to be 
provided to the appropriate business units, 
including BYOD team and IT Security. 

June 30, 2020 

Operational Control 
and Financial 
Reporting 

19 That the BYOD team perform a periodic review that 
identifies participants who are no longer eligible for 
BYOD reimbursement as a result of transferring 
positions. 

H IT has developed standard operating procedures 
related to performing quarterly reviews on BYOD 
contracts greater than a year.  Employees who do 
not submit the required documentation (e.g. 
recent bill, authorization from existing cost centre 
manager, etc.) will forfeit their BYOD 
reimbursement. 

September 30, 2019 

Operational Control 
and Financial 
Reporting 

20 That reconciliations for third-party vendor remittances 
and negative net pay be dated by the preparer and 
approver when completed. 

M Finance will enforce that the preparer and 
Approver date the reconciliations once completed. 

June 30, 2019 

Operational Control 
and Financial 
Reporting 
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Community Services Department 
Library Services Division 

Digital Library Services & Collections Section 
Library Acquisitions Audit 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND  
 

The Mississauga Library Systems Division consists of the Central Library and 17 library branch 
locations.  These facilities provide physical spaces where the Library’s services, programs and 
collection can be used and accessed.  The Library also has many online services and resources 
through its website including access to its online catalogue, downloadable and streaming 
collections, electronic resources and information on a range of Library services and programs. 
 
There are 4.9 million in-person visits to the Library on an annual basis.  From the Library 
collection of 1.1 million items, over 6 million loans were recorded and over 930,000 visits made 
to the Library website. 
 
Library materials are acquired on a regular basis to replenish and update the Library collection, 
including hardcopies of books and magazines; audio books; DVD’s; CD’s; video console games; 
as well as downloadable books, magazines and online databases.  The 2018 annual operating 
budget for Library material acquisitions is $3.9 million which includes four (4) supplier contracts 
for hardcopy books and magazines valued at $2.2 million and 11 sole source contracts for 
electronic resources for streaming downloadable and database resources (e.g. downloadable 
books) at $1.1 million.  The remaining $0.6 million is for smaller Library material purchases from 
various vendors. 
 
Library material acquisitions are administered by the Library Collection and Material Handling 
Unit.  This unit is part of the Digital Library Services and Collections Section, Library Systems 
Division, Community Services Department.  There are 24 union and three non-union full-time 
staff members that report to the Manager, Library Collection and Material Handling.  There are 
three main units within the Digital Library Services and Collection Section:  the Collection 
Development Unit is primarily responsible for contract management and ordering; the second 
area is responsible for cataloguing; and the third area, Material Handling and Processing Unit, is 
responsible for receiving, payments, processing (preparing the material for circulation), and 
distributing library material to branches for circulation to the public. 
 
Library materials are acquired through the Automatic Release Plan (ARP) and Firm Orders.  
Under ARP, materials are chosen by the vendors based on selection criteria established by 
Library staff (e.g. by popularity, reputation of author and/or publisher, customer demand, and 
suitability of subject).  Firm Orders are selected by a committee of four Library staff members. 
They are responsible for specific categories of materials purchased by the Library (i.e. Adult 
Fiction; Adult Non-Fiction; Junior; Non Print (e.g. DVD’s and music); French; and Multilingual 
(material in 15 different languages).  Special requests can also be made by staff and library 
patrons by email or when visiting the library. 
 
An Integrated Library System from Dynix was used prior to 2012 that contained modules for 
acquisitions, cataloguing, and circulation of materials offered to the public.  An upgraded 
SirsiDynix Symphony system was implemented in 2012 that is using the same modules.   
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SCOPE 
 
This audit focused on the purchasing, payment and receiving processes for Library material with 
emphasis on controls, compliance and mitigation of potential risk exposure.  A sample of 
purchases and payments made during 2018 were selected for review. 
 
 

OBJECTIVES 
 
The audit was conducted in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing.  The purpose of the audit was to ensure that: 
 

A) Acquisition of Library material is properly approved, documented and adheres to the 
City’s Purchasing By-law, corporate requirements and/or good business practices; 

   
B) Payments are properly approved, calculated, processed, adequately supported and 

made in accordance with contract requirements; 
 
C) Changes are accurate, relevant and reasonable to the City and appropriately 

recorded; 
 
D) Library materials acquired are properly secured, processed and ultimately placed in 

circulation to the public; 
 
E) There is liability insurance coverage, WSIB coverage, contract performance 

securities, warranties, etc., where applicable, to mitigate any risk exposure to the City 
during and after the performance of the contract; 

 
F) Departmental processes for the acquisition of Library materials are clearly and 

comprehensively documented; and, 
 
G) Concerns raised in previous audits have been addressed. 

 
 
SUMMARY OF OBSERVATIONS 
 
Results from the audit identified that controls are in place for approving, calculating, processing 
and recording payments (Objective B).  Payments were consistently charged to the correct cost 
centre and expenses were recorded against the budget to which they pertained (Objective C).  
There are comprehensive departmental procedure manuals and standard operating procedures 
that are current and up to date (Objective F). 
 
We found that library materials acquired were properly catalogued, processed, recorded and 
secured upon receipt from the vendors and while awaiting transportation to the branch libraries.  
However, acknowledging receipt of new material by the branches was not properly reflected in 
the SirsiDynix system.  Furthermore, inventory reports were not generated and reviewed to 
ensure purchases were delivered to the Library branches (Objective D).  These are discussed in 
more detail further in the report.  Access lists to the SirsiDynix system are not periodically 
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reviewed to ensure that access is promptly removed from those who have left the Library 
Division.  Although there was no evidence of inappropriate access, the potential for 
unauthorized access to the SirsiDynix system remains if access lists are not up to date.  Library 
management agreed that user access lists would be reviewed annually and updated 
accordingly. 
 
Results of the audit showed that controls were in place for the approval of contracts but further 
efforts are required for completing justification forms for single, sole source acquisitions; 
obtaining and including supporting documentation in the bid documents prior to entering into 
contracts; and converting United States currency contracts to Canadian currency to ensure the 
appropriate approvals are obtained (Objective A).  Clarification is also required in the 
Purchasing By-law regarding approvals required when increasing expenditures for multi-year 
contracts, and tracking contract Procurement Card expenditures to ensure they do not exceed 
the upset limit of the contract.  Similar observations were identified in previous audits and 
Materiel Management is addressing these concerns. 
 
Insurance certificates and Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) coverage from 
vendors to mitigate any risk exposure to the City are collected by Materiel Management upon 
execution of the contract.  Any renewals during the term of the contract are the responsibility of 
the Library Acquisitions staff.  Results of the audit showed that WSIB coverage and contractor 
insurance certificates were on hand and renewed as required, but some of the insurance 
certificates originally obtained by Materiel Management did not fully comply with the terms of the 
contracts (Objective E).  Similar observations were identified in previous audits and Materiel 
Management is addressing these concerns as well. 
 
The previous Library Acquisitions audit was completed in 2011 and resulted in nine 
recommendations.  A follow-up of these recommendations showed that six of the 
recommendations have been implemented.  Two similar concerns have resurfaced during the 
current audit (Objective G):  one relating to investigating all items shown as “Available Soon” in 
the SirsiDynix system to determine their status; and secondly, the completion of justification 
forms and documentation to support that there are no other suitable service providers for single, 
sole sourced acquisitions. 
 
Concerns relating to electronically monitoring acquired materials and reviewing users’ system 
access (Objective D) and the acquisitions approvals and supporting documentation (Objective 
A) are discussed in more detail below. 
 
Tracking Library Materials and System Access (Objective D) 
 
Library materials that are ordered appear in the SirsiDynix system as “On Order.”  The materials 
are delivered to the Central Library where they are verified to invoices before payment is made 
and they are entered as received.  The status in the SirsiDynix then changes from “On Order” to 
“Available Soon.”  These materials are catalogued and processed and then delivered to the 
library branches.  Branch staff then scan the received items into the SirsiDynix system, the 
status is updated to “In Library” and items are made available to the public. 
 
Prior to the 2012 system upgrade, a report was generated that would highlight materials that did 
not appear to be scanned as “Available Soon.”  It is our understanding that with the upgrade, a 
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report was no longer being produced and Library branches were not investigating materials that 
had a status of “Available Soon.”  In the summer of 2018, the Library Innovation and 
Technology group started generating a report of all items in the SirsiDynix system with a status 
of “Available Soon” for more than nine months, and Library branches have been actively 
investigating these items.  We reviewed the February 2019 report which identified 7,025 items 
marked as “Available Soon,” dating back to November 2013. 
 
There is a risk that items purchased are either not being scanned properly when delivered to the 
branches, or are missing and not identified for follow-up purposes.  We have recommended that 
the report be modified and that a review be undertaken of items with a status of “Available 
Soon” for less than nine months.  We have also recommended that a report be produced to 
verify that all purchased materials have been received and scanned at the Library branches. 
 
Contracts and Acquisitions of Library Materials (Objective A) 
 
A review of 4 out of 12 vendor files identified discrepancies from the offers that were submitted.  
For example, the bid did not provide a breakdown of the amount that would be charged for each 
purchased book; the bid did not deduct the magazines that the vendor could not provide; the 
discount recorded by the vendor of 0.25% should have been 25%; and two vendors did not sign 
the Form of Offer.  We identified that the Library paid the correct amount for the books and 
magazines but we recommended that all Forms of Offer be signed and include documentation 
to support the total amount of the bid. 
 
Section 12 of the Purchasing By-law states that Medium and High-Value Non-Competitive 
Acquisitions require a written Bid Request to be issued prior to any negotiations or entering into 
any commitment, and to be used as a basis for determining terms and conditions.  The audit 
found that Bid Requests could not be found for the eight contracts reviewed.  We have 
recommended that bid requests be issued and received for all Medium and High-Value Non-
Competitive Acquisitions. 
 
The audit found that purchases for a five-year single, sole source contract for $3.3 million were 
being made by corporate credit card (Pcard).  The audit found that these purchases were not 
tracked to ensure that the upset limit of the contract would not be exceeded.  Also, a review of 
six out of eight single, sole source acquisitions identified that they were made without 
justification forms being completed by the Library.  These observations and accompanying 
recommendations were also identified in the recent Single, Sole Source and Emergency 
Acquisition Audit. 
 
The Purchasing By-law requires that a Materiel Management Manager is required to execute all 
single, sole source contracts with a value of $50,001 up to $100,000.  We found that one 
contract for $42,784 USD (United States) was not converted to Canadian currency when 
determining the approval requirements.  It is our understanding that Materiel Management is 
revising the Purchasing By-law and will be treating the United States currency at par with 
Canadian currency when determining the appropriate level of authorization. 
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CONCLUSION 

 
Results from the audit showed that controls are in place for receiving and storing deliveries; 
approving and processing payments; and charging expenses to the correct cost centre in the 
SAP system.  Reporting improvements are required when verifying that all materials have been 
received and scanned at the Library branches; reviewing and updating the Purchasing By-law 
and verifying compliance; and ensuring certificates of insurance are completed properly. 
 
Details of the audit recommendations and management comments are presented in Appendix A 
to this report.  In total, the audit resulted in seven (7) recommendations, of which four (4) relate 
to Safeguarding of Assets and Information, two (2) address concerns with Compliance with and 
Clarification of Corporate Requirements, and one (1) recommendation relates to improving the  
Efficiency and Effectiveness of business operations.  Management has agreed with the 
recommendations; two (2) recommendations will be completed by September 30, 2019 and five 
(5) recommendations by December 31, 2019. 
 
 

 
__________________________ 
Al Steinbach, CPA, CMA, CRMA 
Director, Internal Audit 
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Rec  Recommendation Priority 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/Status Classification 
 

1 
 
 

That Materiel Management ensure all Forms of Offer 
from vendors are signed and include documentation 
to support the total bid amount. 

M Agreed.  Materiel Management will remind staff at 
their April 18, 2019 meeting.  An e-bidding solution 
will be implemented in 2019 that will not accept 
unsigned forms. 
 
This will be completed by December 31, 2019. 

Compliance with 
and Clarification of 
Corporate 
Requirements 

2 
 

That Materiel Management ensure Bid Requests are 
issued and received for all Medium and High-Value 
Non-Competitive Acquisitions. 

H Agreed.  Materiel Management is currently revising 
the Purchasing By-law #374-2006 and will not 
require bid requests for straightforward supply of 
goods and “off-the-shelf” products. 
 
This will be completed by December 31, 2019. 

Compliance with 
and Clarification of 
Corporate 
Requirements 

3 That the backlog of material shown as “Available 
Soon” but not scanned at the Library be continued to 
be investigated and resolved in a timely manner. 

M Agreed.  The “Available Soon” reports will continue 
to be reviewed in all branches on a monthly basis 
as per current process to ensure they are 
investigated and resolved in a timely manner. 
 
This will be completed by September 30, 2019. 

Safeguarding of 
Assets and 
Information 

4 That a report of all material in the SirsiDynix system 
shown as “Available Soon” be modified so that 
necessary, timely, and corrective actions can be 
taken for any items shown as outstanding for an 
unusually long period of time. 

M Agreed.  The “Available Soon” report will be 
modified to include items which have been 
outstanding for a shorter period of time. 
 
This will be completed by December 31, 2019. 

Safeguarding of 
Assets and 
Information 

5 That a report of material with a status of “Available 
Soon” but deleted from the system be generated and 
reviewed for reasonableness. 

H Agreed.  The library will work with SirsiDynix to 
request a custom report be created to detail 
“Available Soon” deletions as long as this is 
possible in the system. 
 
This will be completed by December 31, 2019. 
 

Safeguarding of 
Assets and 
Information 
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6 That a SirsiDynix system summary report be 
generated periodically for measuring the time taken 
from receiving materials to being available for 
customers to check out at the branches. 

M Agreed.  The library will work with SirsiDynix to 
request a custom report be created to manage 
materials receipt timelines.  Should this not be 
feasible, the library will work to establish whether 
existing manual processes can be adapted. 
 
This will be completed by December 31, 2019. 

Efficiency and 
Effectiveness 

7 That Management periodically (annually) review a list 
of users who have access to the SirsiDynix system to 
confirm that access is granted only to those who 
require it for performance of their duties. 

H Agreed.  An annual user review will be put in place 
to ensure user levels in the system are aligned with 
the performance of their duties. 
 
This will be completed by September 30, 2019. 

Safeguarding of 
Assets and 
Information 
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Corporate Services Department 
Finance Division 

Financial & Treasury Services Section 
2018 Investments Audit 

BACKGROUND 

The Financial and Treasury Services Section is part of the Finance Division within the Corporate 
Services Department.  The Treasury Unit is responsible for cash flow forecasting, investing City 
funds and financial reporting of cash and investments. 

The current Corporate Investments Policy (04-13-02) states that it is the City’s objective to 
invest in “near risk-free investments to ensure security of capital.”  Ontario Regulation 438/97: 
Eligible Investments, Related Financial Agreements and Prudent Investments also sets out 
specific types of securities in which a municipality may invest.  All investments must meet these 
criteria:  investment quality, size limitations and term of investments.  Emphasis is placed on 
securities offered by, or unconditionally guaranteed by, the Government of Canada, a province 
of Canada, or banks listed in Schedule I of the Bank Act.  The Corporate Investments Policy 
broadly contains the same information as Ontario Regulation 438/97 that pertains to the specific 
types of securities in which a municipality may invest. 

The net earnings from cash and investments held in the City Funds Portfolio are distributed 
amongst the Operating Fund and Reserve Funds as per Corporate Investments Policy 
requirements, broadly as follows: 

• Net earnings are allocated to the Reserve Funds through a combination of fund balances
and yield.

• Net earnings from cash and the City Funds Portfolio are allocated to the Operating Fund (as
determined by both fund balances and the Annual Operating Budget).  The current
budgeted contribution to the Operating Fund is approximately $14.49 million.

• Reserve Funds receive any excess return (if it exists), over and above the Operating Fund
distribution.

The Development Charges Act (DCA) Portfolio receives and invests DCA contributions and the 
Cemetery Trust Portfolio receives and invests Cemetery Trust contributions.  Net earnings for 
those portfolios are distributed to their respective City accounts. 

CIBC Mellon provides custody banking services to the City for transacting marketable securities, 
as well as the monthly accounting services related to the City Funds Portfolio.  The City Funds 
Portfolio is comprised of two portfolios held on account with CIBC Mellon:  the Bonds Portfolio 
and the Zeroes Portfolio.  CIBC Mellon also provides custody banking services and transaction 
services for the DCA Portfolio and Cemetery Trust Portfolio. 
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For the City Funds Portfolio, CIBC Mellon also provides further enhanced services for 
accounting and securities lending.  The enhanced accounting services include monthly book 
value accounting which calculates monthly amortization, accretion and accruals on a per 
security basis.  Treasury is currently testing whether CIBC Mellon can provide enhanced 
accounting services for the DCA Portfolio or Cemetery Trust Fund in a cost effective and 
efficient manner. 

The Treasury Unit conducts monthly verification of all CIBC Mellon accounting calculations for 
the City Funds Portfolio, as well as conducting all necessary book value accounting for the DCA 
Portfolio and the Cemetery Trust Portfolio. 

CIBC Mellon forwards a monthly statement listing to the Accounting Unit within Finance.  An 
Accounting Analyst from the Accounting Unit provides independent monthly reconciliations for 
transaction activity (cash for securities, securities for cash) that occurs between CIBC Mellon 
(the Custody Bank) and CIBC (the City’s Corporate Bank). 

The Investment Procedural Manual provides detailed narrative of all processes required to 
transact and maintain the City’s investments. 

SCOPE 

The audit scope was limited to the period January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018.  The audit 
scope included investments made in the City Funds Portfolio (Bonds and Zeroes accounts) and 
the reconciliation of the Development Charges Reserve Fund and the Cemetery Trust Fund. 

OBJECTIVES 

The audit was conducted in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing.  The purpose of the audit was to ensure that: 

A) Investments are in compliance with legislation, Council by-laws and City policy and
procedures;

B) Return on investment is commensurate with a near risk-free rate of return, having
regard to constraints imposed by legislation, Council by-laws and City policy;

C) There are good controls over the investment process; and
D) Investment commitments do not interfere with the required cash flow and that

sufficient working funds are maintained.

SUMMARY OF OBSERVATIONS 

All of the City’s securities reviewed complied with the applicable requirements of the Municipal 
Act, Ontario Regulation, City By-law and Corporate Policy and Procedures (Objective A).  The 
City’s investment yield is affected by the constraints imposed by legislation, City By-law and 
Corporate Policy (Objective B).  Nevertheless, the City’s 2018 net yield was 3.06% which was 
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consistently higher than the three month T-Bill rate of 1.65% and the bank rate of 2.05% 
(average) if the funds were left in the CIBC bank account. 

Given the existing delivery and safekeeping arrangement for the investments and the bank and 
investment portfolio reconciliations performed by staff in the Finance Division, security and 
safeguarding of investments were considered satisfactory (Objective C).  Based on the audit 
work performed, we found that investment purchases and sells were appropriately recorded in 
the General Ledger throughout the year. 

The City has a contract with CIBC Mellon to provide additional accounting services to the 
Investment Unit.  These services include transaction administration (calculating monthly earned 
revenue, amortization, and accretion for all investments), position-keeping, safe-keeping and 
securities lending.  Reliance is placed on the information provided by CIBC Mellon’s additional 
accounting services.  Bank and investment portfolio reconciliations continue to be completed by 
staff in the Finance Division.  We noted that the amendment to the agreement for fees was 
agreed upon by the Finance Division and CIBC Mellon effective April 1, 2018 but was not 
processed through a Purchasing Agent as per the Purchasing By-law.  (This contract 
amendment is currently being updated and processed for tracking purposes by Materiel 
Management). 

The audit found that there is an effective process for forecasting and monitoring cash flow which 
is primarily the responsibility of the Treasury Analyst (Objective D).  The process includes the 
daily monitoring of cash flow requirements and periodic review of the timing of major 
expenditures (e.g. for capital projects). 

There were no outstanding recommendations from previous audits that required follow-up 
during this audit. 

CONCLUSION 

Overall results of the audit showed that there are effective controls in place for the City’s 
investments. 

__________________________ 
Al Steinbach, CPA, CMA, CRMA 
Director, Internal Audit 



Date: 2019/04/22 

To: Chair and Members of Audit Committee 

From: Gary Kent, CPA, CGA, ICD.D, 
Commissioner of Corporate Services and Chief 
Financial Officer 

Originator’s files: 

Meeting date: 
2019/05/06 

Subject 

2018 Audited Financial Statements 

Recommendation 

That the 2018 Audited Financial Statements for City of Mississauga (consolidated), City of 

Mississauga Public Library Board, City of Mississauga Trust Funds, Clarkson Business 

Improvement Area, Port Credit Business Improvement Area, Streetsville Business Improvement 

Area, Malton Business Improvement Area, and Enersource Corporation be received as 

information.

Report Highlights 

 The audited financial statements have been reviewed and approved by the Director of

Finance and Treasurer, and the Commissioner of Corporate Services and Chief Financial

Officer.

 One of the fiduciary responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to review the annual

financial statements and audit results.

 This report presents the following 2018 Audited Financial Statements for:

o City of Mississauga (consolidated)

o City of Mississauga Public Library Board

o City of Mississauga Trust Funds

o Clarkson Business Improvement Area

o Port Credit Business Improvement Area

o Streetsville Business Improvement Area

o Malton Business Improvement Area

7.3
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o Enersource Corporation

 KPMG has provided an unqualified audit opinion on all financial statements which attests

to the integrity and quality of the financial statements.

Background 

The statutory function of our auditors, KPMG LLP, is to report to Audit Committee by expressing 

an opinion on the City’s annual financial statements.  The auditors conduct their audit in 

accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Auditing Standards with the objective of 

expressing an opinion whether the City’s annual financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position, results of operations and the cash flows of the City. 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the City’s annual 

financial statements in accordance with the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) financial 

reporting framework. 

One of the fiduciary responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to review the annual financial 

statements and audit results. 

KPMG LLP is in their fourth year of a five year contract (2015 to 2019). 

Comments 

The financial statements have been audited by the City’s external auditors, KPMG LLP.  The 

City’s financial statements follow the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) recommendations 

and comply fully with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting principles.  

The financial statements must provide information on the cost of all activities, how they were 

financed, investing activities and the assets and liabilities of the government.  The information is 

to reflect the full nature and extent of the government’s financial affairs.  

The Audited Financial Statements are a report card on the financial position, health and strength 

of the City of Mississauga. The 2018 financial results continue to demonstrate Mississauga’s 

legacy of strong leadership and excellence in financial planning and fiscal prudence.  

The City of Mississauga consolidated financial statements are comprised of all organizations, 

committees and local boards accountable to the City for the administration of their financial 

affairs and resources and which are owned or controlled by the City.  

The 2018 audited financial statements have been prepared on a different basis  from the 2018 

Annual Budget. Note 14 (Segmented by Service Area) within the financial statements reconciles 

the actual revenues and expenses with the Service Areas adjusted budget. Note 15 (Budget 

Data) also breaks down the approved budget with the adjusted budget reported in the audited 

financial statments. A separate schedule within the Annual Financial Report will also breakdown 

the Approved Budget with the adjusted Budget reported and actuals in the financial statements. 
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Refer to Appendix 2 (2018 Financial Year in Review) for detailed information and analysis on 

the financial statements and results. To complement the audited financial statements, Finance 

is currently preparing the 2018 Annual Financial Report  and 2018 Annual Popular Report 

(Financial Highights) which will be available on the City’s website.  

For the 21st consecutive year, the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) of the 

United States and Canada presented the City of Mississauga with the Canadian Award for 

Financial Reporting for its 2017 Annual Financial Report in recognition of the City’s ability to 

present financial information in a clear, concise and informative manner. This award program 

encourages innovative financial reporting and maintains a high quality standard that is 

recognized amongst peers.  

For the second year in 2017 the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) of the 

United States and Canada presented the City of Mississauga with the Canadian Award for 

Popular Financial Reporting.The purpose of this report is to present highlights of the Annual 

Financial Report to our citizens and other stakeholders in a clear and understandable format. 

We understand the presentation of the budget and financial statements can be complex to 

understand. This report does not contain all the financial information that is presented in the 

Annual Financial Report. We have identified key highlights from the Annual Financial Report to 

provide a high-level view of the City’s finances. 

The 2018 Annual Financial and Popular Reports will continue to be prepared in electronic 

format and will be available to all stakeholders on the City’s website.  No print versions of the 

Annual report will be produced for public and stakeholder distribution.  A notice will be posted in 

the Mississauga News advising residents and other stakeholders that the Annual Financial 

Report will be posted and available on the City’s website, www.mississauga.ca/finance where it 

can be printed or read at their convenience.  

Financial Impact 

The City’s year-end audit fees for the 2018 financial statements were $129,250 plus applicable 

taxes.  This audit included the City, Mississauga Public Library Board, Trust Funds, and four 

Business Improvement Areas. 

Enersource Corporation is a 31% owner of Alectra Inc. ("Alectra") as of February 1, 2017, an 

entity created through the merger of certain hydro holding companies. The transactions included 

Enersource Corporation exchanging all of its ownership in its operating companies for this 

ownership in the newly created merged entity of Alectra. 

Included in these transactions and as of the same date, the City entered into an arrangement to 

provide a loan guarantee to Enersource Corporation of $70 million.  

The City’s 90% interest in Enersource Corporation in 2018 was $502.4 million (2017 $485.0 

million), an increase of $17.4 million and has been reported as a financial asset on the 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  The $17.4 million increase relates to a $30.3 
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million share of net income in Enersource Corporation less the  dividend paid to City of $12.9 

million. This income has been reported as revenue on the City’s Consolidated Statement of 

Financial Activities.  

Conclusion 

The 2018 Financial Statements are a report on the stewardship of the City’s financial affairs and 

the Auditor’s Reports attest that they present fairly our financial position as at December 31, 

2018 and the results of operations for the year then ended. 

There were no concerns identified with the 2018 audit or financial statements. The City financial 

position remains healthy and strong through sound managment practices and fiscal prudence. 

Attachments 

Appendix 1: 2018 Audited Financial Statements 

Appendix 2: Financial Year In Review 

Gary Kent, CPA, CGA, ICD.D, Commissioner of Corporate Services and Chief Financial Officer 

Prepared by:   Mark Beuparlant, Manager, Financial & Treasury Services 
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KPMG LLP
Vaughan Metropolitan Centre 
100 New Park Place, Suite 1400 
Vaughan ON L4K 0J3 
Canada
Tel 905-265-5900 
Fax 905-265-6390

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the 
City of Mississauga (the Entity), which comprise

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,2018

• the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended

• the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then 
ended

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements")

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2018, 
and its consolidated results of operations, its consolidated changes in net financial 
assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
"Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of 
our auditors' report

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion

KPMG LLP, is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 

member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International*), a Swiss entity 

KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial 
reporting process

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit

We also

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal 
control.
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on 
the financial statements We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Vaughan, Canada

April 12, 2019
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2018 2017

$ $

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at December 31, 2018 with comparatives for 2017

(All dollar amounts are m $000)

Financial Assets

Cash 110,925 131,819

Taxes receivable (Note 2) 45,567 33,978

Accounts receivable (Note 2) 96,795 130,051

Loans and other receivables 500 550

Inventories for resale 173 225

Investments (Note 3) 1,020,141 872,367

Investment m Enersource Corporation (Note 4) 502,361 485,034

Total Financial Assets 1,776,462 1,654,024

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 183,942 213,260

Deferred revenue - general 10,021 9,742

Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds (Note 5) 406,224 334,252

Employee benefits and other liabilities (Note 6) 209,650 209,231

Long-term debt (Note 7) 181,491 155,895

Total Financial Liabilities 991,328 922,380

Net Financial Assets 785,134 731,644

Non-Financial Assets

Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 8,180,906 8,113,738

Inventories of supplies 7,616 6,670

Prepaid expenses 2,760 3,552

Total Non-Financial Assets 8,191,282 8,123,960

Accumulated Surplus (Note 9) 8,976,416 8,855,604

Contractual Rights (Note 19) 

Commitments (Note 20) 

Subsequent Event (Note 21)

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these consolidated financial statements
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The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Consolidated Statement of Operations
for the year ended December 31, 2018 with comparatives for 2017
(All dollar amounts are m $000)

Budget
2018

$
(Note 15)

Actual

2018

$

Actual
2017

$

Revenues (Notes 13 and 14)

Taxation (Note 10) 521,734 525,782 500,149

Municipal Accommodation Tax 7,400 8,990 -

User charges 236,990 258,215 249,043

Recoveries from third parties 6,245 9,324 8,990

Funding transfers from other governments (Note 18) 1,802 34,964 42,927

Development and other contributions applied - 73,265 90,547

Investment income 28,472 35,305 37,628

Penalties and interest on taxes 8,120 9,805 9,133

Contributed assets - 49,581 11,732

Other 1,311 20,158 6,099

City's Share of Net Income in Enersource Corporation (Note 4) - 30,268 14,194

City's Share of Equity in Gam on Exchange of Investment m Enersource

Holdings (Note 4) “ - 202,734

Total Revenues 812,074 1,055,657 1,173,176

Expenses (Note 13)

General government services 175,582 196,251 192,616

Protection services 134,086 133,209 125,684

Transportation services 332,440 337,530 319,164

Environmental services 20,527 22,998 19,647

Health services 584 557 616

Social and family services 540 648 484

Recreation and cultural services 168,863 170,252 162,518

Planning and development services 23,444 23,406 22,600

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 49,994 2,544

Total Expenses (Note 14) 856,066 934,845 845,873

Annual Surplus/(Deficit)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year

(43,992)

8,855,604

120,812

8,855,604

327,303

8,528,301

Accumulated Surplus, end of year (Note 9) 8,811,612 8,976,416 8,855,604

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these consolidated financial statements
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The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
for the year ended December 31, 2018 with comparatives for 2017

(All dollar amounts are m $000)

Budget Actual Actual

2018 2018 2017

$ $ $

Annual Surplus/(Deficit) (43,992) 120,812 327,303

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (Note 8) - (318,719) (337,256)

Amortization (Note 8) 135,136 140,468 133,942

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (Note 8) - 49,994 2,544

Transfer of assets under construction (Note 8) - 61,089 107,582

91,144 53,644 234,115

Acquisition of inventory of supplies - (7,616) (6,670)

Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (2,760) (3,552)

Consumption of inventory of supplies - 6,670 6,901

Use of prepaid expenses - 3,552 2,391

Change in Net Financial Assets 91,144 53,490 233,185

Net Financial Assets, beginning of year 731,644 731,644 498,459

Net Financial Assets, end of year 822,788 785,134 731,644

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended December 31, 2018 with comparatives for 2017

(All dollar amounts are m $000)

2018

$

2017

$

Cash Provided By (Used In):

Operating Activities

Annual surplus/(deficit) 120,812 327,303

Items Not Involving Cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 140,468 133,942

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 49,994 2,544

Contributed assets (49,581) (11,732)

Change m employee benefits and other liabilities 419 (1,025)

Equity m mcome of Enersource Corporation (30,268) (216,928)

Change in Non-Cash Assets and Liabilities

Accounts receivable 33,256 (55,922)

Taxes receivable (11,589) 2,633

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (29,318) 37,348

Deferred revenue - general 279 729

Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds 71,972 8,957

Inventories for resale 52 59

Inventories of supplies (946) 231

Prepaid expenses 792 (U61)

Net Change in Cash from Operating Activities 296,342 226,978

Capital Activities

Tangible capital asset additions (269,138) (325,524)

Transfer of assets under construction 61,089 107,582

Net Change in Cash from Capital Activities (208,049) (217,942)

Investing Activities

Increase in investments (147,774) (15,425)

Decrease m loans and other receivables 50 50

Dividends from Enersource Corporation 12,941 12,906

Net Change in Cash from Investing Activities (134,783) (2,469)

Financing Activities

Issuance of long-term debt 46,270 38,853

Repayment of long-term debt (20,674) (17,405)

Net Change in Cash from Financing Activities 25,596 21,448

Net Change in Cash (20,894) 28,015

Cash, beginning of year 131,819 103,804

Cash, end of year 110,925 131,819

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

(All dollar amounts are in $000)

The City of Mississauga is a municipality m the Province of Ontario, Canada It conducts its operations guided by the provisions of 
provincial statutes such as the Municipal Act 2001, Planning Act, Building Code Act, Provincial Offences Act and other related 
legislation.

1. Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the City of Mississauga (the “City”) are prepared by management m 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for local governments as recommended by the Public Sector 
Accountmg Board (“PSAB”) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (“CPA Canada”). Significant aspects of the 
accounting policies adopted by the City are as follows

a) Basis of consolidation

(i) Consolidated entities

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses of the reporting entity. The reporting entity 
comprises all organizations, committees, and local boards accountable for the administration of then financial affairs and resources to 
the City and which are owned or controlled by the City except for the City’ s Government Business Enterprise which is accounted for 
on the modified equity basis of accounting

These entities and organizations mcluded m the reporting entity are

• City of Mississauga Public Library Board

• Clarkson Vlllage Busmess Improvement Association

• Malton Business Improvement Area

• Port Credit Busmess Improvement Area

• Streetsville Busmess Improvement District Association

Inter-departmental and inter-organizational transactions and balances between these entities and organizations are eliminated

(ii) Investment m a Government Business Enterprise

The City’ s investment in Enersource Corporation is accounted for on a modified equity basis, consistent with GAAP as recommended 

by PSAB for investments in Government Business Enterprises Under the modified equity basis, the Government Business 
Enterprise’ s accounting policies are not adjusted to conform with those of the City, and inter-organizational transactions and balances 
are not eliminated The City recognizes its equity interest m the annual income of Enersource Corporation m its consolidated 
statement of operations with a corresponding increase or decrease m its investment asset account Any dividends that the City may 
receive from Enersource Corporation will be reflected as reductions in the investment asset account.

(iii) Accounting for Region and School Board transactions

The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the operations of the Regional Municipality of Peel ("the 
Region") and the school boards are not reflected m these consolidated financial statements

(iv ) Trust funds

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the City are not mcluded in these consolidated financial statements The 
Perpetual Care Fund and Election Trust Fund are not accounted for as part of the City's assets The City acts as a trustee, mvestmg and 
administering such funds, in accordance with regulations of the Funeral, Burial and Cremations Services Act and Mumcipal Elections 
Act

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga
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1. Significant Accounting Policies

b) Basis of accounting

The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses Revenues are normally recognized m the year m which 

they are earned and measurable Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or 
services and/or the legal obligation to pay

c) Government transfers

Government grants are recognized in the consolidated financial statements as revenues m the period in which events giving rise to the 

transfer occur, providmg the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts 
can be made

d) Taxation revenue

Taxation revenues and taxes receivable are recognized when they meet the definition of an asset, the tax is authorized and the taxable 
event has occurred Additional property taxation revenue can be added throughout the year, related to new properties that become 
occupied, or that become subject to property taxation, after the return of the annual assessment roll used for billing purposes The City 

may receive supplementary assessment rolls over the course of the year from MPAC, identifying new or omitted assessments Property 
taxes for these supplementary and/or omitted amounts are then billed accordmg to the approved tax rate for the property class

e) Municipal accommodation tax revenue

Municipal accommodation tax revenue is recognized as revenue in the period that the tax is levied on accommodations charges by 
accommodations providers

f) Deferred revenue

Deferred revenues represent licenses, permits and other fees which have been collected, but for which the related services or 
inspections have yet to be performed These amounts will be recognized as revenues m the fiscal year the services are performed

g) Development charges

Development charges are charges imposed on land development or redevelopment projects. Fees are set out m a City by-law, which 

conforms to the requirements of the Development Charges Act, 1997 Development charges are collected when an above grade 
building permit is issued and recogmzed in revenues when used to fund the growth-related portion of qualifying capital projects

h) Investment income

Investment income is reported as revenue m the period earned When required by the funding government or related Act, investment 
income earned on deferred revenue is added to the investment and forms part of the deferred revenue balance

i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents mclude cash and highly liquid investments with original dates to maturity of 90 days or less 

j') Loans and Other Receivables

Loans and other receivables are valued at cost Recoverability is reviewed annually and a valuation allowance is recorded when 
recoverability is impaired A loan receivable is written off when it is no longer recoverable Recoveries of loans receivable previously 
written off are recognized in the year received. Interest revenue is recognized as it is earned

k) Land held for resale

Land held for resale is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value Cost includes amounts for improvements to prepare the 
land for sale or servicing

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31,2018

(All dollar amounts are in $000)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31,2018 
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

1. Significant Accounting Policies

l) Investments

Investments consist of bonds and debentures with original dates to maturity of 91 days or longer and are recorded at amortized cost 
Discounts and premiums arising on the purchase of these investments are amortized over the term of the mvestments When there has 

been a loss of value that is other than a temporary decline m value, the respective investment is written down to recognize the loss in 
the consolidated statement of operations

m) Employee future benefits

(l) The City provides certain employee benefits which will require funding m future periods. These benefits include sick leave, 
benefits under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (“WSIB”) Act, and life insurance, extended health and dental benefits for 
early retirees

The costs of sick leave, benefits under WSIB Act and life insurance, extended health and dental benefits are actuarially determined 
using management’ s best estimate of salary escalation, accumulated sick days at retirement, insurance and health care cost trends, long­
term inflation rates and discounted rates

For self-insured retirement and other employee future benefits that vest or accumulate over the periods of service provided by 
employees, such as retirement gratuities, compensated absences and health, dental and life insurance benefits for retirees, the cost is 
actuarially determined usmg the projected benefits method prorated on service Under this method, the benefit costs are recognized 
over the expected average service life of the employee group Any actuarial gams and losses related to the past service of employees 
are amortized over the expected average remammg service life of the employee group.

For those self-msured benefit obligations that arise from specific events that occur from time to tune, such as obligations for workers’  

compensation and life insurance and health care benefits for those on disability leave, the cost is recognized immediately in the period 
when the events occur Any actuarial gains or losses that are related to these benefits are recognized immediately in the period they 
arise

(li) The costs of a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan, such as the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System 
(“OMERS”) pensions which is accounted for as a defined contribution plan, are the employer’ s defined contributions to the plan in the 
period

n) Loan guarantees:

Provisions for liabilities arising under the terms of a loan guarantee program are made when it is likely that a payment will be made 
and an amount can be estimated

o) Contaminated sites

Contaminated sites are defined as the result of contamination bemg introduced that exceeds an environmental standard A liability for 
remediation of contaminated sites is recognized, net of any expected recoveries, when all of the following criteria are met-

(i) an environmental standard exists

(u) contamination exceeds the environmental standard

(iii) the organization is directly responsible or accepts responsibility for the liability

(iv ) future economic benefits will be given up, and

(v) a reasonable estimate of the liability can be made

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga
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1. Significant Accounting Policies

p) Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use m the provision of services They are not 

intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations

(l) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly attributed to acquisition, construction, 
development or betterment of the asset The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excludmg land, are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31,2018

(All dollar amounts are in $000)

Asset

Land
Land improvements 

Buildings
Equipment, books and other 

Linear - storm drainage 
Linear - transportation 

Vehicles

Useful Life - Years

Unlimited 
15-20 
40-50 
5-40 

25 -100 
15-100 
10-20

Annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and m the year of disposal Assets under construction are not amortized until 
the asset is available for productive use

(li) Contributions of tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded as revenue at their fair market value at the date of receipt 

(m) Works of art and cultural and historic assets

Works of art and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as assets m these consolidated financial statements

(iv ) Leased tangible capital assets

Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks mcidental to ownership of property are accounted for as leased tangible 
capital assets All other leases are accounted for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses as incurred

(v) Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and replacement cost,

q) Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statement, 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period Significant estimates and assumptions include allowance for 
doubtful accounts for certain accounts receivable, carrying value of tangible capital assets, provisions for accrued liabilities and 

obligations related to employee future benefits.

Actual results could differ from these estimates
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1. Significant Accounting Policies

r) Adoption of budgets

The 2018 operating and capital budgets, as approved by Council, were adopted by the City at the November 22, 2017 meeting.

s) Adoption of new accounting policies

The City has adopted the following PSAB Standards effective January 1,2018'

i) Assets (PS 3210)

PS 3210 provides additional guidance on the definition of assets and what is meant by economic resources, control, past transactions 
and events and from which future economic benefits are to be obtamed.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, all material assets have been disclosed and reported within this definition.

ii) Contmgent Assets (PS 3320)

PS 3320 introduces a definition for possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations involving uncertainty which will be 
ultimately resolved when one or more future events occur that are not wholly within the government’ s control Disclosure of a 
contmgent asset is required under this standard when the occurrence of a confirming future event is likely.

Government funding established through an agreement and not yet received at December 31, 2018 are mcluded m receivables and do 

not fall withm this standard

lii) Contractual Rights (PS 3380)

PS 3380 requires disclosure of information pertaining to future rights to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that 
will result in both an asset and revenue in the future. Note 20 provides disclosure regarding the nature, extent and timing of contractual 

rights

iv ) Related Party Disclosures (PS 2200)

A related party exists when one party has the ability to exercise control or shared control over the other. Related parties include key 

management personnel, their close family members and the entities they control or have shared control over. Related party transactions 
are disclosed if they occurred at a value different from that which would have been arrived at if parties were unrelated and the 
transaction has a material effect on the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018, there are no such related party transactions to disclose. The City has a number of Corporate 
controls, guidelines and policies to mitigate risk that related party transactions are not identified or non-compliant, including policies 

covering conflicts of interest, use of City resources, and standard of behaviour

v) Inter-Entity Transactions (PS 3420)

PS 3420 provides guidance on how to account for and report transactions between public sector entities that comprise a government's 
reporting entity from both a provider and recipient perspective The main features of this new standard deal with the measurement of 

these transactions

All City transactions are recorded at the exchange amount, being the amount agreed to by both parties. For the year ended December 

31, 2018, there were no material mter-entity transactions to disclose

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

(All dollar amounts are in $000)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

1. Significant Accounting Policies

t) Future accounting pronouncements

These standards and amendments were not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2018, and have therefore not been applied m 

preparing these consolidated financial statements Management is currently assessing the impact of the following accounting standards 
updates on the future consolidated financial statements

(l) PS 3430, Restructuring Transactions, requires that assets and liabilities m restructuring transactions be measured at their 
carrying amount It also prescribes financial statement presentation and disclosure requirements This standard is effective for fiscal 
periods beginning on or after Apnl 1, 2018 (the City's December 31, 2019 year-end)

(u) PS 1201, Financial Statement Presentation, was issued in June, 2011 This standard requires entities to present anew statement 
of remeasurement gams and losses separate from the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus This new 
statement mcludes unrealized gams and losses arising from remeasurement of financial instruments and items denominated m foreign 

currencies and any other comprehensive income that arises when a government mcludes the results of government business enterprises 
and partnerships This section is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2019 and applies when PS 3450, Financial 
Instruments, and PS 2601, Foreign Currency Translation, are adopted (the City's December 31, 2020 year-end)

(h i) PS 3450, Financial Instruments, establishes the standards on accounting for and reporting all types of financial instruments 
mcludmg derivatives. The effective date of this standard has been deferred and is now effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after 
April 1, 2021 (the City's December 31, 2022 year-end).

(iv ) PS 2601, Foreign Currency Translation, establishes the standards on accounting for and reporting transactions that are 

denominated m a foreign currency The effective date of this standard has been deferred and is now effective for fiscal periods 
beginning on or after April 1, 2021 (the City's December 31, 2022 year-end) Earlier adoption is permitted A public sector entity 
adoptmg this standard must also adopt the new financial instruments standard

2. Taxes Receivable and Accounts Receivable

Taxes receivable are reported net of valuation allowances of $170 (2017 $796) Accounts receivable are reported net of a valuation 
allowance of $3,544 (2017 $425)

3. Investments

Investments reported on the consolidated statement of financial position have cost and market values as follows

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

2018

Cost

$

Market
Value

$

2017

Cost

$

Market
Value

$
Bank deposit notes and finance paper 186,031 185,949 64,886 64,179
Government and government guaranteed bonds 708,731 720,271 673,729 694,634
Municipal bonds 125,379 127,272 133,752 139,847

Total 1,020,141 1,033,492 872,367 898,660
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

4. Investment in Enersource Corporation

The City has a 90 per cent interest m Enersource Corporation which is accounted foi on the modified equity basis in these consolidated 

financial statements. Through its wholly owned subsidiary, Enersource Holdmgs Inc ("Enersource Holdings"), Enersource 
Corporation was the electrical distribution utility for the City's residents and businesses until January 31, 2017 Other activities of 
Enersource Corporation's subsidiaries included the provision of energy services, billing services, street lighting services, retrofit multi- 

residential buildings to metered units and utility related construction

On January 31, 2017, as part of a series of unrelated transactions, Enersource Corporation (the "Corporation" or "Enersource") 

disposed of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Enersource Holdmgs On the same date, Enersource Holdings amalgamated with 
PowerStream Holdmgs Inc ("PowerStream") and Horizon Holdings Inc ("Horizon") to form Alectra Inc ("Alectra") Alectra's 
primary businesses are to distribute electricity to customers in municipalities m the greater golden horseshoe area as well as provide 
non-regulated energy services In consideration for its disposition of Enersource Holdings, the Corporation received a 31% ownership 

interest m Alectra's issued and outstanding common shares

As a result of the Alectra formation on January 31, 2017, the Corporation derecognized its investment in Enersource Holdings at cost 
and recognized its initial 31% equity interest in Alectra at fair value resulting m a gain on disposition of $225,260 recorded in the 

Enersource Statement of Comprehensive Income in 2017

Enersource’ s consolidated financial statements are prepared m accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

The following table provides condensed financial information for Enersource Corporation for its 2018 fiscal year, together with 

comparative figures for 2017
2018 2017

Financial Position: $ $

Assets:
Current 4,378 3,634

Investment m Alectra Inc. 609,060 593,079

Other 405 422

Total Assets 613,843 597,135

Liabilities:
Current 39 83

Non-current liabilities 55,625 58,125

Total Liabilities 55,664 58,208

Shareholders' Equity:
Share capital 175,691 175,691

Accumulated other comprehensive mcome/(loss) (1,672) (3,532)

Retained earnings 384,160 366,768

Total Shareholders' Equity 558,179 538,927

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 613,843 597,135

Results of Operations and Non-Operations:

Revenues 35,177 108,513

Expenses (includmg income tax provision) 1,546 92,742

Net Income 33,631 15,771

City's Share of Net Income in Enersource Corporation 30,268 14,194

City's Share of Equity in Gain on Exchange of Investment in Enersource Holdings - 202,734

During the year, the City received a dividend of $12,941 (2017 $12,906) declared by Enersource Corporation.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

(All dollar amounts are in $000)

4. Investment in Enersource Corporation

The City’ s investment in Enersource Corporation is reflected m the following table for its 2018 fiscal year together with comparative 

figures for 2017

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

2018 2017

Investment in Enersource Corporation$$

Openmg Balance, Beginning of Year 485,034 281,012
City's Share of Net Income m Enersource Corporation 30,268 14,194

City's Share of Equity in Gam on Exchange of Investment m Enersource Holdmgs - 202,734
City's Share of Dividend(12,941)(12,906)

Closing Balance, End of Year502,361485,034

5. Deferred Revenue - Obligatory Reserve Funds

Revenues received that have been set aside for specific purposes by Provmcial legislation, 
mcluded m deferred revenue and reported on the consolidated statement of financial position 

follows

Development charges
CIL Parkland

CIL Parking
Bonus zonmg
Provmcial public transit funds
Federal public transit funds
Provincial gasoline tax
Federal gasoline tax

certain City by-laws, or agreements are 
Details of these deferred revenues are as

2018 2017

$ $ 
167,117 138,424
103,974 70,982

6,692 5,945
2,239 1,540

17,495 12,269
2,302 1,985

17,053 14,378
89,352 88,729

Total Deferred Revenue - Obligatory Reserve Funds 406,224 334,252

Deferred Revenue - Obligatory Reserve Funds Continuity Schedule

Source

Receipts and

Opening Interest Recognized as
Balance Applied Revenue

$ $ $

Closing
Balance

$

Development charges 138,424 76,336 47,643 167,117

CIL Parkland 70,982 41,126 8,134 103,974

CIL Parking 5,945 1,653 906 6,692

Bonus zonmg 1,540 1,359 660 2,239

Provmcial public transit funds 12,269 5,226 - 17,495

Federal public transit funds 1,985 537 220 2,302

Provincial gasolme tax 14,378 19,335 16,660 17,053

Federal gasolme tax 88,729 51,113 50,490 89,352

Total 334,252 196,685 124,713 406,224
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6. Employee Benefits and Other Liabilities

Employee benefits and other liabilities, reported on the consolidated statement of financial position, are made up of the following

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

(All dollar amounts are in $000)

2018

$

2017

$

WSIB 28,630 26,406

Sick leave benefits 14,414 13,614

Early retirement benefits 39,488 38,640

Post-employment benefits 9,279 10,313

Vacation pay 24,989 24,667

Developer charge credits 57,682 60,383

Contaminated sites liability 606 600

Other liabilities 34,562 34,608

Total 209,650 209,231

The City has established reserve funds of $136,210 (2017 $135,841) to mitigate the future impact of these obligations

a) WSEB The City has elected to be a Schedule 2 employer under the provisions of WSIB, and as such, remits payments to the WSIB 
only as required to fund disability payments A full actuarial study of this obligation was completed m December 2016, in accordance 

with the financial reporting guidelines established by PSAB.

b) Sick leave benefits accrue to certain employees of the City and are paid out either on approved retirement, or upon termination or 
death. The accrued benefit obligation and the net periodic benefit cost were determined by an actuarial valuation completed in 
December 2016, in accordance with the financial reporting guidelines established by PSAB

c) Early retirement benefits are representative of the City’ s share of the cost to provide certain employees with extended benefits upon 
early retirement The accrued benefit obligation and the net periodic benefit cost were determined by an actuarial valuation completed 

in December 2016, in accordance with the financial reporting guidelines established by PSAB

d) Post-employment benefits are paid on behalf of any employee on long-term disability The accrued benefit obligation and the net 
periodic cost were determined by an actuarial valuation completed in December 2016, m accordance with the financial reporting 

guidelines established by PSAB

Information about liabilities for defined benefit plans is as follows.

Sick Early Post 2018 2017
WSIB Leave Retirement Employment Total Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Accrued Benefit Liability, Beginning of Year 26,406 13,614 38,640 10,313 88,973 85,104

Service cost 3,402 1,493 1,633 255 6,783 7,482

Interest cost 1,353 825 1,416 208 3,802 3,718

Amortization of actuarial (gain)/loss 1,084 1,115 (357) (555) 1,287 962

Benefit payments (3,615) (2,633) (1,844) (942) (9,034) (8,293)

Accrued Benefit Liability, End of Year 28,630 14,414 39,488 9,279 91,811 88,973

Unamortized actuarial (gain)/loss 8,695 6,467 (2,771) (3,449) 8,942 10,230

Actuarial valuation update, end of year 37,325 20,881 36,717 5,830 100,753 99,203

Expected average remaining service life lOyrs 12 yrs 12 yrs

l£0
0 n/a n/a
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

(All dollar amounts are in $000)

6. Employee Benefits and Other Liabilities

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

The actuarial valuations of the plans were based upon a number of assumptions about future events, which reflect management’ s best 
estimates The following represents the more significant assumptions made

WSIB
Sick

Leave

Early

Retirement

Post
Employment - 

Health and 
Dental

Post
Employment - 

Life 

Insurance

Expected inflation rate 1 75% 1 75% 1 75% 1.75% 1 75%

Expected level of salary mcreases n/a 2.75% 2 75% 2 75% 2 75%

Interest discount rate 4 00% 4 00% 4 00% 3.50% 3 50%

Expected health care mcreases 4 75% n/a 4 75% 4 75% n/a

e) Other pension plans-

The City makes contributions to OMERS, a multi-employer plan, on behalf of 4,792 employees The plan is a defined benefit plan 
which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees based on the length of service and rates of pay

Contributions for employees with a normal retirement age of 65 are being made at a rate of 9 0 per cent for earnings up to the annual 
maximum pensionable earnings of $55,900 and at a rate of 14 6 per cent for earnings greater than the annual maximum pensionable 

earnings

Contributions for employees with a normal retirement age of 60 (firefighters) are bemg made at a rate of 9 2 per cent up to the annual 
maximum pensionable earnings of $55,900 at a rate of 15 8 per cent for earnings greater than the annual maximum pensionable 

earnings

The amount contributed to OMERS for 2018 was $41,328 (2017 $37,770) for current service and is included as an expense on the 
consolidated statement of operations Employees’ contributions to OMERS m 2018 totalled $41,331 (2017 $37,894)

The City is current with all payments to OMERS, therefore, there is neither a surplus nor deficit with the pension plan contributions 
However, at OMERS, the pension plan’ s funding deficit m 2018 dropped to $4 2 billion (2017 $5 4 billion) OMERS expects that 
investment returns as well as benefit reductions should return the plan to surplus by 2025

OMERS has held contributions for both employees and employers at the 2016 rates for 2018 for employees with a normal retirement 
age of 65 and for employees and employers with a normal retirement age of 60 (firefighters) If actuarial surpluses are not available to 
offset the existing deficit and subsidize future contributions, additional mcreases in the contributions may be required

f) Developer charge credits are liabilities and obligations that arise through the Development Charges Act For the year ended 

December 31, 2018, the developer charge credit liability is $57,682 (2017 $60,383)

7. Long-term Debt

The long-term debt reported on the consolidated statement of financial position of $181,491 was issued by the Region. Of the debt 

issued m 2013, $22,400 is outstanding, of the debt issued m 2014, $20,321 is outstanding, of the debt issued m 2015, $28,000 is 
outstanding, of the debt issued in 2016, $30,000 is outstanding, of the debt issued m 2017, $34,500 is outstanding, all of the debt 
issued m 2018, $46,270 is outstanding as at December 31, 2018

Principal payments on the 2013 debt are payable on June 20th annually, principal payments on the 2014 debt are payable on June 10th, 

principal payments on the 2015 debt are payable on August 20th, prmcipal payments on the 2016 debt are payable on June 1st, 
principal payments on the 2017 debt are payable on September 28th, and prmcipal payments on the 2018 debt are payable on March 

27th
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

(All dollar amounts are in $000)

7. Long-term Debt

Serial debenture debt has been approved by Council by-law The annual principal and mterest payments required to service this 
liability are withm the annual debt repayment limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing Coupon rates range 

from 1 30 to 3 30 per cent

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Principal payments are repayable annually as follows.
Total

$

2019 24,448

2020 24,109

2021 24,612

2022 25,427

2023 23,255

Thereafter 59,640

Total 181,491

Interest expense and fees of $4,467 (2017 $3,015) are reported in the consolidated statement of operations

8. Tangible Capital Assets

a) Assets under construction

Assets under construction having a value of $182,674 (2017 $174,075) have not been amortized Amortization of these assets will 

commence when the asset is put into service

b) Contributed tangible capital assets.

Contributed tangible capital assets have been recognized at fair market value at the date of contribution The value of contributed 
assets received during the year is $49,581 (2017 $11,732) compnsmg infrastructure m the amount of $1,629 (2017 $167) and land in 

the amount of $47,952 (2017 $11,565)

c) Works of art and historical treasures-

The City owns both works of art and historical treasures at various City-owned facilities such as Benares and Bradley Museums and 
the Mississauga Art Gallery These assets are deemed worthy of preservation because of the social rather than financial benefits they 

provide to the community. These assets are not recorded as tangible capital assets and are not amortized

d) Write-down of tangible capital assets

The write-down of tangible capital assets during the year was $0 (2017 $0).

e) Disposal of tangible capital assets:

The costs of assets under construction are excluded in calculating the loss on disposal of tangible capital assets. The purchase cost of 
$88,864 (2017 $7,372) (land $46,061, buildings $66, land improvements $754; linear transportation $4, linear storm drainage $0 and 
vehicles $41,979) less the accumulated amortization of $38,870 (2017 $4,828) results in a loss on disposal of $49,994 (2017 $2,544)

f) Interest capitalization

The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or construction of a tangible capital asset relating to certain 

projects Rather, the mterest costs are expensed within normal operations
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31,2018 
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

8. Tangible Capital Assets

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

2018 Tangible Capital Assets

Cost December 31, 2017 Additions Disposals December 31,2018

$ $ $ $

Land 5,168,192 50,948 46,061 5,173,079

Land improvements 198,432 9,851 754 207,529

Buildings 1,097,268 25,459 66 1,122,661

Equipment, books and other 270,853 31,552 - 302,405

Linear - storm drainage 848,675 14,593 - 863,268

Linear - transportation 2,100,608 59,054 4 2,159,658

Vehicles 291,087 57,574 41,979 306,682

Assets under construction 174,075 69,688 61,089 182,674

Total 10,149,190 318,719 149,953 10,317,956

Amortization

Accumulated Amortization December 31,2017 Expense Disposals December 31,2018

$ $ $ $

Land - - - -

Land improvements 100,887 7,765 386 108,266

Buildings 379,065 29,128 37 408,156

Equipment, books and other 175,421 22,080 - 197,501

Linear - storm drainage 237,048 11,224 - 248,272

Linear - transportation 936,426 49,316 - 985,742

Vehicles 206,605 20,955 38,447 189,113

Assets under construction - - - -

Total 2,035,452 140,468 38,870 2,137,050

Net Book Value December 31, 2017 December 31,2018

$ $

Land 5,168,192 5,173,079

Land Improvements 97,545 99,263

Buildings 718,203 714,505

Equipment, books and other 95,432 104,904

Linear - storm drainage 611,627 614,996

Linear - transportation 1,164,182 1,173,916

Vehicles 84,482 117,569

Assets under construction 174,075 182,674

Total 8,113,738 8,180,906
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31,2018 
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

9. Accumulated surplus

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus and reserves and reserve funds as follows
2018

$

2017

$

Surplus:
Invested in Tangible Capital Assets

Invested in tangible capital assets
Business Improvement Area tangible capital assets

8,180,762

144

8,113,545

193

Total Invested in Tangible Capital Assets 8,180,906 8,113,738

Unexpended capital 211,874 228,092

Long-term debt (181,491) (155,895)

Enersource Corporation 502,361 485,034

Unfunded employee benefits (209,650) (209,231)

Total Surplus 8,504,000 8,461,738

Reserves Set Aside by Council:
Fiscal Stability Reserve 46,773 41,542

Operating Reserves 27,059 23,202

Stormwater Reserve 6,684 6,306

BIA Reserves 354 267

Total Reserves 80,870 71,317

Reserve Funds Set Aside for Specific Purposes by Council:

Tax Reserve Funds 174,385 131,333

Stormwater Reserve Funds 44,287 52,498

Lot Levy Reserve Funds 60,672 42,895

Insurance Reserve Funds 39,139 36,431

Employee Benefits Reserve Funds 36,399 35,386

Development Contributions 24,330 20,260

Other Reserve Funds 12,334 3,746

Total Reserve Funds 391,546 322,549

Total Accumulated Surplus 8,976,416 8,855,604
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31,2018 

(All dollar amounts are in $000)

10. Taxation

Taxation revenues are recorded at the time tax billings are issued Additional property tax revenue can be added throughout the year, 
related to new properties that become occupied or that become subject to property tax, after the return of the annual assessment roll 
used for billing purposes The City may receive supplementary assessment rolls over the course of the year from MPAC, identifying 
new or omitted assessments Property taxes for these supplementary and/or omitted amounts are then billed accordmg to the approved 

tax rate for the property class Taxation revenue, reported on the consolidated statement of operations, is made up of the following

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

2018 2017

$$

Municipal, region and school property taxes 1,677,554 1,624,089
Payments in lieu of property taxes 33,355 31,627

Total Property Taxes Collected 1,710,909 1,655,716

Payments to Region and school boards (1,185,127) (1,155,567)

Net Property Taxes and Payments in Lieu Available for Municipal Purposes 525,782 500,149

11. Trust funds

Trust funds administered by the City amounting to $900 (2017 $820) have not been included in the consolidated statement of financial 
position nor have then operations been mcluded m the consolidated statement of operations Trust funds comprises perpetual care 
(cemeteries) of $900 (2017 $820) and election trust funds of $0 (2017 $0)

12. Contingent liabilities & guarantee

a) As at December 31, 2018, the City has been named as defendant or co-defendant in a number of outstanding legal actions. No 
provision has been made for any claims that are expected to be covered by insurance or where the consequences are undeterminable 
Where the claims are not expected to be covered by insurance and where management has assessed the likelihood of exposure as bemg 
likely and is able to reasonably assess the exposure, an amount is provided for m these consolidated financial statements

b) On February 1, 2017, through a series of transactions, Enersource Corporation became owner of 31% of Alectra, an entity created 
through the merger of certain hydro holding companies The transactions mcluded Enersource Corporation exchanging all of its 
ownership m its operatmg companies for this ownership in the newly created merged entity of Alectra Included in these transactions 
and as of the same date, the City entered mto an arrangement to provide $70M of loan guarantees to Enersource Corporation The 
secured bank loan balance as at December 31, 2018 is $55,625 (2017 $58,125)

13. Segmented information

Segmented information has been identified based upon lmes of service provided by the City City services are provided by 
departments and their activities are reported by functional areas m the Consolidated Statement of Operations Certain lines of service 
that have been separately disclosed m the segmented information, along with the services they provide, are as follows

a) General Government Services

The General Government Services segment comprises the following service areas Mayor and Council, City Manager’ s Office, 
Internal Audit, Economic Development, Strategic Initiatives, Office of the City Clerk, Finance, Information Technology, Facilities and 
Property Management, Revenue, Materiel Management, Legal, Customer Service, and Communications These divisions are 

responsible for by-laws and administrative policies, levying taxes, acquiring and managing City assets, ensuring effective financial 
management, planning and budgeting, monitoring financial and operating performance, and ensurmg that high quality City service 
standards are met
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13. Segmented information

b) Protection Services:

The Protection Services segment comprises the following service areas' Fire Services mcludmg fire suppression, fire prevention 
programs, and fire inspection, By-law Enforcement, Animal Control, Vehicle and Business Licensing, Security, and Provincial 

Offences.

c) Transportation Services.

The Transportation Services segment comprises the following service areas- Roadway Services mcludmg road maintenance, public 
works, street cleaning, traffic operations, planning, engmeenng and development, Winter Control, Transit, and Street lighting

d) Environmental Services'

The Environmental Services segment comprises primarily Storm Sewer Services The City provides stormwater management to ensure 
the overall health and maintenance of creeks, rivers, and water channels m Mississauga Water and Sanitary Sewer services are 

provided by the Region

e) Health Services.

The Health Services segment comprises primarily cemetery maintenance and management.

f) Social and Family Services

The Social and Family Services segment comprises primarily assistance to aged persons Social and Family Services are handled 
directly by the Region of Peel However, the City does offer limited programs and services to support and aid seniors m Mississauga

g) Recreation and Cultural Services

The Recreation and Cultural Services segment comprises the following service areas Parks and Forestry, Recreation Programs, 

Recreation Facilities, Mannas and Golf Courses, Libraries, Museums and Other Cultural Services and Activities

h) Planning and Development Services

The Planning and Development Services segment comprises the following service areas' Planning and Zoning, Commercial and 
Industrial Developments, and Policy Planning The Planning and Development Services manages urban development for business 
mterests, environmental concerns, heritage matters, local neighbourhoods and the downtown area through City planning and 

community development

The segmented information was provided in accordance with the financial reporting guidelmes established by the PSAB (section 

PS2700) For additional information, see the Consolidated Schedule of Segment Disclosure.

Certain allocation methodologies are employed in the preparation of segmented financial information. User charges and other revenue 
have been allocated to the segments based upon the segment that generated the revenue Government transfers have been allocated to 
the segment based upon the purpose for which the transfer was made. Development charges earned and developer contributions 

received were allocated to the segment for which the charge was collected

The accounting policies used m these segments are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements as disclosed in Note 1

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31,2018

(All dollar amounts are in $000)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

13. Segmented information

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

2018

General Social and Recreation Planning and

Government

Services

S

Protection

Services

$

Transportation

Services

$

Environmental

Services

S

Health

Services

$

Family
Services

$

and Cultural 

Services 

$

Development
Services

S

Other

$

2018
Total

$

2017

Total

$

Revenues*
Taxation 524,418 1,364 525,782 500,149

Municipal Accommodation Tax 8,990 - - - - - - - - 8,990 -

User charges 8,662 31,053 114,550 41,816 232 171 56,092 5,639 - 258,215 249,043

Recoveries from third parties 214 337 7,882 7 - - 111 157 - 9,324 8,990

Funding transfers from other 

governments 2,353 10 20,943 6,263 3 52 5,114 226 _ 34,964 42,927

Development and other 

contributions applied . 73,265 73,265 90,547

Investment income 14,471 - - - 25 - 19 - 20,790 35,305 37,628

Penalties and interest on taxes 9,805 - - - - - - - - 9,805 9,133

Contributed assets - - . - - - - - 49,581 49,581 , 11,732

Other 5,007 104 510 123 - 34 768 - 13,612 20,158 6,099

Equity m Enersource Corporation - - - - - - - - 30,268 30,268 216,928

Total Revenues 573,920 31,504 143,885 48,209 260 257 62,720 7,386 187,516 1,055,657 1,173,176

Expenses:

Salaries, wages and employee 

benefits 107,222 121,221 171,438 5,436 446 302 91,754 15,901 513,720 491,101

Long-term debt interest 4,345 - - 122 - - - - - 4,467 3,015

Materials and supplies 6,215 3,546 39,557 335 69 35 13,985 871 - 64,613 60,231

Contracted services 31,081 1,110 35,014 2,550 35 4 8,746 2,950 - 81,490 78,141

Rents and financial expenses 29,044 3,308 15,827 3,329 7 4 20,662 718 - 72,899 70,085

External transfers to others 888 - - - - 19 3,543 2,744 - 7,194 6,814

Loss on disposal of tangible capital 

assets 49,994 49,994 2,544

Amortization 17,456 4,024 75,694 11,226 - 284 31,562 222 - 140,468 133,942

Total Expenses 196,251 133,209 337,530 22,998 557 648 170,252 23,406 49,994 934,845 845,873

Annual Surplus (Deficit) 377,669 (101,705) (193,645) 25,211 (297)
__________ Q21L (107,532) (16,020) 137,522 120,812 327,303
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The Corporatiou of the City of Mississauga

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31,2018 
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

14. Segmented Information by Service Area

Segmented information by Service Area has been identified based upon lmes of service provided by the City as presented m the City 

Budget Document City services are provided by departments and their activities are reported by service areas These services are not 
presented m the Consolidated Statement of Operations Rather, they are reported as an additional note to relate back to the Budget 
book presentation Certain lines of service that have been separately disclosed m the segmented information, along with the services 
(hey provide, are as follows'

a) Business Services:

Business Services includes five interrelated teams within the City These teams all collaborate with and support every City service area. 

The group consists of Human Resources (HR), Finance, Communications, Corporate Performance and Innovation (CPI), and Revenue 
and Materiel Management

b) Culture Services:

Culture works collaboratively with a wide variety of partners to build strong cultural institutions, complete communities and stimulate 
a creative economy. The Culture Division has two sections Culture and Heritage Planning and Culture Operations Culture and 
Heritage Planning is responsible for heritage planning, culture planning, public art, policy development, research and digital 
engagement Culture Operations delivers performing arts, film and television services, arts and culture programs, grants, civic and 
major events, manages operations of the Meadowvale Theatre, museums, and Mississauga Celebration Square (Celebration Square).

c) City Manager’ s Office

The City Manager’ s Office (CMO) co-ordinates efforts across all five City departments to ensure alignment with all of the City’ s key 
plans, including the Strategic Plan, the City Business Plan, the Economic Development Strategy and Corporate Policies Internal Audit, 
Legal Services and Economic Development are part of the CMO

d) Environmental Services

The Environment Division drives environmental sustainability in Mississauga by providing environmental strategic planning to 
develop plans, policies and programs that advance the City’ s environmental priorities; providmg a framework for the City of 
Mississauga and the community to take action on climate change, providing an efficient waste program for City facilities, and, 
providing awareness and education for residents and City staff to take environmental action

e) Facilities and Property Management

Facilities & Property Management provides expertise in property, asset and project management to mamtam the City’ s infrastructure 
and support the safety and security of the public and City staff The service provides facilities maintenance, building services and 
operations, facilities development and accessibility, capital planning and asset management, security services, realty services, and 
energy management

f) Financial Transactions

The Financial Transactions area includes such items as bank and external audit charges; miscellaneous revenues and expenses such as 

discounts earned, risk management and insurance expenses; worker’ s compensation and rehabilitation; transfers; payments in lieu of 
property taxes from other levels of government, and special purpose levies
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

14. Segmented Information by Service Area

g) Fire and Emergency Services

Fire and Emergency Services’ mission is to protect life, property and the environment m Mississauga from all perils guided by the 

three lines of defense public education, prevention and emergency response

h) Information Technology Services

The Information Technology (IT) Service Area focuses on technology planning, service delivery, support, and operations to enable 

City services and drive efficiencies

l) Land Development Services

The mission of Land Development Services is to provide strategic long term planning within a legislated planning policy framework 
This mvolves the creation of policies, plans, processmg development applications and building permits and undertaking building 

mspections to ensure the health, safety and well-being of the public while ensuring high quality customer service.

j) Legislative Services

The purpose of Legislative Services is to meet customers’ diverse service needs by providing statutory and legislated service to the 
public, Council and other internal and external customers through a variety of service channels Examples of the kind of work done by 
this service mclude Access and Privacy, Administrative Penalty System (APS) Dispute/Review, Council and Committee support, 

Provmcial Offences Court Administration, and municipal elections

k) Library Services

The Mississauga Library exists to provide library services to meet the life-long informational, educational, cultural and recreational 
needs of all citizens The Library’ s 18 facilities provide physical spaces where the Library’ s services, programs and collections can be 
used and accessed The Library also has a homebound service, and many online services and resources

l) Mayor and Members of Council

The Council Budget mcludes the Mayor’ s Office and Council This includes the 12 elected officials (Mayor and 11 ward councillors) 
and their support staff In Ontario, elections take place every four years The next election year is 2022

m) Parks and Forestry

The Parks & Forestry Service provides an mtegrated approach to the planning, design, construction and ongoing maintenance of 
Mississauga’ s parks, woodlands, natural areas, boulevards, street trees and open space system Services are delivered by a 
multidisciplinary team working co-operatively to meet the open space, outdoor recreational, urban forest and environmental needs of 

the community.

n) Recreation Services

Recreation’ s primary service is the delivery of various recreation programs Recreation has 11 major community centres and 12 mmor 

centres, 13 arenas representmg 25 ice pads, 11 mdoor pools (two shared with local school board), seven outdoor pools, 229 soccer 
fields and 125 baseball diamonds In July 2018, the City took over control of Hershey Centre operations, now called the Paramount 

Fine Food Centre

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga
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14. Segmented Information by Service Area

o) Regulatory Services

Regulatory Services achieve compliance with municipal by-laws and provide services in a safe and professional manner to maintain 
order, safety and community standards m the City.

p) Road Services

Roads Services is within the Transportation and Works department. The services of this area are delivered by the following three 
divisions Transportation and Infrastructure Planning, Engineering and Construction, and Works Operations and Maintenance These 

areas are responsible for the planning, design, construction, operation, maintenance and overall management of Mississauga’ s 
roadways, bridges, sidewalks and related infrastructure. Additional infrastructure that is managed as part of this service area includes 
traffic signals, street lighting, municipal parking, noise barriers, the cyclmg network and the City’ s fleet of vehicles (with the exception 
of transit and fire vehicles).

q) Stormwater Service.

The Stormwater Service Area plans, develops, constructs, maintains and renews a stormwater system which protects property, 
infrastructure and the natural environment from erosion and flooding and enhances water quality.

r) Transit Services:

Mississauga’ s transit service, MiWay, exists to provide a customer-focused transit service that offers safe, accessible, and efficient 
transportation options for all citizens.

s) Other:

Other represents all other non-budgeted financial transactions which includes asset amortization, BIA consolidation, PSAB actuarial 
liability adjustments, Reserve Fund interest, development contributions applied, Enersource income, capital project revenues, and non­
capitalized capital project expenses

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31,2018

(All dollar amounts are in $000)
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14. Segmented Information by Service Area

t) Revenues by Service Area

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31,2018

(AH dollar amounts are in $000)

Property 

Tax and 

MAT*

$

User

charges

S

Recoveries 

from third 

parties 

$

Funding 

transfers 

from other 
governments

S

Development 

and other 

contributions 

applied 

$

Investment

income

$

Penalties

and

interest

on taxes 

$

Contributed

assets

$

Other

$

Equity in 

Enersource 

Corporation 

$

2018

Total

$

2018 

Budget **

$

2017

Total

$
Business Services - 2,410 - - - - 97 _ (3) - 2,504 2,469 2,426
City Manager's Office - 1,199 - 224 - - - - 13 - 1,436 1,257 603
Culture - 2,157 157 161 - - - - 235 - 2,710 2,009 2,214
Environment - 16 - 35 - - . - 2 - 53 - 6
Facilities & Property Mgmt - 704 - - - - - - 334 - 1,038 660 926
Financial Transactions 534,772 6 - - - 14,465 9,708 49,581 14,857 - 623,389 552,035 538,723
Fire & Emergency Services - 2,215 171 - - - - - 67 - 2,453 1,952 2,076
Information Technology - 895 - - - - - - - - 895 812 737
Legislative Services - 10,158 - - - - - - 8 - 10,166 10,263 12,880
Mississauga Library - 1,214 - 858 - 1 - - 1 - 2,074 1,949 2,147
Land Development Services - 19,521 10 - - - - - - - 19,531 12,836 16,944
MiWay - 91,343 1,717 - - - - - 100 - 93,160 89,482 89,529
Parks & Forestry - 5,385 129 48 - 25 - - 9 - 5,596 4,524 5,159
Recreation - 49,055 - 1,458 - 25 - - 584 - 51,122 48,462 49,569
Regulatory Services - 15,494 - - - - - - 36 - 15,530 15,234 15,127
Roads - 11,581 5,155 7 - - - - (120) - 16,623 13,535 15,624
Stormwater - 41,726 7 - - - - - 123 - 41,856 40,215 40,625
Other - 3,136 1,978 32,173 73,265 20,789 - - 3,912 30,268 165,521 ' 14,380 377,861

534,772 258,215 9,324 34,964 73,265 35,305 9,805 49,581 20,158 30,268 1,055,657 812,074 1,173,176

* Municipal Accommodation Tax (MAT)

** The Service Area budget excludes the budgets for transfers between funds because they are eliminated m the financial statement consolidation
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14. Segmented Information by Service Area

u) Expenses by Service Area

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31,2018

(AH dollar amounts are in $000)

Business Services

City Manager's Office
Mayor & Members Of Council

Culture

Environment

Facilities & Property Management 

Financial Transactions 

Fire & Emergency Services 

Information Technology 
Legislative Services 
Mississauga Library 
Land Development Services 

MiWay

Parks & Forestry

Recreation

Regulatory Services
Roads

Stormwater
Other

Salaries, 

wages and 

employee 
benefits 

$

Long-term
debt

interest

$

Materials
and

supplies

$

Contracted

services

$

Rents and 

financial 
expenses 

$

External 

transfers 

to others 

$

29,228 556 1,350 1,616 -

10,029 _ 154 2,095 501 1,175

4,065 _ 361 1 2S2 “

5,298 668 427 1,087 2,719

1,108 _ 12 37 166 83

14,612 _ 499 2,025 6,293 -

10,579 4,345 299 619 11,562 2,393

102,904 _ 2,830 118 2,033

22,365 _ 137 57 7,869 -

7,009 _ 823 1,811 (509) -

21,587 - 4,388 39 2,104 -

19,637 - 328 236 504 “

139,839 _ 33,824 1,447 9,021 -

24,650 - 5,809 4,505 3,212

50,673 _ 4,117 6,467 14,526 824

13,113 . 845 1,278 310

30,063 - 5,318 31,951 7,536

4,690 122 400 2,997 3,322

2,271 - 3,245 24,030 1,494 -

513,720 4,467 64.6X3 81,490 72,899 7,194

Loss on 
disposal of

tangible
capital

assets

S

Amortization

S

2018

Total

$

2018 

Budget *
$

2017

Total

$

_ _ 32,750 33,099 31,467

_ _ 13,954 13,459 14,244

_ 4,679 5,063 4,700

_ _ 10,199 10,064 9,616

1,406 1,284 1,175

_ 23,429 23,910 22,119

49,994 _ 79,791 38,236 34,636

_ 107,885 107,004 100,546

30,428 30,123 25,820

9,134 11,049 7,714

_ _ 28,118 28,897 27,262

_ 20,705 21,766 20,410

_ _ 184,131 183,459 171,388

_ 38,176 38,152 36,078

_ 76,607 75,319 72,914

_ 15,546 15,488 14,134

_ _ 74,868 74,909 77,283

_ 11,531 9,647 8,707

140,468 171,508 135,138 165,660

49,994 140,468 934,845 856,066 845,873

* The Service Area budget excludes the budgets for transfers between funds because they are eliminated in the financial statement consolidation Also an assigned budget for 

amortization has been included due to the large dollar value.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

(All dollar amounts are in $000)

15. Budget Data

Budget data presented m these consolidated financial statements are based upon the 2018 operatmg and capital budgets as approved by 
Council and adopted by the City on November 22, 2017 Adjustments to budgeted values were required to provide comparative 
budget values based on the full accrual basis of accounting The chart below reconciles the approved budget with the budget figures as 

presented m these consolidated financial statements

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Budget Amount

Revenue $
Approved Operating Budget 859,420

Adjustments:
Assessment mcrease 131

Budget adjustments 7,382

Contributions from reserve funds (57,522)

BIAs 1,806

BIAs contributions from reserve funds (42)

City budgeted levy for BIAs (1,371)

Enersource dividend (12,750)

Adjusted Operating Budget 797,054

Approved Capital Budget 180,211

Adjustments for transfers from reserve funds (132,907)

Adjustments for debt proceeds (46,270)

Adjusted Capital Budget 1,034

Reserve funds mterest and other revenue 13,986

Total Revenue 812,074

Expenses
Approved Operating Budget 859,420

Adjustments:
Assessment mcrease 131

Budget adjustments 7,382

BIA transfers to own (13)

Transfers to own (124,889)

BIA budgeted expenses 1,806

BIA budget on City's books (1,371)

Amortization 135,136

Debt principal repayments, net of debt issuance (21,536)

Adjusted Operating Budget 856,066

Approved Capital Budget 180,211

Adjustments:
Eliminate capital expense budget (180,211)

Adjusted Capital Budget -

Total Expenses 856,066

Annual Deficit (43,992)
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16. Expenses by Object

The consolidated statement of operations represents the expenses by function; the following classifies those same expenses by object.

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31,2018

(All dollar amounts are in $000)

Budget Actual Actual
2018 2018 2017

$ ___________ $$

Salaries, wages and employee benefits 515,412 513,720 491,101

Long-term debt interest and fees 4,573 4,467 3,015

Materials and supplies 58,717 64,613 60,231

Contracted services 56,161 81,490 78,141

Rents and financial expenses 75,213 72,899 70,085

External transfers to others 10,854 7,194 6,814

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - 49,994 2,544

Amortization 135,136 140,468 133,942

Total 856,066 934,845 845,873

17. Provincial Offences Administration

The Mmistiy of the Attorney General m the Province of Ontario requires all municipal partners administering Provincial Offences 
Administration to disclose in the year-end audited financial statements the gross and net provincial offence revenues earned The 

following table provides condensed financial information required by the terms in the Memorandum of Understanding for the City’ s 
2018 fiscal year with comparative figures for 2017

2018 2017

$ $

Revenues
Gross revenues 10,049 11,730

Less refunds 73 140

Net Revenues 9,976 11,590

Expenses
Provmcial charges 747 933

City's operating expenses 3,547 3,560

Total Expenses 4,294 4,493

Net Contribution 5,682 7,097

18. Funding Transfers from Other Governments
2018 2017

$ $

General government services 2,353 1,238

Protection services 10 -

Transportation services 20,943 33,289
Environmental services 6,263 671

Health services 3 5

Social and family services 52 59
Recreation and cultural services 5,114 7,028
Planning and development services 226 637

Total 34,964 42,927
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31,2018 
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

19. Contractual Rights

The City is mvolved with various contracts and agreements arising in the ordinary course of business This results m contractual rights 

to economic resources, leading to both assets and revenue in the future

The City has a number of Federal and Provincial funding agreements with estimated future Finding of $225 5 million (for the period 
2019 to 2023) The City has also entered into a number of third party contracts to provide shared services with estimated future 
recoveries of $23 7 million (for the period 2019 to 2022) Future revenues from incoming lease agreements for City-owned properties 
are approximately $14 6 million (for the period 2019 to 2025)

20. Commitments

The City of Mississauga has entered into various operatmg leases for premises. Anticipated payments under such leases during the 

next five years are approximately as follows

The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

2019 $ 3,525
2020 2,788

2021 2,790

2022 2,421

2023 1,623

Total $ 13,147

21. Subsequent Event

On January 1, 2019, Alectra Inc amalgamated with Guelph Hydro Electric Systems Inc (“GHESI”) Alectra Inc. issued 485,000 Class 
G Common Shares to Guelph Municipal Holdmgs Inc (“GMHI”) m consideration for all the issued and outstanding shares of GHESI 

This common shares issuance by Alectra Inc represents an effective 4 6% interest in its aggregate issued and outstanding classes of 
common shares. The amalgamation is expected to result in more efficient and enhanced service delivery through lower operating costs, 
while providmg significant benefits for communities and shareholders

The new shareholder ownership structure as a result of this merger is as follows Barrie Hydro Holdmgs - 8 4%, Enersource 
Corporation - 29 6%, Hamilton Utilities Corporation - 17 3%, Markham Enterprises Corporation - 15%, St Catharines Hydro Inc - 
4 6%, Vaughan Holdmgs Inc - 20 5% and GMHI - 4 6%

The accounting and valuation for the amalgamation is still being finalized. Consequently, disclosures regarding the amount of the 

purchased assets and liabilities cannot be determined

22. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to the financial presentation adopted m the current year
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Financial Statements 

Year Ended December 31,2018
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KPMG LLP
Vaughan Metropolitan Centre 
100 New Park Place, Suite 1400 
Vaughan ON L4K0J3 
Canada
Tel 905-265-5900 
Fax 905-265-6390

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the trust funds of the Corporation of 
the City of Mississauga (the Entity), which comprise

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018

• the statement of operations for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements")

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the trust funds of the Entity as at December 31, 
2018, and its results of operations for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
"Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of 
our auditors' report

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion

KPMG LLP, is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 

member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative fKPMG International*), a Swiss entity 

KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP

34



Page 2

MB

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial 
reporting process

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit

We also

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control •

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal 
control
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Vaughan, Canada

April 12, 2019
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City of Mississauga - Trust Funds

Statement of Financial Position
as at December 31, 2018 with comparatives for 2017

(All dollar amounts are m $000)

2018 2017

Perpetual
Care

$

Election
Surplus

$

Total

$

Total

$

Financial Assets

Cash 34 - 34 16

Accounts Receivable 4 - 4 3

Due from City of Mississauga (Note 2) 55 - 55 67

Investments (Note 3) 807 - 807 734

Net Financial Assets and Accumulated Surplus 900 * 900 820

The accompanymg notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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City of Mississauga - Trust Funds

Statement of Operations
for the year ended December 31, 2018 with comparatives for 2017
(All dollar amounts are m $000)

2018 2017

Perpetual Care 

$

Election
Surplus

$

Total

$

Total

$

Revenues

Interest 25 25 21

Receipts 80 - 80 89

Total Revenues 105 _ 105 110

Expenses

Cemetery maintenance 25 - 25 21

Total Expenses 25 25 21

Annual surplus 80 _ 80 89

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 820 820 731

Accumulated surplus, end of year 900 _ 900 820

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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City of Mississauga - Trust Funds 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

(All dollar amounts are in $000)

1. Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the City of Mississauga trust funds are prepared by management m accordance with general accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) for local governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the 
Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (CPA Canada) One significant aspect of the accounting policies adopted by the City is 

as follows

a) Basis of Accounting

Perpetual Care revenue is reported on receipt and mterest income is reported on the accrual basis of accounting Expenditures are 

reported on the cash basis of accounting with the exception of administrative expenses which are reported on the accrual basis of 
accounting, which recognizes expenditures as they are incurred and measurable as a result of the receipt of goods or services and the 

creation of a legal obligation to pay

2. Due from the City of Mississauga

This represents money collected by the City during the fiscal year 2018 and transferred to the Trust Fund on January 29, 2019 The 
balance due from the City of Mississauga is non-mterest bearing and due on demand

3. Investments

The total investments by the Trust Funds of $807 (2017 $734) reported on the statement of financial position at cost, have a market 

value of $825 (2017 $765) at the end of the year

4. Perpetual Care Fund

The Perpetual Care Fund administered by the City is funded by the sale of cemetery plots These funds are mvested and earnings 

derived therefrom are used to perform perpetual care maintenance to the municipality’ s cemeteries The operations and investments of 
the Funds are undertaken by the City m accordance with the regulations of the Funeral, Burial and Cremations Services Act

5. Election Trust Fund

The Election Trust Fund is established m accordance with the 2016 Municipal Elections Act (“Act”) The Act states, per S 88.31(4), 
that if the financial statement or supplementary financial statement filed with the clerk shows a surplus and the campaign period has 
ended at the time the statement is filed, the candidate or registered thud party shall, when the statement is filed, pay the surplus to the 
clerk Per S 88 31(5), the clerk shall hold the amount paid under subsection (4) m trust for the candidate or registered thud party

Per S 88 31(8), for a candidate, the amount held in trust becomes the property of the municipality or local board, as the case may be, 

when all of the following conditions are satisfied.

1 The election campaign period has ended under paragraph 2, 3 or 4 of subsection 88.24 (1)

2 It is no longer possible to recommence the campaign period under paragraph 5 of subsection 88 24 (1)

3 No recount, proceeding under section 83 (controverted elections) or compliance audit has been commenced.

4. The period for commencing a recount, a proceeding under section 83 or a compliance audit has expued

Per S 88 31(9), for a registered third party, the amount held m trust becomes the property of the municipality when all of the following 

conditions are satisfied

1 The campaign penod has ended under paragraph 2 or 3 of section 88 28

2 It is no longer possible to recommence the campaign period under paragraph 4 of section 88 28 

3. No compliance audit has been commenced

4 The period for commencing a compliance audit has expired 2016, c 15, s. 62

Per S.88.32(2), if the candidate or registered third party notifies the clerk m writing that he, she or it is incurring subsequent expenses 
relating to a compliance audit, the clerk shall return the amount of the surplus, with interest, to the candidate or registered third party
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KPMG LLP

Vaughan Metropolitan Centre 

100 New Park Place, Suite 1400 

Vaughan ON L4K 0J3 

Canada

Tel 905-265-5900 

Fax 905-265-6390

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of City of Mississauga Clarkson Village Business Improvement 
Association, Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of The Corporation of the City of 
Mississauga

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of City of Mississauga Clarkson Village 
Business Improvement Association (the Entity), which comprise

• the statement of financial position as at December 31,2018

• the statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then ended

• the statement of change in net financial assets for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements")

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of City of Mississauga Clarkson Village Business 
Improvement Association as at December 31, 2018, and its results of operations, its 
changes in net financial assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
"Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of our 
auditors' report

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 

such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to 

going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 

either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 

but to do so

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 

reporting process

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit

We also

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the 

related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 

to the date of our auditors' report However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Vaughan, Canada 

April 2, 2019
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA CLARKSON VILLAGE

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION

Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Financial assets:

Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable and other assets

$ 62,294
7,223

$ 64,159
5,224

Financial liabilities:
69,517 69,383

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to The Corporation of the City of Mississauga (note 2)

$ 1,298
1,100

$ 819
2,989

2,398 3,808

Net financial assets 67,119 65,575

Tangible capital assets (note 3) 8,585 10,731

Accumulated surplus (note 4) $ 75,704 $ 76,306

See accompanying notes to financial statements 

On behalf of the Board

Director

Treasurer
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA CLARKSON VILLAGE

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION

Statement of Operations and Deficit

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 Budget 2018 2017

Revenue
Special levy on business assessment $ 73,000 $ 71,900 $ 70,011
Sponsorship 7,000 1,000 7,650
Other 4,000 3,200 7,003

84,000 76,100 84,664

Expenses
Advertising and promotion 43,250 23,815 32,407
Beautification and maintenance 44,250 37,109 31,679
Office and general 2,800 6,188 17,092
Professional fees 3,200 2,951 2,900
Amortization - 2,146 2,683
Insurance 2,000 2,233 2,217
Sponsorship 500 - 125
Other - 2,260 -

96,000 76,702 89,103

Annual deficit (12,000) (602) (4,439)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 76,306 76,306 80,745

Accumulated surplus, end of year (note 4) $ 64,306 $ 75,704 $ 76,306

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA CLARKSON VILLAGE

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Annual deficit $ (602) $ (4,439)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 2,146 2,683

Change in net financial assets 1,544 (1,756)

Net financial assets, beginning of year 65,575 67,331

Net financial assets, end of year $ 67,119 $ 65,575

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA CLARKSON VILLAGE

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Annual deficit

Items not involving cash
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Changes in non-cash operating working capital

Accounts receivable and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$ (602)

2,146

(1,999)
479

$ (4,439)

2,683

(398)
(1,046)

24 (3,200)

Financing
Due to the Corporation of the City of Mississauga (1,889) 272

Decrease in cash (1,865) (2,928)

Cash, beginning of year 64,159 67,087

Cash, end of year $ 62,294 $ 64,159

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA CLARKSON VILLAGE

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2018

Nature of operations:

On August 8, 1983, the Council of The Corporation of the City of Mississauga (the "City") passed a 

by-law pursuant to the Municipal Act to designate an area as an improvement area to be known as 

the Clarkson Business Improvement District In 2012, the Clarkson Business Improvement District 

changed its name to Clarkson Village Business Improvement Association (the "Association") The 

Association was entrusted with the improvement, beautification and maintenance of municipally 

owned lands, buildings and structures in the area, beyond such improvement, beautification and 

maintenance as provided at the expense of the municipality at large, and with the promotion of the 

district as a business or shopping area

1. Significant accounting policies:

The financial statements of the Association are the representation of management prepared in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for local governments as 

recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional 

Accountants of Canada

(a) Basis of accounting

Revenue and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of accounting The accrual 

basis of accounting recognizes revenue as it becomes available and measurable, 

expenses are the cost of goods or services acquired in the period whether or not payment 

has been made or invoices received

(b) Revenue

The special levy on business assessment represents the amounts levied by the City on 
behalf of the Association

(c) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for 

use in the provision of services They have useful lives extending beyond the current year 

and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly 

attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset 

Amortization for furniture and fixtures is provided on a declining balance at 20% each year
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2018

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA CLARKSON VILLAGE

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(d) Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenue and expenses during the year Actual results could differ from those 

estimates

(e) Adoption of new accounting policies

Effective January 1, 2018, the Association adopted the following standards issued by the 

Public Sector Accounting Board

(I) PS 2200

(II) PS 3420

(III) PS 3210

(IV) PS 3320

(V) PS 3380

- Related party disclosures

- Inter-entity transactions

- Assets

- Contingent assets

- Contractual rights

The adoption of these standards has not resulted in any significant impact to the financial 
statements

2. Due to the Corporation of the City of Mississauga:

The amount due to The Corporation of the City of Mississauga includes the cumulative 

underlevy as of December 31, 2018 The amount is non-interest bearing and payable on 

demand

3. Tangible capital assets:

2018 2017

Accumulated
Cost amortization

Net book 
value

Net book 
value

Furniture and fixtures $ 23,167 $ 14,582 $ 8,585 $ 10,731
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2018

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA CLARKSON VILLAGE

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION

4. Accumulated surplus:

Accumulated surplus at December 31 comprised the following

2018 2017

Reserve for working capital needs

Invested in tangible capital assets
$ 67,119

8,585
$ 65,575

10,731

$ 75,704 $ 76,306
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Financial Statements of

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA 
PORT CREDIT BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT AREA

Year ended December 31, 2018

51



M0
KPMG LLP

Vaughan Metropolitan Centre 

100 New Park Place, Suite 1400 

Vaughan ON L4K 0J3 

Canada

Tel 905-265-5900 

Fax 905-265-6390

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of City of Mississauga Port Credit Business 

Improvement Area, Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of The 

Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of City of Mississauga Port 
Credit Business Improvement Area (the Entity), which comprise

• the statement of financial position as at December 31,2018

• the statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then ended

• the statement of change in net financial assets for the year then ended

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements")

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of of City of Mississauga Port Credit 

Business Improvement Area as at December 31, 2018, and its results of 

operations, its changes in net financial assets and its cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

auditing standards Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the "Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Financial Statements" section of our auditors' report

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 

Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 

standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 

the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s 

financial reporting process

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit

We also

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion
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The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's 

internal control

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 

management

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going 

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going 

concern If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our auditors' report However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 

fair presentation

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

March 27, 2019 

Vaughan, Canada
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Statement of Financial Position

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA PORT CREDIT BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Financial Assets:
Cash
Accounts receivable

$ 112,707
44,895

$ 96,121
42,430

157,602 138,551

Financial Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to The Corporation of the City of Mississauga (note 2)

$ 34,446
15,189

$ 32,445
44,697

49,635 77,142

Net financial assets 107,967 61,409

Prepaid expenses
Tangible capital assets (note 3)

10,310
40,046

21,253
58,038

Commitments (note 5)

Accumulated surplus (note 4) $ 158,323 $ 140,700

See accompanying notes to financial statements 

On behalf of the Board

Director Director
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Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA PORT CREDIT BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018

Budget 2018 2017

Revenue
Special levy on business assessment 
Fundraising
Other

$ 856,533
172,200

$ 841,342
141,777

1,534

$ 782,967
187,501

1,028,733 984,653 970,468

Expenses
Office and general
Beautification and maintenance
Project expenses
Advertising and promotion 
Sponsorships
Amortization
Business development
Information technology
Repairs and maintenance

271,861
250,000
247,500
121,175
79,000

20,400
2,500
1,600

257,750
252,015
191,513
134,175
79,534
24,036
20,714
4,422
2,871

264,112
219,722
242,596
122,612
77,525
27,448
21,273

6,841
3,187

994,036 967,030 985,316

Annual surplus (deficit) 34,697 17,623 (14,848)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 140,700 140,700 155,548

Accumulated surplus, 
end of year (note 4) $ 175,397 $ 158,323 $ 140,700

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA PORT CREDIT BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 17,623 $ (14,848)

Additions to tangible capital assets (6,044) (17,295)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 24,036 27,448

Change in prepaid expenses 10,943 (2,810)

Change in net financial assets 46,558 (7,505)

Net financial assets, beginning of year 61,409 68,914

Net financial assets, end of year $ 107,967 $ 61,409

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flows

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA PORT CREDIT BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Annual surplus (deficit) $ 17,623 $ (14,848)
Item not involving cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 24,036 27,448
Changes in non-cash operating working capital

Increase in accounts receivable (2,465) (2,619)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 10,943 (2,810)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,001 6,750
Increase (decrease) in due to The Corporation of the

City of Mississauga (29,508) 7,546

22,630 (21,467)

Capital activities
Additions to tangible capital assets (6,044) (17,295)

Increase in cash 16,586 4,172

Cash, beginning of year 96,121 91,949

Cash, end of year $ 112,707 $ 96,121

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA PORT CREDIT BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2018

On December 20, 1984, the Council of the Corporation of the City of Mississauga passed a by-law 

pursuant to the Municipal Act, to designate an area as an improvement area to be known as the Port 

Credit Business Improvement Area (the "Organization") The Organization was entrusted with the 

improvement, beautification and maintenance of municipally owned lands, buildings and structures in 

the area, beyond such improvement, beautification and maintenance as provided at the expense of 

the municipality at large, and with the promotion of the area as a business or shopping area

1. Significant accounting policies:

The financial statements of the Port Credit Business Improvement Area are the representation of 

management prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for local 

governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered 

Professional Accountants of Canada

(a) Basis of accounting

Revenue and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of accounting The accrual basis 

of accounting recognizes revenues as they become available and measurable Expenses 

are the cost of goods or services acquired in the period whether or not payment has been 

made or invoices received

(b) Revenue

The special levy on business assessment represents the amounts levied by The Corporation 

of the City of Mississauga on behalf of the Organization

(c) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use 

in the provision of services They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and 

are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA PORT CREDIT BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Year ended December 31, 2018

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly 

attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset 

Amortization of tangible capital assets is provided on a straight-line basis as follows

Asset Basis Rate

Machinery and equipment Straight-line 4 years
Furniture and fixtures Straight-line 4 years
Leasehold improvements Straight-line 5 years

(d) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenue and expenses during the year Actual results could differ from those 

estimates

(e) Adoption of new accounting policies

Effective January 1, 2018, the Organization adopted the following standards issued by the 

Public Sector Accounting Board

i PS 2200 - Related party disclosures

n PS 3420 - Inter-entity transactions

in PS 3210 - Assets

iv PS 3320 - Contingent assets

v PS 3380 - Contractual rights

The adoption of these standards did not result in any significant impact to the financial 

statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA PORT CREDIT BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT AREA

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2018

2. Due to The Corporation of the City of Mississauga:

The amount due to The Corporation of the City of Mississauga includes the cumulative underlevy 

as at December 31, 2018 The amount is non-interest bearing and payable on demand

3. Tangible capital assets:

2018 2017

Cost

Accumulated

amortization

Net book

value

Net book

value

Machinery and equipment $ 80,603 $ 71,905 $ 8,698 $ 12,069
Furniture and fixtures 15,374 12,571 2,803 5,190
Leasehold improvements 86,675 58,130 28,545 40,779

$ 182,652 $ 142,606 $ 40,046 $ 58,038

4. Accumulated surplus:

The accumulated surplus at December 31 comprised the following

2018 2017

Invested in tangible capital assets $ 40,046 $ 58,038
Reserves for working capital needs 118,277 82,662

$ 158,323 $ 140,700
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA PORT CREDIT BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Year ended December 31, 2018

5. Commitments:

The Organization has an operating lease arrangement with the City for its office premises, 

expiring in April 30, 2020

Amounts payable under these agreements are approximately as follows

2019 $ 14,170
2020 4,760

$ 18,930
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Financial Statements of

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA 
STREETSVILLE BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
ASSOCIATION

Year ended December 31, 2018
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KPMG LLP

Vaughan Metropolitan Centre 

100 New Park Place, Suite 1400 

Vaughan ON L4K 0J3 

Canada

Tel 905-265-5900 

Fax 905-265-6390

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of City of Mississauga Streetsville Business Improvement 

District Association, Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of The Corporation of 

the City of Mississauga

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of City of Mississauga Streetsville 

Business Improvement District Association (the Entity), which comprise

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018

• the statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then 

ended

• the statement of change in net financial assets for the year then ended

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements")

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of City of Mississauga Streetsville 

Business Improvement District Association as at December 31, 2018, and its 

results of operations, its changes in net financial assets and its cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 

standards

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

auditing standards Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the "Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 

Statements" section of our auditors' report

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements 

that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

rr
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Page 2

We believe that the audit evidence we have 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 

standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 

the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s 

financial reporting process

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit

We also

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's 

internal control

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 

management

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going 

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going 

concern If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our auditors' report However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 

statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner 

that achieves fair presentation

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among 

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 

we identify during our audit

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

March 19, 2019 

Vaughan, Canada
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Statement of Financial Position

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA STREETSVILLE BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT ASSOCIATION

December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Financial assets:

Cash $ 30,393 $ 18,438
Accounts receivable 20,979 29,300

$ 51,372 $ 47,738

Financial liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 11,224 $ 9,950
Due to The Corporation of the City of Mississauga (note 2) 5,809 13,759
Deferred revenue 1,538 1,922

18,571 25,631

Net financial assets 32,801 22,107

Tangible capital assets (note 3) 62,351 82,583

Commitment (note 5)
Contractual rights (note 6)

Accumulated surplus (note 4) $ 95,152 $ 104,690

See accompanying notes to financial statements 

On behalf of the Board

Director Director
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA STREETSVILLE BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT ASSOCIATION

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

■ 2018
Budget 2018 2017

Revenue
Special levy on business assessment 
Fundraising
Other income

$ 324,353
66,000

7,500

$ 318,545
82,959

$ 286,707
126,018

35

397,853 401,504 412,760

Expenses
Advertising and promotion
Office and administration
Beautification and maintenance 
Amortization of capital assets

125,250
152,559
107,544

121,722
154,784
114,304
20,232

163,919
152,060
99,351
23,060

385,353 411,042 438,390

Annual surplus (deficit) 12,500 (9,538) (25,630)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 95,152 104,690 130,320

Accumulated surplus, end of year (note 4) $ 107,652 $ 95,152 $ 104,690

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA STREETSVILLE BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT ASSOCIATION

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Annual surplus (deficit) $ (9,538) $ (25,630)

Additions to tangible capital assets - (7,550)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 20,232 23,060

Change in net financial assets 10,694 (10,120)

Net financial assets, beginning of year 22,107 32,227

Net financial assets, end of year $ 32,801 $ 22,107

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA STREETSVILLE BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT ASSOCIATION

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31,2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Annual surplus (deficit) $ (9,538) $ (25,630)
Item not involving cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 20,232 23,060
Changes in non-cash operating working capital

Decrease in accounts receivable 8,321 3,902
Increase in accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities 1,274 191
Increase (decrease) in due to The Corporation of the

City of Mississauga (7,950) 15,903
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue (384) 1,922

11,955 19,348

Capital activities
Additions to tangible capital assets - (7,550)

Increase in cash 11,955 11,798

Cash, beginning of year 18,438 6,640

Cash, end of year $ 30,393 $ 18,438

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA STREETSVILLE BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT ASSOCIATION

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2018

On November 5, 1979, the Council of The Corporation of the City of Mississauga passed a by-law 

pursuant to The Municipal Act, to designate an area as an improvement area to be known as the 

Streetsville Business Improvement District Association (the "Association") The Association was 

entrusted with the improvement, beautification and maintenance of municipally owned lands, buildings 

and structures in the area, beyond such improvement, beautification and maintenance as provided at 

the expense of the municipality at large, and with the promotion of the district as a business or 

shopping area

1. Significant accounting policies:

The financial statements of the Association have been prepared in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles for local governments as recommended by the Public Sector 

Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada

(a) Basis of accounting

Revenue and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of accounting The accrual basis 

of accounting recognizes revenue as it becomes available and measurable, expenses are 

the cost of goods or services acquired in the period whether or not payment has been made 

or invoices received

(b) Revenue

The special levy on business assessment represents the amounts levied by The Corporation 

of the City of Mississauga on behalf of the Association

(c) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use 

in the provision of services They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and 

are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly 

attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA STREETSVILLE BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT ASSOCIATION

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2018

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

Amortization of tangible capital assets is provided on a straight-line basis as follows

Asset Basis Rate

Furniture, fixtures and decoratives 
Benches

Straight line
Straight-line

5-10 years 
5 years

(d) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the year Actual results could differ from those 

estimates

(e) Adoption of new accounting policies

Effective January 1, 2018, the Association adopted the following standards issued by the 

Public Sector Accounting Board

(0 PS 2200

(II) PS 3420

(III) PS 3210
(IV) PS 3320

(v) PS 3380

- Related party disclosures

- Inter-entity transactions

- Assets

- Contingent assets

- Contractual rights

The adoption of these standards has resulted in additional note disclosures for contractual 

rights as described in note 6

2. Due to/(from) The Corporation of the City of Mississauga:

The amount due to/(from) The Corporation of the City of Mississauga includes the cumulative 

underlevy as at December 31, 2017 (2016 - underlevy) The amount is non-interest bearing and 

payable on demand
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Year ended December 31, 2018

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA STREETSVILLE BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT ASSOCIATION

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

3. Tangible capital assets:

2018 2017

Cost

Accumulated

amortization

Net book

value

Net book

value

Furniture, fixtures and 
decoratives

Benches
$ 153,732

25,113
$ 96,321

20,173
$ 57,411

4,940
$ 74,153

8,430

$ 178,845 $ 116,494 $ 62,351 $ 82,583

4. Accumulated surplus:

The accumulated surplus as at December 31 comprises the following

2018 2017

Reserve for working capital needs
Invested in tangible capital assets

$ 32,801
62,351

$ 22,107
82,583

$ 95,152 $ 104,690

5. Commitment:

The Association has entered into an operating lease commitment for premises expiring in 2020 

The minimum annual payments are approximately as follows

2019 $ 16,500

2020 15,125

$ 31,625
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA STREETSVILLE BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT ASSOCIATION

Year ended December 31, 2018

6. Contractual rights:

As at December 31, 2018, the Association has a contract with The Corporation of the City of 

Mississauga to receive a $10,000 grant towards a 2019 special event
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Financial Statements of

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA 
MALTON BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT AREA

Year ended December 31, 2018
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KPMG LLP

Vaughan Metropolitan Centre 

100 New Park Place, Suite 1400 

Vaughan ON L4K 0J3 

Canada

Tel 905-265-5900 

Fax 905-265-6390

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of City of Mississauga Malton Business Improvement Area, 

Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of The Corporation of the City of 

Mississauga

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of City of Mississauga Malton Business 

Improvement Area (the Entity), which comprise

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018

• the statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then ended

• the statement of change in net financial assets for the year then ended

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”)

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of City of Mississauga Malton Business 

Improvement Area as at December 31, 2018, and its results of operations, its 

changes in net financial assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the

“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’’ section 

of our auditors’ report

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that 

are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our opinion

76



KPMG

Page 2

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 

the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, 

or has no realistic alternative but to do so

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s 
financial reporting process

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit

We also

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's 

internal control

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 

management

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern 

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 

material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 

if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion Our conclusions are 

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 

continue as a going concern

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 

fair presentation

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

March 13, 2019 

Vaughan, Canada
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA MALTON BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Financial Assets:

Cash
Accounts receivable and other assets

$ 191,531
14,679

$ 101,613
18,061

$ 206,210 $ 119,674

Financial Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 2)
Deferred revenue
Due to The Corporation of the City of Mississauga (note 3)

$ 29,929
23,700
16,845

$ 4,903

18,479

70,474 23,382

Net financial assets 135,736 96,292

Tangible capital assets (note 4) 33,069 41,301

Commitments (note 6)

Accumulated surplus (note 5) $ 168,805 $ 137,593

See accompanying notes to financial statements 

On behalf of the Board

Director Director
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Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA MALTON BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018
Budget 2018 2017

Revenue
Special levy on business assessment $
Special event - Canada Day 

sponsorship revenue
Special event - CF-100 sponsorship revenue 
Other grants revenue
Other revenue

146,140

64.300

30,000
13.300

$ 131,825

36,600

29,250
4,900

$ 101,521

41,700
38,645
31,739
2,750

253,740 202,575 216,355

Expenses
Special event - Canada Day expenses 
Office and administration (note 2)
Special event - CF-100 expenses 
Beautification and maintenance 
Advertising and promotion
Amortization
Other event expense
Sponsorship expense

98,900
62,760

25.000 
17,700

10.000

80,498
56,672

22,904

10,289

1,000

78,392
62,919
46,667
23,817
15,337
7,896
3,253

214,360 171,363 238,281

Annual surplus (deficit) 39,380 31,212 (21,926)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 137,593 137,593 159,519

Accumulated surplus, end of year (note 5) $ 176,973 $ 168,805 $ 137,593

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA MALTON BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 31,212 $ (21,926)

Additions to tangible capital assets (2,057) (12,395)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 10,289 7,896

Change in net financial assets 39,444 (26,425)

Net financial assets, beginning of year 96,292 122,717

Net financial assets, end of year $ 135,736 $ 96,292

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flows

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA MALTON BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Annual surplus $ 31,212 $ (21,926)
Item not involving cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 10,289 7,896
Changes in non-cash operating working capital

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable and other 
assets 3,382 28,067

Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 25,026 1,873
Increase (decrease) in due to The Corporation of the

City of Mississauga (1,634) 29,832

68,275 45,742

Financing activities
Additions to deferred revenue 23,700 -

Capital activities
Additions to tangible capital assets (2,057) (12,395)

Increase (decrease) in cash 89,918 33,347

Cash, beginning of year 101,613 68,266

Cash, end of year $ 191,531 $ 101,613

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CITY OF MISSISSAUGA MALTON BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2018

On December 12, 2012, the Council of The Corporation of the City of Mississauga passed a by-law 

pursuant to the Municipal Act to designate an area as an improvement area to be known as the 

Malton Business Improvement Area The Malton Business Improvement Area (the "Association") was 

entrusted with the improvement, beautification and maintenance of municipally owned lands, buildings 

and structures in the area, beyond such improvement, beautification and maintenance as provided at 

the expense of the municipality at large, and with the promotion of the district as a business or 

shopping area

1. Significant accounting policies:

The financial statements of the Association have been prepared in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles for local governments as recommended by the Public Sector 

Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada

(a) Basis of accounting

Revenue and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of accounting The accrual basis 

of accounting recognizes revenue as it becomes available and measurable, expenses are 

the cost of goods or services acquired in the period whether or not payment has been made 

or invoices received

(b) Revenue

The special levy on business assessment represents the amounts levied by The Corporation 

of the City of Mississauga on behalf of the Association

Funds received in advance for specific purposes are deferred and recognized as revenue as 

the funds are spent in accordance with the funder's restrictions

(c) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use 

in the provision of services They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and 

are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly 

attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset 

Amortization for fixtures and decorations is provided on a straight-line basis for a term of 

five years
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA MALTON BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Year ended December 31, 2018

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(d) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the year Actual results could differ from those 

estimates

(e) Adoption of new accounting policies

Effective January 1, 2018, the Association adopted the following standards issued by the 

Public Sector Accounting Board

(i) PS 2200 - Related party disclosures 

(n) PS 3420 - Inter-entity transactions 

(in) PS 3210 - Assets

(iv) PS 3320 - Contingent assets

(v) PS 3380 - Contractual rights

The adoption of these standards has not resulted in any significant impact to the financial 

statements

2. Related party transactions:

Included in office and administration expense are $3,768 (2017 - $11,212) of services provided 

by companies owned by members of the Board of Directors Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities include $900 (2017 - ml) in respect of these related party transactions

3. Due to (from) The Corporation of the City of Mississauga:

The amount due to/from the Corporation of the City of Mississauga includes the cumulative 

underlevy as at December 31, 2017 The amount is non-interest bearing and payable on 

demand
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

CITY OF MISSISSAUGA MALTON BUSINESS

IMPROVEMENT AREA

Year ended December 31, 2018

4. Tangible capital assets:

2018 2017

Accumulated Net book Net book 

Cost amortization value value

Fixtures and decorations $ 119,613 $ 86,544 $ 33,069 $ 41,301

5. Accumulated surplus:

The accumulated surplus as at December 31 comprises the following

2018 2017

Reserve for working capital needs $ 135,736 $ 96,292
Invested in tangible capital assets 33,069 41,301

$ 168,805 $ 137,593

6. Commitments:

The Association has entered into an operating agreement for utilities that expires in 2021 and a 

lease agreement for premises that expires in 2013 Both agreements are with the Corporation of 

the City of Mississauga The annual commitments are approximately as follows

2019 $ 3,450
2020 3,450
2021 3,115
2022 2,100
2023 525

/
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Financial Statements of

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION

Years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31,2017
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KPMG LLP
Bay Adelaide Centre
333 Bay Street, Suite 4600
Toronto, ON M5H 2S5
Canada
Tel 416-777-8500 
Fax 416-777-8818

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Enersource Corporation

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Enersource Corporation (the Entity), which comprise

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018

• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended

• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”)

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the Entity as at December 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” 

section of our auditors' report

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 

IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity's ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting process

KPMG LLP ts a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 

memberfirms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International"), a Swiss entity 

KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP
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KPMG
Enersource Corporation

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit

We also

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Entity's internal control

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease 

to continue as a going concern

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial statements represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation
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Enersource Corporation

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada 
April 16, 2019
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ENERSOURCE CORPORATION

Statement of Financial Position

(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
As at December 31,2018 and December 31, 2017

Note December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Assets

Current assets
Cash

Income taxes receivable

Prepaid expense

6
$ 4,241

137

$ 3,533

3

98

Total current assets 4,378 3,634

Non-current assets

Investment in Alectra
Interest rate swaps

5
8

609,060
405

593,079
422

Total non-current assets 609,465 593,501

Total assets $ 613,843 $ 597,135

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Loans and borrowings

7
8

$ 39
2,500

$ 83
2,500

Total current liabilities 2,539 2,583

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 8 53,125 55,625

Total non-current liabilities 53,125 55,625
Total liabilities 55,664 58,208

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
Retained earnings

9 175,691
(1,672)

384,160

175,691
(3,532)

366,768

Total shareholders’ equity 558,179 538,927

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 613,843 $ 597,135

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION

Notes December 31 ,2018 December 31, 2017
REVENUE:

Energy sales $ - $ 70,863
Distribution - 10,607
Services - 1,308
Other revenue - 1,356

Total operating revenue - 84,134

EXPENSES:
Energy purchases - 74,559
Employee salaries and benefits - 3,523
Materials and transportation - 788
Contract labor - 814
Other expenses - 1,870
Conservation and demand management - 892
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - 2,457
Amortization of intangible assets - 390

Total operating expenses - 85,293

Results from operating activities . (1,159)

Non-operating revenue (expenses).

Gain on investment in Enersource Holdings for investment in Alectra 5 - 225,260

Share of net income from investment in Alectra 5 32,917 23,330

Unrealized fair value (loss) gain on interest rate swap (17) 422

Office supplies (21) -

Professional services fee (86) -

Board management fee (74) (80)

Finance income 111 134

Financial expenses (1,348) (2,700)

Interest expense on post-employment benefits - (19)

Non-operating revenue 31,482 246,347

Profit before income taxes 31,482 245,188

Income tax recovery 6 289 493

Profit for the year 31,771 245,681

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of income tax

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) from investment in Alectra 5 1,860 (4,650)

Total comprehensive income for the year $
33,631

$ 241,031

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flows

(In thousands of Canadian Dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION

Notes December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Comprehensive income for the year $ 33,631 $ 241,031

Adjustments for
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - 2,457
Amortization of intangible assets - 390
Gain on investment in Alectra - (225,260)
Share of net income from investment in Alectra (32,917) (23,330)
Share of OCI from investment in Alectra (1,860) 4,650
Amortization of deferred contributions - (53)
Loss/(gam) on disposals of property, plant and

equipment - 5
Post-employment benefits - 27
Environmental provision - 13
Interest rate swap 17 (422)
Income tax recovery (289) (493)
Non-operating income (111) (134)
Non-operating expense 1370 2,700
Promissory note - -

Income tax received (paid) 292 (55)
Changes in non-cash working capital balances 10 (83) 6,997
Cash (used in)/from operating activities 50 8,523

Cash flows from investing activities
Customer deposits - 261
Interest received 111 134
Additions to property, plant and equipment - (3,662)
Additions to intangible assets - (149)
Additions to deferred contributions - 411
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and - 15
equipment - -

Dividends from Alectra 5 18,796 8,629
Bank overdraft eliminated upon disposition of Enersource - 46,253

Holdings
Working capital payment from Alectra - 1,200
Equity injection to Enersource Holdings - (50,000)

Cash from/(used in) investing activities 18,907 3,092

Cash flows from financing activities
Customer deposits - (261)
Proceeds from bank loans - 69,836
Repayment of bank loans (2,500) (11,875)
Dividends paid (14,379) (14,340)
Interest paid (1,370) (1,284)

Cash (used m)/from financing activities (18,249) 42,076

Increase in cash during the year 708 53,691

Cash, beginning of the year 3,533 (50,158)

Cash, end of the year $ 4,241 $ 3,533

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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ENERSOURCE CORPORATION

Statement of Changes in Equity
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31,2018 and 2017

Accumulated

Share
Capital

Other
Comprehensive

lncome/(Loss) Retained Earnings
Total

Equity
Balance at January 1,2018 $ 175,691 $ (3,532) $ 366,768 $ 538,927

Profit for the year - - 31,771 31,771

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax - 1,860 - 1,860

Dividends paid - - (14,379) (14,379)

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 175,691 $ (1,672) $ 384,160 $ 558,179

Balance at January 1,2017

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 

Dividends paid

$ 175,691 $ 1,118

(4,650)

$ 135,427

245,681

(14,340)

$ 312,236

245,681

(4,650)

(14,340)

Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 175,691 $ (3,532) $ 366,768 $ 538,927
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1. General Information

a) Corporate Information

Enersource Corporation (the "Corporation"), incorporated under the Ontario Business Corporations Act, was 

formed to conduct electricity distribution and non-regulated utility service ventures The Corporation is owned 90% 

by the City of Mississauga (the "City") and 10% by BPC Energy Corporation ("Borealis"), a wholly owned 

subsidiary of the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System ("OMERS")

The Corporation’s equity is not traded in a public market The Corporation’s registered office is located at 300 City 

Centre Drive, Mississauga, Ontario, L5B 3C1

The Corporation’s audited financial statements are presented Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation’s 

functional currency

Further, all amounts contained herein are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise noted

Prior to January 31, 2017, the Corporation had the following wholly-owned subsidiaries Enersource Holdings Inc 

(“Enersource Holdings”), Enersource Hydro Mississauga Inc ("Enersource Hydro") and Enersource Services Inc 

(“Enersource Services”), Enersource Technologies Inc (“Technologies”) and Enersource Power Services Inc 

(“Power Services”)

On January 31, 2017 as part of a series of unrelated transactions, the Corporation disposed of its wholly-owned 

subsidiary, Enersource Holdings On the same date, Enersource Holdings amalgamated with PowerStream 

Holdings Inc (“PowerStream”) and Horizon Holdings Inc (“Horizon”) to form Alectra Inc (“Alectra”) Alectra’s 

primary businesses are to distribute electricity to customers in municipalities in the greater golden horseshoe area 

as well as provide non-regulated energy services In consideration for its disposition of Enersource Holdings, the 

Corporation received a 31% ownership interest in Alectra’s issued and outstanding common shares Accordingly, 

the Corporation is considered to have significant influence over Alectra’s financial and operating policies and has 

accounted for its investment in Alectra under the equity method Refer to note 5 for further details

As this transaction was effective January 31, 2017, the 2017 comparative figures contain one month of results 

where Enersource Holdings’ operations were consolidated into the Corporation

b) Nature of operations

i) Prior to January 31, 2017

Prior to the disposition of Enersource Holdings on January 31, 2017, the Corporation provided electricity 

distribution services to businesses and residences in the City of Mississauga, Ontario through its subsidiary, 

Enersource Hydro

Power Services provided utility services, including electricity distribution infrastructure design, construction 

and operations and streetlight construction and maintenance services to customers in Ontario

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
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n) Post January 31, 2017

Subsequent to the disposition of Enersource Holdings on January 31, 2017, the Corporation acts as a holding 

company The Corporation’s principal business activity is to hold a 31% equity interest in Alectra Dividends 

are received from Alectra The Corporation also distributes dividends to its shareholders annually

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017

2. Basis of Preparation

a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)

These financial statements have been approved by the Corporation’s Board of Directors on April 16, 2019 

Certain prior year figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the current year

b) Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, with the exception of the unrealized fair 

value gain on interest rate swap, which is measured at fair value through profit and loss

3. Key Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the application of accounting policies and amounts reported and disclosed in the financial statements 

Actual results may differ from these estimates Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised 

and in any future periods affected

There were no key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgments at the end of the reporting period that could 

have a significant impact on the financial statements

4. Significant Accounting Policies

a) Changes in accounting policies

Effective January 1, 2018, the Corporation adopted new IFRS standards and applied the following new policies in 

preparing the financial statements
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Financial instruments

The Corporation adopted IFRS 9 Finance Instruments (“IFRS 9”) with a date of initial application on January 1, 

2018 IFRS 9 replaced IAS 39 - Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement ("IAS 39") The 

Corporation adopted IFRS 9 retrospectively Despite the retrospective adoption of IFRS 9, the Corporation is not 

required, upon initial application, to restate comparative figures

IFRS 9 requires classification of financial assets as measured at amortized cost, fair value through profit or loss 

(“FVTPL”) or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) based on the business model in which 

they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows IFRS 9 requires classification of financial 

liabilities as measured at amortized cost or fair value

The impact of IFRS 9 on the classification and measurement of the Corporation's financial instruments is set out 

below

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

Financial Instrument IAS 39 Measurement basis IFRS 9 Measurement basis

Cash FVTPL Amortized cost

Interest rate swaps FVTPL FVTPL

Accounts payable Financial liability - amortized Financial liability - amortized

Loans and borrowings Financial liability - amortized Financial liability - amortized

IFRS 9 also introduces a new single model for the measurement of impairment losses on all financial assets The 

IFRS 9 expected credit loss (“ECL”) model replaces the current “incurred loss" model of IAS 39 The incurred 

loss model under IAS 39 recognizes impairment when there is objective evidence of deterioration in the credit 

quality of the asset Under IFRS 9, ECL will be recognized in the profit or loss before a loss event has occurred, 

which could result in earlier recognition of credit losses compared to IAS 39

The adoption of IFRS 9 did not have an impact on the financial statements

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Corporation adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("IFRS 15”) with an initial application 

date of January 1, 2018 which replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue (“IAS 18”) IFRS 15 

sets out the requirements for recognizing revenue that apply to all contracts with customers, except for contracts 

that are within the scope of the standards on leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments IFRS 15 uses 

a control-based approach to recognize revenue, which is a change from the risks and reward approach under 

previous standards

The Corporation applied IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method recognizing the cumulative effect of initially 

applying IFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening equity balance as at January 1, 2018 Therefore, the 

comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 18 The adoption of IFRS 

15 had no impact on the Corporation’s financial statements as no revenue is currently being generated with 

customers
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b) Investment in Alectra

The Corporation’s interest in Alectra is recognized and measured in line with IAS 28, Investments in Associates 

and Joint Ventures (“IAS 28”)

Associates are those entities over which the Corporation has significant influence, but not control or joint control, 

over the financial and operating policies Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Corporation holds 

between 20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity, but can also arise where the Corporation holds less 

than 20%, if it has the power to be actively involved and influential in policy decisions affecting the entity

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method The equity method involves the recording of 

the initial investment at cost, which includes transaction costs Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial 

statements include the Corporation’s share of profit or loss and any other changes in the associates’ net assets, 

such as dividends of equity accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence ceases

Adjustments are made to align the accounting policies of the associate with those of the Corporation before 

applying the equity method When the Corporation’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted 

investee, the carrying amount of that interest is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is 

discontinued except to the extent that the Corporation has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 

payments on behalf of the associate If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Corporation resumes 

recognizing its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognized

c) Revenue recognition

The Corporation’s source of income is interest and investment income Interest income is recognized when 

earned, while investment income from Alectra is recorded as per Note 4 b) above

d) Income taxes

The Corporation recognizes deferred tax using the balance sheet method Under this method, deferred income 

taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their 

carrying amounts for accounting purposes, as well as for tax losses available to be carried forward to future years 

that are probable Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax 

rates, at the reporting date, expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences 

are expected to be recovered or settled The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 

recognized in income in the year that includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which the temporary difference can be utilized Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 

and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized Deferred tax 

liabilities are generally recognized on all taxable temporary differences

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
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Current taxes are based on taxable profit or loss for the year, which differ from profit or loss as reported in the 

statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items that are taxable or deductible in other years and 

items that are neither taxable nor deductible The Corporation’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period

Both current and deferred taxes are included as part of income tax expense in the statement of comprehensive 

income

e) Provisions and contingencies

The Corporation recognizes provisions if, as a result of a past event, there is a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be measured reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 

the liability

The evaluation of the likelihood of the contingent events requires judgment by management as to the probability 

of exposure to potential gain or loss Actual results could differ from these estimates

A contingent asset is not recognized in the financial statements However, a contingent asset is disclosed where 

an inflow of economic benefits is probable

f) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are mandatory for 

accounting years beginning after January 1, 2019 or later

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”), which replaces the IAS 17 Leases and related 

interpretations IFRS 16 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 

of leases, with the objective of ensuring that lessees and lessors provide relevant information that faithfully 

represents those transactions The new standard brings most leases on-balance sheet for leases under a single 

model, eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases IFRS 16 is effective for annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 A lessee shall either apply IFRS 16 with full retrospective effect or 

alternatively not restate comparative information but recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 

as an adjustment to opening equity at the date of initial application Earlier application is permitted if IFRS 15 has 

also been applied The Corporation does not expect IFRS 16 to have any impact on its financial statements

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments provides guidance on recognition and measurement of 

uncertain income tax treatments The effective date of IFRIC 23 is January 1, 2019 The Corporation is in the 

process of evaluating the impact of this interpretation

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION

5. Investment in Alectra

December 31,2018 December 31,2017

Investment in Alectra $ 609,060 $ 593,079

Movement in equity accounted investee

Opening investment $ 593,079 $ -

Initial investment in Alectra
Share of net income from investment in

“ 583,028

Alectra 32,917 23,330
Share of OCI in Alectra 1,860 (4,650)

Dividends received from Alectra (18,796) (8,629)

Closing investment in Alectra as at
December 31 $ 609,060 $ 593,079

Alectra Inc.

On January 31, 2017, the Corporation disposed of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Enersource Holdings Enersource 

Holdings amalgamated with PowerStream and Horizon to form Alectra Alectra’s primary business is to distribute 

electricity to customers in municipalities in the greater golden horseshoe area as well as provide non-regulated 

energy services In consideration for its disposition of Enersource Holdings, the Corporation received a 31% 

ownership interest in Alectra’s issued and outstanding common shares Accordingly, the Corporation is 

considered to have significant influence over Alectra’s financial and operating policies and has accounted for its 

investment in Alectra under the equity method

Alectra also issued Class S shares to the former PowerStream shareholders relating to Ring Fenced Solar 

Portfolio, a division of Alectra In accordance with the Solar Services and Indemnity Agreement between the 

former PowerStream shareholders and Alectra, the solar division within Alectra is beneficially owned indirectly by 

the former PowerStream shareholders and as such, allocates the risks and rewards of Ring Fenced Solar 

Portfolio’s operations to the former PowerStream shareholders through Alectra’s Class S shares As such, the 

Corporation does not hold Class S shares of Alectra

As a result of the Alectra formation on January 31, 2017, the Corporation derecognized its investment in 

Enersource Holdings at cost of $357,768 and recognized its initial 31% equity interest in Alectra at fair value of 

$583,028 resulting in a gain on disposition of $225,260 recorded in the statement of comprehensive income in 

December 31,2017

The following table summarizes the financial information of Alectra as included in its own financial statements, 

adjusted for fair value adjustments at acquisition as well as the removal of Ring Fenced Solar Portfolio’s net 

assets and operating results The table also reconciles the summarized financial information to the carrying 

amount of the Corporation’s interest in Alectra
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Percentage ownership interest 31% 31%

Current assets (including cash of $16,000 (2017 - $122,000)) $ 663,000 $ 702,000
Non-current assets 3,992,000 3,779,000
Current liabilities (including current liabilities excluding AP, 
accruals and provisions of $345,000 (2017 - $268,000)) (788,000) (739,000)
Non-current liabilities (including non-current liabilities 

excluding AP, accruals and provisions of $2,175,000 (2017 - 

$2,089,000) (2,178,000) (2,094,000)

Net assets (100%) 1,689,000 1,648,000
Ring Fenced Solar Portfolio Net Assets (20,209) (30,974)
Fair value adjustments from purchase price 296,145 296,145

1,964,936 1,913,171

Carrying value of investment in Alectra (31%) $609,060 $ 593,079

Revenue $ 3,452,000 $ 3,125,000
Depreciation and amortization (140,000) (124,000)
Other expenses (3,101,000) (2,844,000)
Finance expenses (64,000) (55,000)
Income tax expense (39,000) (30,000)
Net income 109,000 74,000
Other comprehensive loss 6,000 (15,000)
Total comprehensive income 115,000 59,000
Ring Fenced Solar Portfolio net gain (loss) 2,816 (1,257)
Ring fenced Solar Portfolio other comprehensive income - 1

Share of income (31%) $ 32,917 $ 23,330
Share of other comprehensive income (loss) (31%) $ 1,860 $ (4,650)
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6. Income Taxes

The components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

December 31, 2018 December 31,2017

Current income tax expense (recovery)
Expense (recovery) for the year $ (289) $ 147

Total current Income tax expense (recovery) (289) 147

Deferred income tax expense (recovery)

Reversal of temporary differences - (640)

Total deferred Income tax expense (recovery) - (640)

Total income tax expense (recovery) $ (289) $ (493)

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount that would have been recorded using the combined

federal and Ontario statutory income tax rate Reconciliation between the statutory and effective tax rates is

provided as follows

December 31, 2018 December 31,2017

Federal and Ontario statutory income tax rate 26 50% 26 50%

Profit before provision for income taxes $ 33,631 $ 241,031

Provision for income taxes at statutory rate 
lncrease/(decrease) resulting from

$ 8,912 $ 63,873

Recovery of prior year’s tax expense due to loss 
carryback
Differences between accounting net

(289) -

income and net income for tax purposes (8,912) (64,367)

Provision for income taxes $ (289) $ (493)

Effective income tax rate 0 86% 0 20%
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION

7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

The components of accounts payable and accrued liabilities are as follows

December 31, 2018 December 31,2017

Trade payables $ 39 $ 39

Interest owed on rate swap - 44

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 39 $83

8. Loans and Borrowings

Bank Loan December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Current $ 2,500 $ 2,500

Non-current 53,125 55,625

Net bank loan $ 55,625 $58,125

Outstanding debt is comprised of two bank loans, Credit Facility A and Credit Facility B which were entered into 

on January 27, 2017 and an interest rate swap, held with Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC) The 

interest rate on Credit Facility A and B bank loans is determined through a combination of the 3-month CDOR 

rate, reset 4 times each year Feb 1st, May 1st, August 1st and November 1st plus a stamping fee of 0 60% 

Credit Facility A has a 10 year term to maturity with a balance of $35,000 and will be carried for the duration of the 

Facility Credit Facility A has a floating interest rate with the last interest rate being reset at 2 807% on November 

1, 2018 and is carried with quarterly interest payments Credit Facility B has a 10 year term to maturity and an 

outstanding balance $20,625 Credit Facility B is being paid down with quarterly principal and interest payments 

at a rate of $625 per quarter and has an accompanying amortising interest rate swap associated with it, to create 

an effective fixed interest rate of 2 414%

The credit facilities contain a covenant stating that the Corporation cannot incur any additional debt without 

CIBC’s consent In addition, the Corporation must advise CIBC if dividends are not received from Alectra in any 

quarter if the dividend amount is not sufficient to make the required monthly or quarterly payments of principal and 

interest These covenants have not been breached in 2018 or 2017 The secured bank loans are guaranteed by 

the City of Mississauga in the amount of $70,000

The Corporation included $17 of unrealized loss (2017 - $422 gam) in its financial statements $405 is the fair 

value of the interest rate swap derivative, which represents the amount that the Corporation would have paid to 

unwind its position as at December 31, 2018 The notional value on the interest rate swap is $20,625

102



Reconciliation of debt arising from financing activities

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

December 31,2018 December 31, 2017

Balance beginning of the year $ 58,125 $ 378,309

Net proceeds from loans - 70,000

Principal repayment (2,500) (11,875)

Non Cash Changes

Disposition of EHI debt at Jan 31, 2017 - (378,309)

$ 55,625 $ 58,125

The corporation made interest payments of $1,370 (2017 -$1,284)

9. Share Capital

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Authorized
Unlimited, Class A shares, voting
1,000 Class B shares, non-voting
100 Class C shares, voting

Issued
180,555,562 Class A shares
1,000 Class B shares
100 Class C shares

$ 155,628
1

20,062

$ 155,628
1

20,062

$ 175,691 $ 175,691

The holders of Class A shares and Class C shares are entitled to receive notice of, to attend, and to vote at all

general and special meetings of the Corporation’s shareholders The holders of Class B shares are not entitled to 

vote at any meeting of the Corporation’s shareholders (except as required by law) and are only entitled to receive 

notice of special meetings called to consider certain fundamental changes

Flolders of Class A shares are entitled to one vote per share Holders of Class C shares are entitled to such 

number of votes in respect of each Class C share as will entitle the holders of the Class C shares, as a class, to 

the proportion of the total number of votes of all shareholders entitled to vote at any such meeting that the Class 

C total base equity is of the aggregate regulated rate base equity of the Corporation’s and its subsidiaries
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The holders of the Class A shares and holders of the Class C shares, in priority to the holders of the Class B 

shares, are entitled to receive, if, as and when declared by the Corporation’s Board of Directors, concurrent 

preferential dividends at a rate per annum equal to the regulated rate of return on the rate base equity 

represented by each such class of shares The cumulative portion of such preferential dividend is the amount by 

which the preferential dividend for each class of shares exceeds the amount of regulated capital expenditures 

represented by each class of shares The remaining portion is non-cumulative As at December 31, 2018, there 

were no cumulative preferential dividends outstanding (December 31, 2017 - $Nil) Once these preferential 

dividend entitlements have been satisfied, holders of each class of shares are entitled to receive, on a concurrent 

basis with each other class of shares, additional dividends if, as and when declared by the Corporation’s Board of 

Directors and in such amounts and payable in such manner as may be determined from time to time by the 

Corporation’s Board of Directors Holders of the Class A shares and the Class C shares are together entitled to 

60% of any such additional dividends, which are to be allocated between the holders of each such class of shares 

in proportion to the rate base equity represented by each such class Holders of the Class B shares are entitled to 

40% of any such additional dividends Class A, B and C shares have no par value

Dividends may be declared by the Board of Directors through a resolution In 2018, dividends of $14,379 (2017 - 

$14,340) were declared and paid to the Shareholders of the Corporation

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

10. Change in Non-cash Working Capital Balances

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Accounts receivable $ $ (7,973)

Unbilled revenue - 17,639

Inventories - 376

Prepaid expense (39) (270)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (44) (2,980)

Advance payments - 205

Decrease in working capital $ (83) $ 6,997

11. Related Party Transactions

As at December 31,2018, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $Nil (2017 - $16) due to the Borealis

During the year, the Corporation incurred $Nil (2017 - $111) for property taxes to the City

The Corporation charged Borealis $Nil in 2018 (2017 - $1) for an access agreement These transactions are in 

the normal course of operations and were recorded at amounts agreed to by the parties
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For 2018, a dividend of $12,941 was declared and paid to the City (2017 - $12,906), and a dividend of $1,438 

was declared and paid to Borealis (2017 - $1,434) No Director had, during or at the end of the period, any 

material interest in any contract of significance in relation to the Corporation’s business

The following compensation has been provided to the key management personnel of the Corporation and 

members of the Board of Directors (Directors Honorarium), who have the authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

December 31,2018 December 31, 2017

Salaries and short term employee benefits $ - $ 1,782

Retirement OMERS contributions - 87

Other compensation - 4

Directors honorarium and per diems 74 136

$ 74 $ 2,009

12. Contingencies, Provisions, Commitments and Guarantees

a) Contingencies

The Corporation is a member of the Municipal Electric Association Reciprocal Insurance Exchange 

("MEARIE") A reciprocal insurance exchange may be defined as a group of persons formed for the 

purpose of exchanging reciprocal contracts of indemnity or inter-insurance with each other MEARIE is 

licensed to provide general liability insurance to its members Insurance premiums charged to each 

member consist of a levy per thousand dollars of service revenue subject to a credit or surcharge based on 

each member's claims experience Current liability coverage is provided to a level of $30,000 per 

occurrence

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, there are no legal actions where the Corporation is a defendant

13. Financial Instruments and Risk Management

Financial instruments which are disclosed at fair value are to be classified using a three-level hierarchy Each 

level reflects the inputs used to measure the fair values disclosed of the financial liabilities, and are as follows

Level 1 - inputs are unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets,

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

instrument, either directly or indirectly, and

Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data There were no financial instruments 

carried at fair value categorized in Level 3 as at December 31, 2018 and 2017
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There were no transfers between levels during the year

The fair values of cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values due to the 

immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments

The Corporation entered into an amortizing Interest Rate Swap (IRS) with CIBC on January 31 2017 The IRS is 

amortizing (being paid down) at the same rate as Credit Facility B Both Credit Facility B and the IRS will be 

retired effective February 1, 2027 The IRS is an interest rate hedging instrument against CIBC Credit Facility B 

(identified in Note 8) and has the effect of locking in the interest rate associated with Credit Facility B at 2 414% 

As a stand-alone financial instrument, CIBC provides a month-end “fair market value (FMV)” associated with the 

IRS The FMV for the IRS as at December 31 2018 is $405 (2017 - $422) The interest rate swap is classified as 

a level 2 in the hierarchy

The Corporation considers its capital to be its shareholders’ equity The Corporation manages its capital exposure 

to risk as described below Exposure to market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk arises in the normal course of the 

Corporation's business

a) Market Risk

Market risk refers primarily to risk of loss that results from changes in commodity prices, foreign exchange rates 

and interest rates

The Corporation does not have a commodity risk or foreign exchange risk at December 31, 2018 and 2017

The Corporation is exposed to short-term interest rate risk on its loans and borrowings and its net cash balances 

The Corporation manages interest rate risk by monitoring its mix of fixed and floating rate instruments, and taking 

action as necessary to maintain an appropriate balance

b) Credit Risk

The Corporation is not exposed to significant credit risk given then nature of its operations 

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due 

Short-term liquidity is provided through cash and funds from operations Short-term liquidity is expected to be 

sufficient to fund normal operating requirements

The Corporation has contractual obligations in the normal course of business, future minimum undiscounted 

contractual maturities are as follows

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017

Financial Liabilities
Due within 1 year Due between 1 and

5 years
Due past 5 

years

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Bank loan (interest and principal)

$ 39
3,946

$
15,148

$
45,723

Total $ 3,985 $ 15,148 $ 45,723
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(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

ENERSOURCE CORPORATION

14. Subsequent Events

Dividends

On March 15, 2019, the Corporation received a dividend of $10,055 from Alectra.

Merger

On January 1, 2019, Alectra Inc. amalgamated with Guelph Hydro Electric Systems Inc. (“GHESI”). Alectra Inc. 

issued 485,000 Class G Common Shares to Guelph Municipal Holdings Inc. (“GMHI”) in consideration for all the 

issued and outstanding shares of GHESI. This common shares issuance by the Alectra Inc. represents an 

effective 4.6% interest in its aggregate issued and outstanding classes of common shares. The amalgamation is 

expected to result in more efficient and enhanced service delivery through lower operating costs, while providing 

significant benefits for communities and shareholders.

The new shareholder ownership structure as a result of this merger is as follows: Barrie Hydro Holdings - 8.4%, 

Enersource Corporation - 29.6%, Hamilton Utilities Corporation - 17.3%, Markham Enterprises Corporation - 

15%, St. Catherines Hydro Inc. -4.6%, Vaughan Holdings Inc. - 20.5% and GMHI - 4.6%.

The accounting and valuation for the amalgamation is still being finalized. Consequently, disclosures regarding 

the amount of the purchased assets and liabilities cannot be determined.
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KPMG LLP
Vaughan Metropolitan Centre 
100 New Park Place, Suite 1400 
Vaughan ON L4K 0J3 
Canada
Tel 905-265-5900 
Fax 905-265-6390

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Corporation of the City of Mississauga

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the City of Mississauga Public Library 
Board (the Entity), which comprise:

• the statement of financial position as at December 31,2018

• the statement of operations for the year then ended

• the statement of changes in net debt for the year then ended

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2018, and its results 
of operations, its changes in net debt and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
"Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of 
our auditors' report.

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

KPMG LLP, is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International''), a Swiss entity.
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial 
reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an - 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards- 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.

We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal 
control.
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Vaughan, Canada

May 1,2019



2018 2017
$ . $

City of Mississauga - Public Library Board
Statement of Financial Position
as at December 31,2018 with comparatives for 2017
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

(Recast Note 2)

Financial Assets
Due from the City of Mississauga (Note 3) 2,439 2,424

Total Financial Assets 2,439 2,424

Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Employee benefits and other liabilities (Note 5)

1,056
3,151

766
3,371

Total Financial Liabilities 4,207 4,137

Net Debt (1,768) (1,713)

Non-financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 73,364 74,098

Accumulated Surplus 71,596 72,385
Commitments (Note 6)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 5



City of Mississauga - Public Library Board 
Statement of Operations
for the year ended December 31,2018 with comparatives for 2017 
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

Budget
2018

$
Note 7

Actual
2018

$

Actual
2017

$
(Recast Note 2)

Revenues
City of Mississauga 27,441 26,212 25,918
Funding transfers from other governments 715 858 943
Contributed assets by the City of Mississauga - 1,305 707
Fines, service charges and rents 1,234 1,216 1,204

Total Revenues 29,390 29,591 28,772
Expenses
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 22,424 21,367 21,181
Equipment 38 153 79
Materials and supplies 398 297 336
Communication 38 23 10
Staff development 86 112 111
Transportation 56 57 41
Professional Services 10 39 33
Advertising and promotion 48 13 36
Occupancy 1,814 1,747 1,709
Collection fees 50 56 60
Amortization of tangible capital assets (Note 8) - 6,073 5,848
Administrative support charged by the City 430 443 438

Total Expenses 25,392 30,380 29,882

Annual surplus/(deficit) 3,998 (789) (1,110)
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 72,385 73,495

Accumulated surplus, end of year 71,596 72,385

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 6



City of Mississauga - Public Library Board
Statement of Change in Net Debt
for the year ended December 31, 2018 with comparatives for 2017
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

2018 2017
Actual Actual

$ $
(Recast Note 2)

Annual surplus/(deficit) (789) (1,110)

Tangible capital asset additions (5,339) (4,386)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 6,073 5,848

(Increase)/Decrease in net debt (55) 352
Net debt, beginning of year (1,713) (2,065)

Net debt, end of year (1,768) (1,713)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 7



City of Mississauga - Public Library Board
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended December 31, 2018 with comparatives for 2017
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

2018
$

2017
$

(Recast Note 2)

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Annual surplus/(deficit) (789) (1,110)

Items not involving cash:
Amortization of tangible capital assets 6,073 5,848

Change in employee benefits and other liabilities
Change in non-cash working capital:

(220) 13

Due from the City of Mississauga (15) (429)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 290 64

Net change in cash from operating activities
Capital Activities:

5,339 4,386

Tangible capital asset additions (5,339) (4,386)

Net Change in Cash - -
Cash, beginning and end of year - -

The accompanying notes are an integral paid of these financial statements. 8



1. Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the City of Mississauga Public Library Board (the “Board”) are prepared by management in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for local governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting 
Board (“PSAB”) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (“CPA Canada”). Significant aspects of the accounting policies 
adopted by the Board are as follows:

a) Basis of accounting

Sources of financing and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of accounting except for fines, service charges and rents which are 
reported upon receipt. The accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues as they become measurable; expenses are the cost of 
goods and services acquired in the period whether or not payment has been made on invoices received.

b) Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized in the financial statements in the period in which the events giving rise to the transfer occur, 
providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made. The 
Corporation of the City of Mississauga’s (the “City”) contribution consists of the current year's requisition as approved by Council.

c) Pensions and employee benefits

The Board accounts for its participation in the Ontario Municipal Employee Retirement System (“OMERS”), a multi-employer public 
sector pension fund, as a defined contribution plan.

Vacation entitlements are accrued for as entitlements are earned. Sick leave benefits are accrued where they are vested and subject to 
pay out when an employee leaves the Board’s employment. Other post-employment benefits and compensated absences are accrued in 
accordance with the projected benefit method prorated On service and management’s best estimate of salary escalation and retirement 
ages of employees. Actuarial valuations, where necessaiy for accounting purposes, are performed triennially. The discount rate used to 
determine the accrued benefit obligation was determined by reference to market interest rates at the measurement date on high-quality 
debt instruments with cash flows that match the timing and amount of expected benefit payments. Unamortized actuarial gains or losses 
are amortized on a straight line basis over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee groups. Unamortized 
gains / losses for event-triggered liabilities, such as those determined as claims related to the Workplace Safety Insurance Board 
(“WSIB”) are amortized over the average expected period during which the benefits will be paid.

Costs related to prior period employee services arising out of plan amendments are recognized in the period in which the plan is 
amended. For the purposes of these financial statements, the plans are considered unfunded.

d) Non-financial assets

Non-fmancial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision of services. They are not 
intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.

(i) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly attributed to acquisition, construction, 
development or betterment of the asset. The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over then useful lives as follows:

City of Mississauga - Public Library Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31,2018
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

Asset_____________________________________________________Useful Life (Years)
Unlimited 

15-20 
40-50 
5-40 

10-20

A full year of the annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition. Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset 
is available for productive use.

Land
Land improvements 
Buildings
Equipment, books and other 
Vehicles
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1. Significant Accounting Policies

d) Non-financial assets

(ii) Contributions of tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at then fan market value at the date of receipt. The contributions are 
recorded as contributed assets in the statement of operations.

(iii) Leased assets

Leases are classified as either operating or capital leases. Lease agreements which substantially transfer all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the Board are accounted for as a capital lease. All other leases are considered operating leases and the related payments 
are charged to operating expense as incurred.

(iv) Works of art and historical treasures

The Board does not own any notable works of art and historical treasures at then' branches. Typically these assets are deemed worthy 
of preservation because of the social rather than financial benefits they provide to the community. The historic cost of art and treasures 
are not determinable or relevant to then significance hence a valuation is not assigned to these assets nor would they be disclosed of in 
the financial statements.

e) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant estimates include assumptions used in performing actuarial valuations of 
employee future benefits and determining useful lives of tangible capital assets.

Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.

f) Adoption of new accounting policies

The Board has adopted the following PSAB Standards effective January 1, 2018:

i) Assets (PS 3210)

PS 3210 provides additional guidance on the definition of assets and what is meant by economic resources, control, past transactions 
and events and from which future economic benefits are to be obtained.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, all material assets have been disclosed and reported within this definition.

ii) Contingent Assets (PS 3320)

PS 3320 introduces a definition for possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations involving uncertainty which will be 
ultimately resolved when one or more future events occur that are not wholly within the government’s control. Disclosure of a 
contingent asset is required under this standard when the occurrence of a confirming future event is likely.

Government funding established through an agreement and not yet received at December 31,2018 are included in receivables and do 
not fall within this standard.

iii) Contractual Rights (PS 3380)

PS 3380 requires disclosure of information pertaining to future rights to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that 
will result in both an asset and revenue in the future. Such disclosure includes the nature, extent and timing of contractual rights.

The Board is involved with various contracts and agreements arising in the ordinary course of business. This results in contractual 
rights to economic resources, leading to both assets and revenue in the future. There are no contractual rights as at December 31, 2018.

City of Mississauga - Public Library Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
(All dollar amounts are in $000)
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1. Significant Accounting Policies

f) Adoption of new accounting policies

iv) Related Party disclosures (PS 2200)

A related party exists when one party has the ability to exercise control or shared control over the other. Related parties include key 
management personnel, their close family members and the entities they control or have shared control over. Related party transactions 
are disclosed if they occurred at a value different from that which would have been arrived at if parties were unrelated and the 
transaction has a material effect on the financial statements.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, there are no such material related party transactions to disclose. The Public Library Board 
follows the City of Mississauga’s controls, guidelines and policies to mitigate risk that related party transactions are not identified or 
non-compliant, including policies covering conflicts of interest, use of City resources, and standard of behaviour.

v) Inter-Entity Transactions (PS 3420)

PS 3420 provides guidance on how to account for and report transactions between public sector entities that comprise a government's 
reporting entity from both a provider and recipient perspective. The main features of this new section deal with the measurement of 
these transactions.

Within the Board, all inter-entity transactions are recorded at the exchange amount, being the amount agreed to by both parties. For the 
year ended December 31, 2018, there were no material inter-entity transactions to disclose.

g) Future accounting pronouncements

These standards and amendments were not effective for the year ended December 31, 2018, and have therefore not been applied in 
preparing these financial statements. Management is currently assessing the impact of the following accounting standards updates on 
the future financial statements.

(i) PS 3430, Restructuring Transactions, requires that assets and liabilities in restructuring transactions be measured at then carrying 
amount. It also prescribes financial statement presentation and disclosure requirements. This standard is effective for fiscal periods 
beginning on or after April 1, 2018 (the Board’s December 31, 2019 year-end).

(ii) PS 1201, Financial Statement Presentation, was issued in June, 2011. This standard requires entities to present a new statement of 
remeasurement gains and losses separate from the statement of operations. This new statement includes unrealized gains and losses 
arising from remeasurement of financial instruments and items denominated in foreign currencies and any other comprehensive income 
that arises when a government includes the results of government business enterprises and partnerships. This section is effective for 
fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2019 and applies when PS 3450, Financial Instruments, and PS 2601, Foreign Currency 
Translation, are adopted (the Board's December 31, 2020 year-end).

(iii) PS 3450, Financial Instruments, establishes the standards on accounting for and reporting all types of financial instruments 
including derivatives. The effective date of this standard has recently been deferred and is now effective for fiscal periods beginning on 
or after April 1, 2021 (the Board's December 31, 2022 year-end).

(iv) PS 2601, Foreign Currency Translation, establishes the standards on accounting for and reporting transactions that are 
denominated in a foreign currency. The effective date of this standard has been deferred and is now effective for fiscal periods 
beginning on or after April 1, 2021 (the Board's December 31, 2022 year-end). Earlier adoption is permitted. A public sector entity 
adopting this standard must also adopt the new financial instruments standard.

City of Mississauga - Public Library Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
(All dollar amounts are in $000)
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2. Recast of Prior Year Comparative Figures

The 2017 comparative information provided in the 2017 financial statements has been adjusted for immaterial prior period errors 
relating to the following items:

a) The Employee benefits and other liabilities amount reported in 2017 has been adjusted to reflect an immaterial accrued vacation pay 
amount as at that date. The amount previously reported as employee benefits and other liabilities as at December 31, 2017 has been 
increased by $937 and the related expense for 2017 has been increased by $85.

b) The tangible capital asset inventories reported in 2017 have been adjusted to reflect an immaterial correction in accumulated 
amortization of $1,688 and amortization expense reported in 2017 has been increased by $31.

City of Mississauga - Public Library Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

The impacts of these changes have been recorded retrospectively and prior periods have been recast as follows:
As

previously
reported Recast As recasted

$ $ $
Statement of Financial Position:
Employee benefits and other liabilities at December 31, 2017 2,349 1,022 3,371
Tangible capital assets at December 31, 2017 75,817 (1,719) 74,098
Accumulated surplus at December 31, 2017 75,126 (2,741) 72,385

Statement of Operations:
Salaries, wages and employee benefits for the year ended December 31, 2017 21,096 85 21,181
Amortization of tangible capital assets for the year ended December 31, 2017 5,817 31 5,848
2017 deficit as previously reported (994) (116) (1,110)
Accumulated surplus at January 1, 2017 76,120 (2,625) 73,495
Accumulated surplus at December 31, 2017 75,126 (2,741) 72,385

3. Due from the City of Mississauga

There are no specific terms of repayment and the amounts do not bear any interest due from the City.

4. Pension agreements

The Board makes contributions to OMERS, a multi-employer defined benefit plan, which specifies the amount of the retirement 
benefit to be received by the employees based on the length of service and rates of pay on behalf of all permanent, full-time members 
of its staff. The plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan. During the year, the Board contributed $1,449 (2017 $1,447) on
behalf of these eligible employees and the employees contributed $1,450 (2017 $1,475).

5. Employee Benefits & other liabilities

Employee benefits and other liabilities, reported on the statement of financial position, are made up of the following:
2018

$
2017

(Recast Note 2)

WSIB benefits 121 in
Accumulated sick leave benefit plan entitlements 174 206
Early retirement benefits 967 955
Post-employment benefits 1,007 1,077
Vacation Liability 882 1,022
Total 3,151 3,371
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5. Employee Benefits & other liabilities

(i) WSIB: The Board has elected to be a Schedule 2 employer under the provisions of WSIB, and as such, remits payments to the 
WSIB only as required to fund disability payments. A full actuarial study of this obligation was completed in December 2016, in 
accordance with the financial reporting guidelines established by PSAB.

(ii) Accumulated sick leave benefits accrue to certain employees of the Board and are paid out either on approved retirement, or 
upon termination or death. The accrued benefit obligation and the net periodic benefit cost were determined by a full actuarial 
valuation completed in December 2016, in accordance with the financial reporting guidelines established by PSAB.

(iii) Early retirement benefits are representative of the Board’s share of the cost to provide certain employees with extended benefits 
upon early retirement. The accrued benefit obligation and the net periodic benefit cost were determined by a full actuarial valuation 
completed in December 2016, in accordance with the financial reporting guidelines established by PSAB.

(iv) Post-employment benefits are paid on behalf of any employee on long-term disability. The accrued benefit obligation and the 
net periodic cost were determined by a full actuarial valuation completed in December 2016, in accordance with the financial reporting 
guidelines established by PSAB.

Information about the Board's defined benefit plans is as follows:

City of Mississauga - Public Library Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

2018 2017
Sick Early Post-

WSIB Leave Retirement Employment Total Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning 
of year 111 206 955 1,077 2,349 2,524
Service cost 16 4 31 7 58 56
Interest cost 6 6 36 23 71 72
Amortization of actuarial (gain)/loss 5 (15) (2) (20) (32) (91)
Benefit payments (17) (27) (53) (80) (177) (212)
Accrued benefit obligation, end of 
year 121 174 967 1,007 2,269 2,349

Unamortized actuarial (gain)/loss 37 (35) (43) (362) (403) (436)
Actuarial valuation update, end of year 158 139 924 645 1,866 1,913

Expected average remaining service life 10 years 5 years 10 years 8 years

The actuarial valuations of the plans were based upon a number of assumptions about future events, which reflect management’s best
estimates. The following represents the more significant assumptions made:

Early Post
WSIB Sick Leave Retirement Employment

Expected inflation rate 1175 % 1.75 % 1.75 % 1.75 %
Expected level of salary increases n/a 2.75 % 2.75 % 2.75 %
Interest discount rate 3.75 % 4.00 % 4.00 % 3.50 %
Expected health care increases 4.75 % n/a 4.42 % 4.75 %
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City of Mississauga - Public Library Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

6. Commitments

The Board has entered into various operating leases for premises, 
are approximately as follows:

2019
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023
Total

Anticipated payments under such leases during the next five years

$
281
291
301
166

_____________ _______________________126_
__________________________________________________ 1,165

7. Budget adoption

The 2018 budget, as approved by Council, was adopted by the Board at the January 17, 2018 meeting.

8. Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are non-fmancial assets that are generally not available to the Library for use in discharging its existing 
liabilities and are held for use in the provision of services. These assets are significant economic resources that are not intended for 
sale in the ordinary course of business and have an estimated useful life that extends beyond the current year. Examples include 
buildings, books, furniture, land, etc.

Library Tangible Capital Assets

Cost

December 31, December 31,
2017 Additions Disposals 2018

$
(Recast Note 2)

$ $ $

Land 1,247 - - 1,247
Land improvements 404 - - 404
Buildings 98,200 1,288 - 99,488
Equipment, books and other 62,328 4,051 - 66,379
Vehicles 202 - 44 158
Total 162,381 5,339 44 167,676

December 31, Amortization December 31,
2017 Expense Disposals 2018

Accumulated Amortization $ $ $ $
(Recast Note 2)

Land - - - -
Land improvements 327 11 - 338
Buildings 40,597 2,565 - 43,162
Equipment, books and other 47,218 3,481 - 50,699
Vehicles 141 16 44 113
Total 88,283 6,073 44 94,312
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City of Mississauga - Public Library Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
(All dollar amounts are in $000)

8. Tangible Capital Assets

Net Book Value

December 31,
2017

$
(Recast Note 2)

December 31, 
2018 

$

Land 1,247 1,247
Land Improvements 77 66
Buildings 57,603 56,326
Equipment, books and other 15,110 15,679
Vehicles 61 46
Total 74,098 73,364
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2018 FINANCIAL YEAR IN REVIEW 

The City of Mississauga’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Municipal Act and based on the reporting standards set by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) of CPA Canada. 

There are four required consolidated financial statements: the consolidated statement of 
financial position, the consolidated statement of operations, the consolidated statement of 
change in net financial assets, and the consolidated statement of cash flows. These 
consolidated financial statements provide information on the cost of all the City activities, how 
they were financed, investing activities and the assets and liabilities of the City. The information 
also reflects the full nature and extent of the City’s financial affairs similar to a private sector 
financial statement presentation. 

The following is a high-level overview of the 2018 financial results of the City. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

The consolidated statement of financial position highlights four key figures that together 
describe the financial position of a government: 

(a) the cash resources of the government; (b) the net financial asset position, calculated as the
difference between financial assets and financial liabilities; (c) the non-financial assets that are
normally held for service provision such as tangible capital assets; and, (d) the accumulated
surplus/(deficit) (or in private sector terms, retained earnings: not termed so by governments as
there are no shareholder contributions or distributions).

Although the City continues to manage its financial operations through various funds such as 
the Operating Fund, the Capital Fund, the Reserves and the Reserve Funds, in accordance with 
Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB), these funds are no longer individually reported in the 
consolidated financial statements and have been replaced by Accumulated Surplus. The 
Accumulated Surplus summarizes the Corporation’s consolidated equity which identifies the 
financial position, including all tangible capital assets and financial resources of the City. 
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Accumulated Surplus 

The City’s accumulated surplus for fiscal year 2018 is $8.98 billion (2017 $8.85 billion). The City’s 
2018 accumulated surplus (Note 9) is comprised of the following balances: 

($000s) 

Item 2018 Actual 2017 Actual 

Tangible Capital Assets 8,180,906 8,113,738 

Unexpended Capital 211,874 228,092 

Long-term Debt (181,491) (155,895) 

Enersource Corporation 502,361 485,034 

Unfunded Employee Benefits (209,650) (209,231) 

Reserves 80,870 71,317 

Reserve Funds 391,546 322,549 

Total Accumulated Surplus 8,976,416 8,855,604 

Financial Assets 

Financial assets in 2018 were $1.78 billion (2017 $1.65 billion), an increase of $0.13 billion from the 
prior year. 

 ($000s) 

Item Ref.# 2018 Actual 2017 Actual $ change vs 
prior year 

% change 

Cash 1 110,925 131,819 (20,894) (16%) 

Taxes receivable 2 45,567 33,978 11,589 34% 

Accounts receivable 3 96,795 130,051 (33,256) (26%) 

Loans and other receivables 4 500 550 (50) (9%) 

Inventories for resale 5 173 225 (52) (23%) 

Investments 6 1,020,141 872,367 147,774 17% 

Investment in Enersource 7 502,361 485,034 17,327 4% 

Total Financial Assets 1,776,462 1,654,024 122,438 

References: 

1. Cash

• What it is: Cash is the money available on demand to pay for operational and capital
expenses.

• Why it’s important: Cash is used to fund the disbursements needed for daily operations
such as payments for operating and capital purchases. The City manages cash to keep
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just enough at hand for daily needs. The rest goes into investments to earn a higher 
return.   

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($20.9 million decrease): As it does for individuals, 
the exact amount of cash on hand on a given day fluctuates based on the timing of bill 
payments and investment needs. The amount of cash kept on hand is directly linked with 
the level of accounts payable liabilities. 

 

2. Taxes Receivable 

• What it is: Taxes receivable are any uncollected property taxes as at December 31. The 
tax levy is applied in June with due dates in July, August, and September.  

• Why it’s important: Property tax is the single largest source of revenue for the 
municipality. When collected, City property tax becomes the cash to fund daily 
disbursements. The City has diligent collection practices and has historically achieved a 
high rate of collection success (97-98 per cent). 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($11.6 million increase): This number varies year to 
year based on when people pay their residential and commercial property taxes. Penalty 
and interest charges are applied on all overdue accounts.   
 

3. Accounts Receivable  

• What it is: This category represents various types of receivables from across all City 
operations, excluding the City portion of property taxes.  

• Why it’s important: In addition to property taxes, the City recovers funds from operations 
fees and charges such as recreation and facility bookings, and from third parties to 
recover items like damage expenses and HST rebates. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($33.3 million decrease): The current year accounts 
receivable balance is significantly lower than last year’s primarily due to the timing of 
collection and receipts. The major contributors to the decrease were amounts due from 
school boards for property tax adjustments were less than last year by $13.0 million). 
Other receivable (AR) balance decreases from last year in Hershey AR, yearend AR 
accruals (approx. $34 million) accounted for the majority of the remaining decrease. 
Other increases and decreases in other receivable accounts categories accounted for 
the balance of change.  

 

4. Loans and Other Receivables 

• What it is: From time to time, the City enters into special contractual arrangements 
approved by Council that may include loans. The City currently has one special purpose 
loan (20 year), made for the Vic Johnston Community Centre development project. This 
loan is scheduled to be paid off in 2028. 

• Why it’s important: These receivables are categorized separately from other receivables 
because they have been created by special arrangement. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017: ($50 thousand decrease): Each December, a 
payment of $50,000 is applied against the Vic Johnston Community Centre $550,000 
loan. 
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5. Inventories for Resale 

• What it is: The value of owned items on hand intended for resale by various City service 
areas (e.g., snack bar items, beer and liquor, pro shop items) as at December 31. 

• Why it’s important: These items have value: their eventual sale yields cash for City 
operations. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($52 thousand decrease): This net decrease is due 
to general increases and decreases in inventory across all categories. 

 
 

6. Investments 

• What it is: Cash that is not being used immediately for disbursements is invested to earn 
a higher rate of return. Investments can be short-term or long-term.  

• Why it’s important: Investment yields a higher rate of interest than bank deposits. 
Investment income is the City’s fourth-highest source of revenue, and a critical 
component of the City’s revenue base.  

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($147.8 million increase): Investment balances 
fluctuate with cash flow requirements, and the timing of receipts and disbursements. 

 

7. Investment in Enersource 

• What it is: The City is a 90 per cent shareholder in Enersource Corporation. 
Accordingly, this number represents 90 per cent of Enersource’s bottom line at 
December 31 (this calculation is called a modified equity consolidation). Enersource 
in turn is a 31 per cent owner of Alectra and Enersource Corporation carries on no 
other business. 

• Why it’s important: This investment elevates the City’s financial position. It also 
generates dividend income, which helps support City operations and in that way helps 
moderate the property tax rate. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($17.3 million increase): This net increase is the 
share of net income from operations of $30.2 million less the dividend paid to the City of 
$12.9 million. 
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Financial Liabilities  
Financial liabilities in 2018 were $991.3 million (2017 $922.4 million), an increase of $68.9 
million from the prior year. 
 

 ($000s) 

Item Ref.# 2018 Actual 2017 Actual $ change vs 
prior year 

% change 

Accounts Payable and 
Accrued Liabilities 

1 183,942 213,260 (29,318) (14%) 

Deferred revenue-general 2 10,021 9,742 279 3% 

Deferred revenue-obligatory 
reserve funds 

3 406,224 334,252 71,972 22% 

Employee benefits and other 
liabilities 

4 209,650 209,231 419 0% 

Long-term debt 5 181,491 155,895 25,596 16% 

      

Total Financial Liabilities  991,328 922,380 68.948  

 
References: 
 
1. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities  

• What it is: These are monies the City owes for goods, services, payroll, and/or third party 
transfers as at December 31. 

• Why it’s important: These payables represent outstanding obligations as at December 
31. As payables are drawn down, the City’s cash position is also drawn down. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($29.3 million decrease): The timing of payments 
and year-end accruals affect these liabilities and the City’s cash position. 

 
2. Deferred Revenue – General  

• What it is: Deferred revenues are payments received today that are to be recognized as 
revenue when the related activity takes place in the future. Examples include recreation 
registrations, facility bookings and transit advertising.  

• Why it’s important: Deferred revenues allow for payments to be received today for future 
operations.  

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($279 thousand increase): Normal, ongoing 
fluctuations – primarily in transit and recreation (memberships, recreation programs, 
facility bookings) – are responsible for the increase. There were no extraordinary 
contributors to this balance. 

 
3. Deferred Revenue – Obligatory  Reserve Funds  

• What it is: This liability is deferred revenue initially collected through special restrictive 
agreements to be used for a purpose specified through agreement or legislation. 
Examples of these types of funds include Development Charge funds, Parkland funds, 



  Appendix 2 

6 

 

Cash in Lieu of Parking, Bonus Zoning, provincial and federal public transit funds, and 
provincial and federal gas tax funds. 

• Why it’s important: Generally these types of revenues are initially collected in dedicated 
Reserve Funds and reclassified to deferred revenue –obligatory reserve funds at year-
end for financial statement reporting requirements. These deferred revenues are 
converted into revenues when related capital expenses have been incurred. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($72.0 million increase): The growth in liability 
was due to growth in the balances of various obligatory Reserve Funds. This growth 
was partially offset by a decrease in unspent development charge funds in capital 
projects. As the deferred revenue account reduces, corresponding revenue will show 
on the Statement of Operations (development contributions applied). 

 

4. Employee Benefits and Other Liabilities 

• What it is: These are actuarial liability assessments for workers compensation, sick 
leave benefits, disability benefits, vacation pay, and legal and insurance related items. 
They represent future obligations but are reported in present value terms. 

• Why it’s important: This category represents future liabilities. Expenses for these 
liabilities will incur in the future; however, they must be reported in the financial 
statement to provide an accurate financial position for the City at a point in time. The City 
engages in an external actuarial evaluation every three years to review these liabilities. 
The amount may be refreshed annually if there are any significant changes to the 
membership program or legislation. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($419 thousand increase): Increases in the 
actuarial assessments for WSIB, vacation, sick leave, and early retirement were 
offset by decreases in post-employment and developer contribution credit liabilities 
occurring because of changes in trends and claims. Together, all resulted in a net 
increase in this category.  

 

5. Long-Term Debt  

• What it is: This is the amount of long-term debt being used to help fund investment in 
capital infrastructure. 

• Why it’s important: Debt is one key way the City funds capital infrastructure 
requirements. The City uses debt conservatively. The property tax base alone is not 
enough to support future capital infrastructure demands. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($25.6 million net increase): In 2018, $46.3 million of 
new debt was added. This new debt was offset by a pay down of $20.7 million in prior 
year debt. 
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Non-Financial Assets 

Non-financial assets in 2018 were $8.191 billion (2017 $8.124 billion), an increase of $67.2 million. 
Non-financial assets are comprised primarily of tangible capital assets, as well as inventories of 
supplies, and prepaid expenses.  

($000s) 

Item Ref.# 2018 Actual 2017 Actual $ change vs 
prior year 

% change 

Tangible Capital Assets 1 8,180,906 8,113,738 67,168 1% 

Inventories of supplies 2 7,616 6,670 946 14% 

Prepaid Expenses 3 2,760 3,552 (792) (22%) 

Total Non-Financial 
Assets 

 8,191,282 8,123,960 67,322  

 
References: 
 
1. Tangible Capital Assets 

• What it is: This is the City’s investment in capital infrastructure such as buildings, roads, 
stormwater infrastructure, vehicles, and equipment. Every year, the City prepares a 
capital budget to address new capital projects and renovations to existing capital assets. 
These capital projects become assets when the project goes into service or is 
completed. The City also has an operating budget to address ongoing maintenance 
requirements for capital assets.  

• Why it’s important: The City’s tangible capital assets are the result of its investment in 
capital infrastructure, and support all the services and programs the City provides. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($67.2 million increase): The increase in tangible 
capital assets is attributable to new capital projects being completed and going into 
service. Once the asset is in service, amortization begins. 

 

2. Inventories of Supplies  

• What it is: These are the various City-wide inventories to supply on-demand operating 
needs. Examples of these inventories include salt and sand inventories, fire equipment 
inventories, traffic signal inventories, and central store inventories.  

• Why it’s important: These inventories are required for various types of City operations. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($946 thousand increase): The increase was 
attributable to a growth in salt and sand inventory of $452 thousand and growth in traffic 
signal inventory of $443 thousand. Other increases and decreases in other inventory 
categories accounted for the balance of change.  

 

3. Prepaid Expenses  

• What it is: Prepaid expenses are payments made in the current year that pertain to 
future year expenses. Some of the major prepaid accounts include memberships, facility 
bookings, prepaid investment interest, prepaid debt fees, and prepaid postage.  
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• Why it’s important: Prepaid expenses allow for the matching of expenses with revenues 
when the event takes place. Prepaid expense balances are drawn down as related 
revenues are received or the expense year has been met. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($792 thousand decrease): The net decrease 
resulted from routine increases/decreases in prepaid expenses across all categories. 

 
 

Consolidated Statement of Operations 
 
The consolidated statement of operations reports the annual surplus/(deficit) from operations 
during the accounting period. The statement shows the cost of providing the City’s services, the 
revenues recognized in the period and the difference between them. 
 
The City’s annual budget is prepared on a cash basis for the purpose of calculating the 
property tax levy. The audited financial statements are prepared differently. The audited 
financial statements are prepared on an accrual accounting basis under the Public Sector 
Accounting and Reporting Guidelines. To achieve accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP), there are certain budgeted revenues and expenses within the 
financial statements that need to be eliminated for financial reporting purposes. To do this, a 
number of elimination entries such as transfers between funds, debt principal repayments, and 
dividend receipts are made. In addition to these eliminations, there are a few other non-
budgeted adjustments included to help align with actual numbers. Some of these non-
budgeted adjustments include BIA consolidations, amortization of capital assets, and Reserve 
Fund interest. 
 
Please refer to the Budget Overview section within this report for a reconciliation between the 
annual budget and audited financial statements. 
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Revenues  
 
Total revenues in 2018 were $1,056 million (2017 $1,173 million), a decrease of 
$117 million. 

 
($000s) 

Item Ref.
# 

2018 
Actual 

2018  

Adjusted 
Budget 

2017 
Actual 

$ 
change 

vs 
Adjusted 

Budget 

% 
change 

$ change 
vs prior 

year 

% 
change 

Taxation 1 525,782 521,734 500,149 4,048 1% 25,633 5% 

Municipal 
Accommodation 
Tax 

2 8,990 7,400  1,590 21% 8,990  

User charges 3 258,215 236,990 249,043 21,225 9% 9,172 4% 

Recoveries from 
third parties 

4 9,324 6,245 8,990 3,079 49% 334 4% 

Funding transfers 
from other 
governments 

5 34,964 1,802 42,927 33,162  (7,963) (19%) 

Development and 
other contributions 
applied 

6 73,265 0 90,547 73,265  (17,282) (19%) 

Investment income 7 35,305 28,472 37,628 6,833 24% (2,323) (6%) 

Penalties and 
interest on taxes 

8 9,805 8,120 9,133 1,685 21% 672 7% 

Contributed assets 9 49,581 0 11,732 49,581  37,849  

Other Revenues 10 20,158 1,311 6,099 18,847  14,059  

City Share of net 
income in 
Enersource 
Corporation 

11 30,268 0 14,194 30,268  16,074  

City share of equity 
in gain on exchange 
of Investment in 
Enersource 
Holdings Inc. 

11 0 0 202,734 0  (202,734)  

         

Total Revenues  1,055,657 812,074 1,173,176 243,583  (117,519)  

 
Note re: Difference between Actual and Budget: where actual revenue exceeds budgeted 
revenue, the variance is described as a surplus against budget; where revenue is under budget, 
the variance is described as a deficit against budget. 
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References: 

1. Taxation 
• What it is: Taxation refers to the City’s property taxation revenues. It included 

property taxes and payments in lieu of taxes. 

• Why it’s important: Property tax is the City’s single largest source of revenue.  

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($25.6 million increase): Two things influence this 
number: assessment growth, and the annual Business Plan & Budget. In 2018, 
assessment growth was 0.457 per cent (0.444 per cent in 2017). For the 2018 
Business Plan & Budget, Council approved a 4.6 per cent increase over 2017 in total 
taxation revenue, which translated to an overall 1.6 per cent increase on the total 
residential tax bill. An increase ($1.3 million) in payments in lieu of taxes (PILT) 
accounts for the rest of the change. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($4.0 million surplus): The variance is due to 
additional supplementary taxes and payments in lieu of taxes.   

 

2. Municipal Accommodation Tax 

• What it is:  A mandatory 4% Municipal Accommodation Tax (MAT) effective April 1, 
2018 that applies to the purchase of accommodations provided for a continuous 
period of 30 days or less in a motel, hotel, lodge, inn, bed and breakfast, dwelling unit 
or any place that provides accommodation. Online private short-term rentals through 
Airbnb are also subject to the MAT starting on October 1, 2018. 

• Why it’s important:  It is a new revenue tool that provides the City with an opportunity 
to generate funds that will be used for future tourism related initiatives. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($9.0 million increase): This is a new fee in 2018.  

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($1.6 million surplus): The surplus in this newly 
budgeted revenue is due to higher than estimated occupancy.    

 

3. User charges  

• What it is: User fees are associated with many City programs and services. Transit 
fares, recreation program fees, and the Stormwater program charge are three 
examples. Council establishes fees via by-law annually. Revenue from enforcement 
activities (fines) are also accounted for here.   

• Why it’s important: User fees contribute significantly to covering service costs. User fees 
are the second-largest source of City revenue in 2018.   

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($9.2 million increase): There were four key 
contributors to this increase: general fees increased by $2.9 million; transit fares by 
$4.9 million; building permits by $2.8 million. Provincial Offence fines decreased by 
$1.5 million. Increases and decreases in other user fee categories accounted for the 
balance of the net increase.  

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($21.2 million surplus): $18.4 million of this 
surplus relates to various City-wide general fees ($8.1 million); transit revenue ($4.9 
million); licenses and permits ($4.9 million); by-law fines ($0.5 million). The remaining 
balance ($2.8 million) is attributed to increases and decreases versus budget in other 
departmental user fee areas.   
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4. Recoveries from Third Parties 
• What it is: Occasionally there is City work a third party will ultimately pay for. For 

example, if the City and Region were involved together in a capital project (i.e., road 
construction) and the City were handling payments on the project, the Region would 
repay the City for the Region’s share of the project’s capital costs. 

• Why it’s important: From time to time, the City performs additional work on behalf of third 
parties such as the Region of Peel, Metrolinx, or an insurance company. Any work 
performed on behalf of third parties is recoverable by the City. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($0.3 million increase): This amount varies from 
year to year based on the timing of capital work performed on behalf of third parties.  

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($3.1 million surplus): Higher than expected 
capital recoveries account for this surplus against budget.   

 
 
5. Funding transfers from other governments  

• What it is: The City receives grants and funding from other levels of government for 
many types of services and initiatives. 

• Why it’s important: While these transfers represent a small portion of the overall City 
revenue, it is valuable revenue that helps pay for City programs and services. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($8.0 million decrease): There was a modest 
decrease in some provincial-related grants in 2018. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($33.2 million surplus): Surpluses against 
budget of $1.0 million occurred for grants for libraries, seniors, tourism, heritage and 
environment. The balance of the surplus ($32.2 million) relates to non-budgeted capital 
government funding such as Public Transit Investment Fund (PTIF) and the Clean 
Water and Wastewater Fund (CWWF).  

 
 

6. Development and Other Contributions  
• What it is: In the year, if capital-related expenses are incurred that correspond to 

deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds that the City holds, dollars are brought 
into the revenue stream from those funds to offset those capital expenses. 

• Why it’s important: Development and other contributions help fund capital projects. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($17.3 million decrease): Deferred Revenue- 
Obligatory Funds increased in 2018 from governmental contractual funding. More 
funding was received in relation to funding of capital projects in 2018 resulting in the 
decrease in revenue from prior year. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($73.3 million surplus): The entire amount in 
this category shows as surplus because this category is not included in the budget. 

 
7. Investment Income:  

• What it is: This is interest income for both the Operating and Reserve Funds. 

• Why it’s important: Investment income helps to grow City funds.  

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($2.3 million decrease): The reduction in investment 
income reflects a general decline in interest rates on available investment products. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($6.8 million surplus): There was a $6.8 million 
surplus in investment income from the Reserve Fund. The surplus relates to a higher 
rate of interest and higher Reserve Fund balances than projected.   

 



  Appendix 2 

12 

 

8. Penalties and Interest on Taxes 

• What it is: This revenue results from penalties and interest charged on overdue 
property tax accounts. 

• Why it’s important: Penalties and interest on taxes help to offset any costs associated 
with untimely property tax payment. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($0.7 million increase): There was a modest 
increase in 2018 in penalty and interest revenues over those of 2017. Revenues are 
dependent on the timing of payment of property taxes. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($1.7 million surplus): There was a surplus of 
$1.7 million, a positive variance to the budget of 20.8 per cent.  

 
9. Contributed Assets  

• What it is: This revenue category includes assets assumed by the City (such as land 
under roads, land under infrastructure and general infrastructure) through 
development agreements. 

• Why it’s important: Contributed assets are important because they form part of the City’s 
capital infrastructure but the City does not pay for them. Developers have paid for these 
assets through their development agreements. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($37.8 million increase): Contributed assets vary 
from year to year depending on the agreements reached and when the developer 
transfers the asset to the City through development agreements. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($49.6 million surplus): The entire amount in 
this category shows as surplus because this category is not included in the budget. 

 

10. Other Revenues  
• What it is: These are miscellaneous and one-time revenues received by the City. 

• Why it’s important: Other revenues help support and fund City programs and services. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($14.1 million increase): This number routinely 
fluctuates due to its miscellaneous nature. Generally these revenues are one-time 
revenues and not sustainable. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($18.8 million surplus): The surplus is mainly 
composed of unbudgeted sales of City capital assets for $11.0 million, and capital 
recoveries of $3.4 million. The balance relates to various City-wide miscellaneous 
revenue increases and decreases versus budget.  
 

11. City Share of Net Income in Enersource Corporation  
• What it is: The City is a 90 per cent shareholder in Enersource Corporation. This 

number represents 90 per cent of Enersource’s bottom line at December 31 (this 
calculation is called a modified equity consolidation). Enersource in turn is a 31 per 
cent owner of Alectra and Enersource Corporation carries on no other business. 

• Why it’s important: Enersource income elevates the City’s financial position and thereby 
moderates the property tax rate. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($16.1 million increase): The City has 90% 
ownership in Enersource Corporation and therefore applies 90% to Enersource’s  
Shareholders Equity. The change in year over year shareholders equity is in the 
Investment in Enersource balance. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($30.3 million surplus): The entire amount shows 
as a variance because City share of net income in Enersource Corporation is not a 
budgeted item.   
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12. City Share of Equity in Gain on Exchange of Investment in Enersource Holdings Inc. 

• What it is: On January 31, 2017, through a series of transactions Enersource 
Corporation became owner of 31 per cent of Alectra Inc., an entity created through the 
merger of certain hydro holding companies. The transactions included Enersource 
Corporation exchanging all its ownership in its operating companies for the ownership in 
the newly created merged entity of Alectra. In 2017, Enersource earnings were less than 
this year due to financial costs relating the Alectra merger. 

• Why it’s important: This transaction created a gain on the investments which is reflected 
in the financial statements. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($202.7 million decrease): Enersource Holdings Inc. 
merged into Alectra Inc. on January 31, 2017. There were no additional gains or losses 
on investment recognized in 2018. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($0.0 million surplus): This is not a budgeted 
item.   
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Expenses 
 
Expenses are broken down into major expense categories: labour and benefits, materials and 
supplies, contracted services, rents and financial expenses, transfer payments, and amortization. 
Total expenses in 2018 were $934.8 million (2017 $845.9 million), an increase of $88.9 million. 
 

($000s) 

Item Ref.
# 

2018 
Actual 

2018 
Adjusted 

Budget 

2017 
Actual 

$ change 
vs 

Adjusted 
Budget 

 

% 
change 

$ change 
vs prior 

year 

% 
change 

Salaries, wages, 
and employee 
benefits 

1 513,720 515,412 491,101 (1,692) (0.3%) 22,619 5% 

Long-term debt 
interest and fees 

2 4,467 4,573 3,015 (106) (2%) 1,452 48% 

Materials and 
supplies 

3 64,613 58,717 60,231 5,896 10% 4,382 7% 

Contracted 
services 

4 81,490 56,161 78,141 25,329 45% 3,349 4% 

Rents and 
financial 
expenses 

5 72,899 75,213 70,085 (2,314) (3%) 2,814 4% 

External transfers 
to others 

6 7,194 10,854 6,814 (3,660) (34%) 380 6% 

Loss on disposal 
of tangible capital 
assets 

7 49,994 0 2,544 49,994  47,450  

Amortization 8 140,468 135,136 133,942 5,332 4% 6,526 5% 

         

Total Expenses  934,845 856,066 845,873 78,779  88,972  

 
Note re: Difference between Actual and Budget: where actual expenses exceed budgeted 
expenses, the variance is described as a deficit against budget (shown as a positive number); 
where actual expenses are under budget, the variance is described as a surplus against budget 
(shown as a negative number). 
 
References: 

1. Salaries, Wages, and Employee Benefits  
• What it is: This figure represents salary, wage and benefit costs for all full-time, part-

time and contract employees, plus the current year impacts for actuarial benefit 
assessment of WSIB, sick leave, disability benefits and post-retirement benefits.  
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• Why it’s important: People are the number one resource required to deliver City 
services, so this category has a corresponding size. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($22.6 million increase): This anticipated increase 
was largely due to labour contract settlements, pay adjustments and increased benefit 
and WSIB costs.  

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($1.7 million surplus): An operating surplus of 
$6.8 million occurred due to position vacancies and delays in new hires. This surplus was 
offset by non-budgeted costs such as Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) benefit 
adjustments ($3.2 million) and ineligible salaries for TCA ($2.3 million). The balance 
relates to various City-wide labour related expense increases and decreases versus 
budget. 

 

2. Long-Term Debt Interest and Fees  
• What it is: This figure represents all debt management and interest fees associated 

with the City’s debt. 

• Why it’s important: Debt is a source of funding for capital projects. Provincial legislation 
allows municipalities to carry debt equivalent to 25 per cent of own-source revenue: 
Mississauga is substantially below this ceiling, at just three per cent in 2018. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($1.5 million increase): Some debt principal was paid 
down in 2018 ($20.7 million) and some new debt was added ($46.3 million). The net 
increase in debt is what drove the year-over-year increase in the long-term debt interest 
and fees category.  

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($0.1 million surplus): A surplus was generated in 
this category because of the timing within the year between the budgeted and the actual 
issuance of debt. 

 

3. Materials and Supplies  
• What it is: Materials and supplies include vehicle fuel and all other general operation 

materials and supplies needed for service and program delivery.  

• Why it’s important: These materials are necessary to keep day-to-day operations 
running without interruption. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($4.4 million increase): There were a few key 
contributors to the net increase in 2018 over 2017. Higher per-litre diesel fuel costs 
($3.7 million), vehicle maintenance costs ($1.7 million) and general operating 
materials across all departments ($1.9 million) were the main contributors to the 
increase. These increases were partially offset by the reduction of ineligible capital 
expenses for TCA of $2.6 million. Net increases and decreases in other City-wide 
material categories and non-capitalized expenses accounted for the balance of the 
change. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($5.9 million deficit): The deficit in this category is 
largely the result of two changes: increases in transportation-related costs, including 
higher-than-budgeted diesel fuel costs ($2.8 million) and non-budgeted ineligible 
materials, supplies and transportation for TCA ($3.3 million). The balance relates to 
various City-wide material related expense increases and decreases versus budget. 
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4. Contracted Services  
• What it is: The City contracts with third parties for some professional and capital 

project management services. 

• Why it’s important: Contracted services can bring a level of expertise to the City that the 
City may not have, or augment resources to support a specific initiative. The City can 
also sometimes achieve economies of scale (i.e., lower prices) through contracts and 
professional agreements. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($3.3 million increase): General increases and 
decreases in City-wide contracted services accounted for the growth. Sidewalk and 
walk way repair ($3.5 million) was the main contributor to the increase.  

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($25.3 million deficit): The deficit against 
budget is mainly due to the non-budgeted ineligible contracted services for TCA ($24.0 
million). The balance relates to other City-wide increases and decreases.  

 
5. Rents and Financial Expenses  

• What it is: This category includes many different types of financially related 
expenses, including staff development, communication costs, occupancy-related 
costs, property tax adjustments, insurance costs, banking costs, and equipment and 
maintenance costs. 

• Why it’s important: These expenses represent the overhead-type costs that help support 
City services and programs. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($2.8 million increase): A net increase resulted from 
a combination of increases and decreases in this expense category. The main 
contributors to the increase were insurance related costs of $0.7 million, storm water 
adjustment of $3.2 million, TCA ineligible expense reclass of $0.7 million, equipment 
costs of $0.8 million, and PSAB liability expenses of $2.7 million. These increases were 
also offset by a property tax adjustments decrease of $6.4 million. Various increases and 
decreases in other City-wide categories accounted for the balance of the change.  

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($2.3 million surplus): A surplus against budget 
occurred due to lower-than-planned claim settlements and insurance premiums ($4.0 
million) and the timing of tax appeals decisions rendered by the Assessment Review 
Board ($0.8 million). This was offset by lower spending on equipment and 
maintenance costs ($0.7 million); and non-budgeted non-capitalized expenses ($1.5 
million). The balance relates to other City-wide increases and decreases.  

 

6. External Transfers to Others  
• What it is: Mississauga provides defined grants and funding to third parties who 

contribute to the accomplishment of the City’s vision and objectives.  

• Why it’s important: These dollars support many organizations that contribute to the well-
being and success of our thriving city. 

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($0.4 million increase): The increase reflects a 
planned increase in spending. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($3.7 million surplus): The surplus showing in 
this category is attributable to arts and festival spending being lower than planned. 
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7. Loss on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets  
• What it is: From time to time, the City sells assets or disposes of assets no longer in 

use. When the asset net book value exceeds the sale price, a loss occurs. 
• Why it’s important: If a loss results from the disposal of an asset, the City records it. 
• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($47.4 million increase): Loss on disposal of 

assets varies from year to year depending on the identification and disposal of assets. 
• Difference between Actual and Budget ($50.0 million surplus): The full amount shows 

as a deficit against budget because loss on disposal of assets is not a budgeted item. 
 
8. Amortization  

• What it is: Capital assets lose value over time. The expense of this loss is amortized 
over the life of the asset. Different amortization percentages apply to different asset 
categories, as their useful lives differ in length. 

• Why it’s important: Amortization allows the net value of assets (vs their cost value) to be 
represented on the financial statements.  

• Difference between 2018 and 2017 ($6.5 million increase): The total amortization 
amount increases as the City’s capital assets grow. 

• Difference between Actual and Budget ($5.3 million deficit): Amortization is not 
included in the annual operating budget: however, for the purpose of the financial 
statements an estimate is included to match up against the expense. In this instance, 
the expenditure was lower than the estimate due to the timing of capitalization of 
expenses and unplanned disposals.  

 
 

Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
The consolidated statement of change in net financial assets/(net debt) starts with the annual 
surplus/(deficit) and identifies changes in non-financial assets (i.e., tangible capital asset 
acquisition, amortization) that will utilize or add to the surplus amount to derive a net change in 
financial assets. 

 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
The consolidated statement of cash flows reports changes in cash and short-term investments 
resulting from operations and shows how the City financed its activities during the year and 
met its cash requirements. 

 

Tangible Capital Assets Overview 
All City assets as at the end of 2018 have been inventoried, valued and recorded in an 
Asset Registry for accounting and reporting purposes. 

 
The City’s net book value of tangible capital assets at the end of 2018 was $8.181 billion (2017 
$8.114 billion). Refer to Note #9 in the financial statements for a detailed breakdown of 
tangible capital asset activity. 

 
The annual amortization expense in 2018 was $140.5 million (2017 $133.9 million).  
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Reserves and Reserve Funds Overview 

Although Reserves and Reserve Funds are not formally reported directly in the financial 
statements, they are key in the financial management and operations of the City. Reserves and 
Reserve Fund balances are consolidated within the Accumulated Surplus position on the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations. Refer to Note #10 in the financial statements for more 
Reserve and Reserve Fund information. 
 
Reserves and Reserve Funds are established by Council. These funds are set aside to help 
offset future capital needs, obligations, pressures and costs. They are drawn upon to finance 
specific-purpose capital and operating expenditures as designated by Council to minimize tax 
rate fluctuations due to unanticipated expenditure and revenue shortfalls and to fund ongoing 
programs (i.e., insurance and employee benefits). 
 
Reserves and Reserve Fund balances at the end of 2018 totalled $472.4 million (2017 $393.9 
million), an increase of $78.5 million from the prior year. The Reserves and Reserve Fund totals 
do not include development charges and senior government grants that are reported as 
deferred revenue-obligatory reserve funds on the Statement of Financial Position. 
 

Reserves 
 
Reserves, which are discretionary in nature, are generally used to offset major fluctuations in 
operating costs/revenues or to fund future contingent liabilities.  

 
Total Reserves in 2018 were $80.9 million (2017 $71.3 million), an increase of $9.6 million. 
 

Reserve Funds 
Reserve Funds are non-discretionary, segregated and restricted to meet specific identified 
purposes for the municipality.  
 
Total Reserve Funds in 2018 were $391.5 million (2017 $322.6 million), an increase of 
$68.9 million from the prior year.  
 
The Reserve and Reserve Funds will help the City meet projected expenditure needs in the 
upcoming years. However, draws on Reserve and Reserve Funds in future years to support 
our growing capital infrastructure and maintenance needs will reduce these balances and 
therefore reduce the total accumulated surplus. 
 
This future surplus reduction has been anticipated for many years, recognizing that as the 
City matured, infrastructure renewal would require increased funding. Additional funding 
support is needed from senior levels of government, as well as ongoing increased annual 
contributions from the operating funds, in order to help sustain and invest in new and 
replacement infrastructure. 
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